
SALISBURY CITY COUNCIL 
WORK SESSION AGENDA 

------------- 
DECEMBER 18, 2023  

Salisbury Headquarters at 115 S. Division Street and Zoom Video Conferencing 
 

4:30 p.m. 

4:35 p.m. 

4:45 p.m. 

4:55 p.m. 

5:05 p.m. 

5:15 p.m. 

5:25 p.m. 

5:35 p.m. 

5:45 p.m. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS WILL BE HEARD AFTER EACH OF THE FOLLOWING ITEMS: 

Swearing in of New Fire Chief Rob Frampton- Clerk of Circuit Court James “Bo” 
McAllister 

Presentation of FY23 Audit and Financial Statements- Finance Director Keith 
Cordrey and Timothy Sawyer CPA, CGMA of Barbacane Thornton & Company 

Budget amendment to accept grant for Anne Street Village- Housing & Community 
Development Department (HCDD) Director Muir Boda  

Ordinance accepting CFES grant for Summer Youth Program- HCDD Director Muir 
Boda  

Ordinance accepting reimbursement from OC Jams LLC- Deputy Chief Chris 
O’Barsky  

Budget amendment to appropriate funds for damaged Fire Department 
equipment- Deputy Chief Chris O’Barsky  

Updating Council Rules of Order- Council discussion 

Administration and Council Comments 

Adjournment / Convene in Special Meeting 

Times shown are approximate. Council reserves the right to adjust the agenda as circumstances warrant. 
The Council reserves the right to convene in Closed Session as permitted under the Annotated Code of Maryland 3-305(b).

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88163253286?pwd=K3RtZUhUMHNucDRPU2lHbnROQzZVUT09 

Meeting ID: 881 6325 3286 
Passcode: 812389 

Phone: 1.301.715.8592 
Posted: 12/14/23 
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(to be determined) 

 

 

 

Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

Salisbury, Maryland 

 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 

major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Salisbury (“the City”), Salisbury, 

Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, 

which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 

and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Salisbury, Salisbury, Maryland, as of June 30, 

2023, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the 

year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America. 

 

Basis for Opinions 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America (“GAAS”) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical 

responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinions. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

 

The City’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in accordance with accounting principles general accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
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design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 

presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 

or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as 

a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or, when applicable, 

one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinions.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 

and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 

Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Misstatements 

are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would 

influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:  

 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such 

procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is 

expressed. 

 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 

reasonable period of time. 

 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal-control related 

matters that we identified during the audit. 
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Required Supplementary Information 

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 

discussion and analysis on pages 6 through 13 and the budgetary comparison schedule - general fund, 

schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability - employee plan, schedule of City 

pension contributions - employee plan, schedule of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension 

liability - LEOPS, schedule of City pension contributions - LEOPS, and schedule of the City’s net OPEB liability 

and related ratios on pages 57 through 62 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  

Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 

Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 

basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have 

applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 

auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 

management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 

consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 

knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion 

or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 

sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

 

Supplementary Information 

 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 

comprise the City’s basic financial statements.  The other supplementary information listed in the table of 

contents and statistical information are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 

required part of the basic financial statements. 

 

The other supplementary information listed in the table of contents is the responsibility of management 

and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 

prepare the basic financial statements.  Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 

applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 

comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records 

used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 

additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 

America.  In our opinion, the other supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in 

relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

 

The statistical information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 

basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 

 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated (to be 

determined), on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of 

its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 

matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 

 

DRAFT



 

 - 5 - 

Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

 

 

financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 

effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral 

part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s 

internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

 

 

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LLP 
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City of Salisbury, Maryland 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED 
 
 
This section of the annual financial report of the City of Salisbury (“the City”) presents our discussion and analysis of the City’s 

financial performance during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023.  We encourage readers to consider the discussion and 
analysis along with the other information in this report, including the notes to the financial statements.  In this section, we have 

provided an overview of the basic financial statements, selected condensed financial data and highlights, and analysis of the 
City’s financial position and changes in financial position. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 
• The City’s total combined net position at June 30, 2023 was $ $ 94,617,537.  Net position of our governmental activities 

increased by $5,868,659 (or 52.4%) while net position of our business-type activities decreased by $797,516 (or 1.0%). 
 
• The General Fund reported revenues and other financing sources under expenditures and other financing uses 

resulting in a $4,444,153 increase in fund balance, bringing its fund balance this year to $20,998,550. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This annual report consists of three parts — management’s discussion and 

analysis (this section), the basic financial statements, and required 
supplementary information.  The basic financial statements include two kinds 

of statements that present different views of the City: 
 
• The first two statements are entity-wide financial statements that 

provide both long-term and short-term information about the City’s 

overall financial status. 
 
• The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on 

individual parts of the government, reporting the City’s operations in 
more detail than the entity-wide statements. 

 
• The governmental funds statements tell how general government 

services were financed in the short term as well as what remains for 
future spending. 

 
• Proprietary fund statements offer short- and long-term financial 

information about the activities the government operates like 
businesses. 

 
• Fiduciary fund statements provide information about the financial 

relationships in which the City acts solely as a trustee or custodian for 

the benefit of others, to whom the resources in question belong. 
 

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the 
information in the financial statements and provide more detailed data. 

The statements are followed by a section of required supplementary 
information that further explains and supports the information in the 

financial statements. 
 
  

Figure A-1, Required Components of the 
City’s Annual Financial Report 

    Entity-wide 

Figure A-1 shows how the required parts of 
this annual report are arranged and related 
to one another. 
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Figure A-2 summarizes the major 
features of the City’s financial 
statements, including the portion of 
the City government they cover 
and the types of information they 
contain.  The remainder of this 
overview section of management’s 
discussion and analysis explains 
the structure and contents of each 
of the statements. 
 
Entity-wide Statements 
 
The entity-wide statements report 
information about the City as a 
whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-
sector companies.  The statement 
of net position includes all of the 
government’s assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, 
and deferred inflows of resources.  
All of the current year’s revenues 
and expenses are accounted for 
in the statement of activities 
regardless of when cash is 
received or paid. 
 
The two entity-wide statements report the City’s net position and how it has changed.  Net position — the difference between 
the City’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources — is one way to measure the 
City’s financial health. 
 
• Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving 

or deteriorating, respectively. 
 
• To assess the overall health of the City, one needs to consider additional nonfinancial factors such as changes in the 

City’s tax base. 
 
The entity-wide financial statements of the City include the governmental activities.  Most of the City’s basic services are 
included here, such as general government, public safety, highways and streets, sanitation, culture and recreation, and interest 
on long-term debt.  Property taxes and charges for services fund most of these activities.  In addition, the entity-wide financial 
statements include the City's business-type activities, which account for services for which the City charges customers. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City’s most significant funds — not the City as a 
whole.  Funds are accounting devices that the City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for particular 
purposes. 
 
• Some funds are required by State law and by bond covenants. 
 
• The City Council establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular purposes or to show that it is 

properly using certain taxes and grants.  
 
The City has the following kinds of funds: 
 
• Governmental funds — Most of the City’s basic services are included in governmental funds, which focus on (1) how 

cash and other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash flow in and out and (2) the balances left at year 
end that are available for spending.  Consequently, the governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term 
view that helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near 
 

  

Entity-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
Entity-wide 

  

Type of Statements   Government - wide   Governmental Funds   Proprietary Funds   Custodial Funds   

Scope   

Entire City’s government     
(except fiduciary funds)    

  
  

The activities of the  City 
    

that are not proprietary or    
fiduciary   
  

Activities  the  City  
    

operate  similar to private    
businesses: self insurance   
  

Instances in which the    
City  is the trustee or    
custodian for someone else's    
resources   

   Statement of net position      Balance sheet      Statement of net position      Statement of fiduciary    
net position   

   Statement of activities      Statement of revenues,    
expenditures, and changes    
in fund balances   

   Statement of revenues,    
expenses, and changes in    
fund net  position   

   Statement of changes    
in fiduciary net position   

   Statement of cash flows   
Accoun ting basis    
and measurement    
focus   

Accrual accounting and    
economic resources focus   

Modified accrual    
accounting and current    
financial resources focus   

Accrual accounting and    
economic resources focus   

Accrual accounting and    
economic resources f ocus   

Type of    
asset/liability    
information   

  
  

 

Only assets expected to    
be used up and liabilities    
that come due during the    
year or soon thereafter;    
no capital ass ets included   

All assets and liabilities,    
both short - term and long -   
term; the Custodian’s funds    
do not currently contain    
capital assets, although    
they can   

Ty pe of    
inflow/outflow    
information   

All revenues and    
expenses during year,    
regardless of when cash    
is received or paid   

Revenues for which cash    
is received during or soon    
after the end of the year;    
expenditures when goods    
or ser vices have been    
received and payment is    
due during the year or    
soon thereafter   

All revenues and expenses    
during year, regardless of    
when cash is received or    
paid   

All revenues and    
expenses during year,    
regardless of when cash    
is received  or paid   

Fund Statements   

Required financial    
statements   

- -   

All assets, deferred 

outflows, liabilities, and 

deferred inflows, both 

financial and capital, 

short-term and long-term 

All assets, deferred 

outflows, liabilities, and 

deferred inflows, both 

financial and capital, 

short-term and long-term 

Figure A-2, Major Features of the City’s Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements 
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future to finance the City’s programs.  Because this information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of 
the entity-wide statements, additional information is provided at the bottom of the governmental funds statement, or on 
the subsequent page, that explains the relationship (or differences) between them. 

 

• Proprietary funds — Proprietary funds generally are used to account for services for which the City charges customers 

– either outside customers, or internal units or departments of the City.  Proprietary funds distinguish operating 
revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing 
services in connection with the fund’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the City’s 
enterprise funds are charges for customer services and include:  water and sewer fees, Mitchell Landing Apartment 
rents, septage treatment fees, and stormwater system maintenance fees.  Operating expenses for enterprise funds 
include cost of services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All revenues and expenses not 
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.  Proprietary funds provide the same type 
of information as shown in the entity-wide financial statements. 
 
The City maintains the following types of enterprise funds to account for the operations of the City’s business-type 
activities:  water and sewer services and Mitchell Landing Apartments, both of which are considered to be major funds 
of the City, and several other nonmajor fee-supported activities. 
 

• Custodial funds — The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for certain funds.  It is also responsible for other assets that — 
because of a trust arrangement — can be used only for the trust beneficiaries.  The City is responsible for ensuring that 

the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes.  All of the City’s fiduciary activities are reported 
in a separate statement of fiduciary net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position.  These activities 
are excluded from the City’s entity-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its 
operations. 
 
 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 
The City’s combined net position at June 30, 2023 was $94,617,537. 
 

Table A-1 
CITY’S NET POSITION 
(in thousands of dollars) 

            

 Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Totals 

 2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022 

CURRENT ASSETS:            

Cash and investments $    21,095   $    15,819   $      6,475   $      7,168   $    22,570   $    22,987  

Accounts and taxes receivable, net 2,541   2,968    3,201    3,017   5,742   5,985  

Due from other governmental units  1,337    1,639    171    151   1,508   1,790  

Internal balances  727    755    (727)   (755)  -   -  

Inventories  14    17    22    2   36   19  

Other  816    722    435    449   1,251   1,171  

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 26,530  21,920  9,577  10,032  36,107  31,952 

            

NONCURRENT ASSETS:            

Restricted cash  12,437    14,843   5,949   8,225   18,386  23,068  

Capital assets at cost  108,091    103,890    194,862    191,731   302,953   295,621  

Less accumulated depreciation  (44,315)   (40,902)   (63,962)   (58,702)  (108,277)  (99,604) 

TOTAL NONCURRENT ASSETS 76,213  77,831  136,849  141,254  213,062  219,085 

            

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:            

Deferred outflow - pension 15,935  10,767  2,594  1,957  18,529  12,724 

Deferred outflow - OPEB 2,615  3,245  654  811  3,269  4,056 

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 18,550  14,012  3,248  2,768  21,798  16,780 

            

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS            

OF RESOURCES 121,293  113,763  149,674  154,054  270,967  267,817 
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Table A-1 
CITY’S NET POSITION 
(in thousands of dollars) 

            

 Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Totals 

(cont’d) 2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022 

CURRENT LIABILITIES:            

Accounts payable and accrued expenses  2,254    2,428   827    941   3,081   3,369  

Bonds, notes, and leases payable  4,253   4,277    4,501    4,698   8,754   8,975  

Other  2,317    1,477    873   185  3,190   1,662  

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,824  8,182  6,201  5,824  15,025  14,006 

            

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES:            

Compensated absences  2,123    1,936   406    272   2,530   2,208  

Net OPEB liability  13,650    13,471    3,412    3,368   17,062   16,839  

Net pension liability  33,694    25,844    4,368    3,380   38,061   29,224  

Bonds, notes, and capital leases payable  26,216    29,951    53,720    58,201   79,936   88,152  

TOTAL NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 75,683  71,202  61,906  65,221  137,589  136,423 

            

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:            

Deferred inflows - pensions 11,055  13,634  1,846  2,270  12,901  15,904 

Deferred inflows - OPEB 8,668  9,550  2,167  2,388  10,835  11,938 

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 19,723  23,184  4,013  4,658  23,736  27,842 

            

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS            

OF RESOURCES 104,230  102,568  72,120  75,703  176,350  178,271 

            

NET POSITION:            

Net investment in capital assets  33,306    28,760    72,680    70,129   105,986   98,889  

Restricted  12,437    14,844    5,949   8,225   18,386   23,069  

Unrestricted (Deficit)  (28,679)   (32,409)   (1,075)    (2)   (29,754)  (32,411) 

            

TOTAL NET POSITION $    17,063  $    11,195   $    77,554      $    78,352      $   94,617  $   89,547 

  
Net position of the City’s governmental activities increased by 52.4% to $17,063,528 due to increases in assets not offset by 
increases in liabilities.  Net position of the City's business-type activities decreased by 1.0% to $77,554,009 due to decreases 
in assets offset by decreases in liabilities of a lessor amount. 
 
The City’s total revenues were $76,169,351.  A significant portion (43.1%) of the City’s revenue comes from property and other 
taxes (See Figure A-3).  A portion (39.4%) comes from charges for services, 14.4% is derived from operating grants, and 2.4% 
is derived from capital grants and contributions.  The remaining .7% comes from miscellaneous and investment earnings.  The 
total cost of all programs and services was $71,098,209.  
 

Figure A-3, City’s Sources of Revenues 
 

 
 
  

Charges for services, 
39.4%

Operating grants, 
14.4%

Capital grants, 
2.4%

Property and other taxes,
43.1%

Investment earnings,
0.3%

Micellaneous,
0.4%
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Table A-2 
SOURCES OF REVENUES 

(in thousands of dollars) 
              

             Percentage 

 Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Totals  Change 

 2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022  2022-2023 

Program revenues:              

Charges for services $      9,586   $      9,919   $    20,413   $    19,360   $    29,999   $    29,279   2% 

Operating grants 10,961  5,756   -      -      10,961    5,756   90% 

Capital grants  669    1,168    1,141    1,765    1,810    2,933   -38% 

General revenues:              

Property and other taxes 32,812    31,859     -      -      32,812    31,859   3% 

Investment earnings  946    298    368    15    1,314    313   320% 

Transfers  300    440    (300)   (440)   -      -     0% 

Miscellaneous 534   754    (1,261)    1,432   (727)   2,186   -133% 

              

Total Revenues $    55,808  $    50,194  $    20,361  $    22,132  $    76,169  $    72,326  5% 

 
 
Table A-3 presents the costs of each of the City’s functions as well as each function’s net cost (total cost less fees generated 
by the activities and intergovernmental aid).  The net cost reflects what was funded by state revenues as well as local tax 
dollars. 
 

Table A-3 
NET COST OF CITY FUNCTIONS 

(in thousands of dollars) 
            

       Net (Revenue)   

 Total Cost of Services    Cost of Services   

 2023  2022  % Change  2023  2022  % Change 

Governmental Activities:            

General government $       5,949   $       5,174   15.0%  $     (1,344)   $       2,057   -165% 

Public safety 31,841   27,552   16.3%  21,774  18,936  16% 

Public works 6,385   6,905   -7.5%  3,395  3,252  4% 

Recreation and culture 3,806   3,492   9.0%  2,939  2,035  44% 

Nondepartmental 1,031   1,027   0.4%  1,031  1,027  0% 

Interest on long-term debt 927   1,244   -25.5%  928   1,244   -25% 

Total Governmental Activities 49,939  45,394    28,723   28,551    

            

Business-type Activities:            

Water and sewer 19,721   17,693   4.6%   116   (1,730)  -107% 

Mitchell Landing 158   204   -8.7%  54  71  -24% 

Other 1,280   1,334   -13.2%  (565)  (235)  140% 

Total Business-type Activities 21,159  19,231    (395)  (1,894)   

              

Total $     71,098      $     64,625        $     28,328   $     26,657    

 
 
 

Table A-4 
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 

(in thousands of dollars) 
           

Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Totals 

2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022 

           
$          5,869          $           4,799         $          (798)  $          2,902  $          5,071  $          7,701 
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Governmental Activities 
 
Property and other tax revenues increased by approximately $.95 million due to improvements in economic conditions.  The 
cost of all governmental activities this year was $49.9 million.  However, the amount that the City's taxpayers paid for these 
activities through taxes was only $32.8 million.  Some of the cost was paid by those who directly benefited from the programs, 
$9.6 million, or by grants and contributions, $11.6 million.  The total cost of governmental activities decreased by $4.7 million, 
which can be attributed largely to decreases in Public Safety and General Government. 
 
Business-type Activities  
 
Revenues of the City’s business-type activities were $21.5 million in FY 2023, an increase from $21.1 million in FY 2022 (see 
Table A-2), while expenses were $21.2 million in FY 2023 versus $19.2 million in FY 2022.  The overall revenue increase is 
primarily due to more revenue related to charges for services earned by the City in FY 2023.  Overall costs increased by $6.5 
million due largely to a decrease in operating cost in the Water and Sewer Fund.   
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
As of the end of FY 2023, the City’s governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $33.7 million, a $1.9 million 
increase from the previous year.  At year end, the General Fund had a fund balance of $21.0 million, and the Capital 
Improvements Fund had a fund balance of $11.6 million.  The fund balance for other governmental funds reported an ending 
in fund balance of $1.1 million.  Revenue and other financing sources collections were greater than expenditures and other 
financing uses by $1.9 million for the year for all governmental funds.  General Fund Revenue and other financing sources 
collections were greater than expenditures and other financing uses by $4.4 million. 
 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
Over the course of the year, the City processed budget amendments which are used to update the revised budget.  The ending 
revised budget for expenditures in the General Fund was $53.8 million (including operating transfers), versus an original budget 
of $50.2 million.  The variance is largely due to a $.8 million carry forward of encumbrances from FY 2022, an ordinance for 
$.9 million in vehicles, and $1.8 by other ordinances passed during the year.  Actual expenditures were $5.6 million below final 
budget amounts.  All departments were under budget during the year. 
 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At the end of 2023, the City had invested $194.7 million, net of depreciation, in a broad range of capital assets (See Table A-
5). 
 

 
 
 
  

Table A-5 
CITY’S CAPITAL ASSETS 

(in thousands of dollars) 
              

 Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Totals  Total % 

 2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022  Change 

              

Land and art $      8,738   $      8,823   $         878   $      2,199   $      9,616   $    11,022   -12.8% 

Construction-in-progress 7,763   6,872   7,674   3,259   15,437  10,131  52.4% 

Buildings and improvements 29,127   28,073   52,614   52,614   81,741  80,687  1.3% 

Improvements, non-buildings 32,704   32,379   118,879   118,913   151,583  151,292  0.2% 

Machinery and equipment 29,723   27,707   14,817   14,746   44,540  42,453  4.9% 

Zoo animals 36   36    -      -     36  36  0.0% 

       Totals at historical cost 108,091   103,890   194,862   191,731   302,953  295,621  2.5% 

Total accumulated depreciation 44,315   40,902   63,962   58,702   108,277  99,604  8.7% 

              

Net Capital Assets $    63,776   $    62,988   $  130,900   $  133,029   $  194,676   $  196,017   -0.7% 
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The City’s governmental capital purchases for fiscal year 2023 included the purchase of ten police vehicles, an aerial ladder 
fire truck, and other equipment and vehicles for Field Operations.  Additional land was also purchased for the Alpine 
Rail Trail.  The business-type activities additions to capital assets included a three-quarter ton truck and an enterprise 
permitting and licensing software to be used in the water and sewer division.  Projects completed included Church Street, Zoo 
Admin, ADA Ramp, Market Street Shoreline, Tiny Homes, Tank and Reservoir Mixing, and Fitzwater Lift Station.  Continuing 
projects include Bicycle Master Plan, Urban Greenway, Street Scaping, Service Center, and Paleo Well.  More information 
about the City’s capital assets is presented in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Long-term Debt 
 
At year end, the City had $88.7 million in bonds, notes, and leases outstanding, a decrease of $8.4 million over the previous 
year.  No new bonds were issued by the City during fiscal year 2023.  The City drew down $6,000 in revolving loan funds from 
federal loans administered by the Maryland Department of the Environment to finance the construction of the Mount Hermon 
Road Sewer Extension.  
  
The City is limited to a maximum general obligation bond limit of $59 million.  Debt in enterprise funds is not subject to the 
maximum bond limit.  More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 6 to the financial 
statements. 
 
 

Table A-6 
CITY’S LONG-TERM DEBT 

(in thousands of dollars) 
              

 Governmental Activities  Business-type Activities  Totals  Total % 

 2023  2022  2023  2022  2023  2022  Change 

              

Leases payable $    1,919   $    2,239   $       397   $       565   $    2,316   $    2,804   -17% 

Bonds payable 26,139  29,343  55,400  59,775  81,539  89,118  -9% 

Mortgages and notes payable -  -  1,382  1,382  1,382  1,382  0% 

Bond premium 2,411  2,645  1,041  1,178  3,452   3,823  -10% 

              

Total Bonds and Notes Payable $  30,469   $  34,227   $  58,220   $  62,900   $  88,689    $  97,127   -9% 

 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS 
 

• The City collected $132,987 in building permit revenues for FY 2023 vs. $603,851 for FY 2022. 
 

• The City received $1.3 million more in real estate property tax revenue in FY 2023.  The total of other tax revenues was 
$0.1 million more in FY 2023. 
 

• The City’s has a three-year reassessment cycle.  The adjusted assessed value of all real properties in the City increased 
by $131 million over the prior year.   
 

• The local (Wicomico County) unemployment rate as of July 2023 was 1.9%, down from 4.5% a year ago.  For July 
2023, the State of Maryland and the U.S. had an unemployment rate of 1.7% and 3.5%, respectively.   

 
 

WATER SEWER FUND 
 
The water and sewer fund adopted budget increased from $18.6 million in FY 2022 to $19.9 million in FY 2023. 
 
The City has completed upgrading the Wastewater Treatment Plant (“WWTP”).  The WWTP has been fully operational since 
September 25, 2019.  The total construction cost is $52 million and was funded with Biological Nutrient Removal and Enhanced 
Nutrient Removal (BNR/ENR) grants and a 0% interest State Revolving Fund loan. 
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CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors with a general overview 
of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you have questions about this 
report or need additional financial information, contact the City’s Director of Internal Services in the Finance Division, 125 North 
Division Street, Room 103, Salisbury, MD 21801 or visit the City’s website at www.salisbury.md. 
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Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Current assets:
Cash and investment pool 21,094,795$    6,475,191$      27,569,986$    
Taxes receivable, net 975,727           -                       975,727           
Accounts receivable, net 1,565,467        3,201,068        4,766,535        
Due from other governmental units 1,336,919        170,733           1,507,652        
Internal balances 726,883           (726,883)          -                       
Other assets 14,405             21,607             36,012             
Inventories 816,481           434,890           1,251,371        

Total Current Assets 26,530,677      9,576,606        36,107,283      
Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and investments 12,436,574      5,949,458        18,386,032      
Construction-in-progress 7,763,063        7,673,882        15,436,945      
Land and art 8,737,870        878,503           9,616,373        
Capital assets at cost 91,589,685      186,309,975    277,899,660    
Less accumulated depreciation (44,315,088)     (63,962,112)     (108,277,200)   

Total Noncurrent Assets 76,212,104      136,849,706    213,061,810    

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows - pension plan 15,935,483      2,593,554        18,529,037      
Deferred outflows - OPEB plan 2,615,171        653,793           3,268,964        

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 18,550,654      3,247,347        21,798,001      

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 121,293,435$  149,673,659$  270,967,094$  

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND
NET POSITION
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,254,129$      826,840$         3,080,969$      
Unearned revenue 1,509,845        -                       1,509,845        
Due to other governmental units -                       -                       -                       
Deposits and advance payments of taxes 268,162           707,554           975,716           
Compensated absences 235,926           45,165             281,091           
Accrued interest payable 302,790           120,279           423,069           
Bonds, notes, and leases payable, net 4,252,969        4,501,396        8,754,365        

Total Current Liabilities 8,823,821        6,201,234        15,025,055      
Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 2,123,333        406,483           2,529,816        
Net OPEB liability 13,649,648      3,412,412        17,062,060      
Net pension liability 33,693,620      4,367,663        38,061,283      
Bonds, notes, and leases payable, net 26,216,680      53,718,692      79,935,372      

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 75,683,281      61,905,250      137,588,531    
Total Liabilities 84,507,102      68,106,484      152,613,586    

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows - pension plan 11,055,121      1,846,245        12,901,366      
Deferred inflows - OPEB plan 8,667,683        2,166,921        10,834,604      

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 19,722,804      4,013,166        23,735,970      

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 33,305,881      72,680,160      105,986,041    
Restricted for: -                       
   Capital improvements 11,769,403      5,949,458        17,718,861      
   Zoo 214,873           -                       214,873           
   Lease escrow 241,066           -                       241,066           
Unrestricted (Deficit) (28,467,694)     (1,075,609)       (29,543,303)     

Total Net Position 17,063,529      77,554,009      94,617,538      

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION 121,293,435$  149,673,659$  270,967,094$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

JUNE 30, 2023
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Charges Operating Capital Business-
for Grants and Grants and Governmental type

Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
General government 5,949,365$    1,863,521$    5,011,499$    417,922$       1,343,577$    -$                   1,343,577$    
Public safety 31,840,505    4,335,218      5,725,187      6,106             (21,773,994)   -                     (21,773,994)   
Public works 6,384,940      2,585,292      158,915         245,379         (3,395,354)     -                     (3,395,354)     
Recreation and culture 3,805,752      801,441         65,487           -                     (2,938,824)     -                     (2,938,824)     
Nondepartmental 1,031,064      -                     -                     -                     (1,031,064)     -                     (1,031,064)     
Interest on long-term debt 927,714         -                     -                     -                     (927,714)        -                     (927,714)        

Total Governmental Activities 49,939,340    9,585,472      10,961,088    669,407         (28,723,373)   -                     (28,723,373)   

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Water and sewer 19,721,247    18,464,618    -                     1,140,868      -                     (115,761)        (115,761)        
Mitchell Landing 158,058         103,923         -                     -                     -                     (54,135)          (54,135)          
Other 1,279,564      1,844,886      -                     -                     -                     565,322         565,322         

Total Business-type Activities 21,158,869    20,413,427    -                     1,140,868      -                     395,426         395,426         

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 71,098,209$  29,998,899$  10,961,088$  1,810,275$    (28,723,373)   395,426         (28,327,947)   

GENERAL REVENUES AND TRANSFERS
Taxes:

Real and personal property taxes, levied for
   general purposes 21,993,742    -                     21,993,742    
Ordinary business corporations and utilities 7,636,995      -                     7,636,995      
State shared income tax 2,951,263      -                     2,951,263      
Other taxes 229,973         -                     229,973         

Investment earnings 946,722         368,106         1,314,828      
Gain on sale of capital assets (31,418)          (1,261,051)     (1,292,469)     
Miscellaneous 564,757         -                     564,757         
Operating transfers 300,000         (300,000)        -                     
TOTAL GENERAL REVENUES AND TRANSFERS 34,592,034    (1,192,945)     33,399,089    

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 5,868,661      (797,519)        5,071,142      

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 11,194,868    78,351,528    89,546,396    

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 17,063,529$  77,554,009$  94,617,538$  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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 Capital
General Improvements Nonmajor

Fund Fund Funds Total
ASSETS
Cash 10,872,812$    -$                    1,272,657$      12,145,469$    
Investment pool 8,907,364        -                      41,962             8,949,326        
Taxes receivable 1,740,453        -                      -                      1,740,453        

Less allowance for uncollectibles (764,726)         -                      -                      (764,726)         
Due from other governmental units 648,466           -                      688,453           1,336,919        
Due from other funds 726,883           -                      -                      726,883           
Sundry accounts receivable 6,258,635        -                      244,484           6,503,119        

Less allowance for uncollectibles (4,937,652)      -                      -                      (4,937,652)      
Inventory 816,481           -                      -                      816,481           
Other assets 14,405             -                      -                      14,405             
Restricted cash 667,171           1,298,615        -                      1,965,786        
Restricted investment pool -                      10,470,788      -                      10,470,788      

TOTAL ASSETS 24,950,292$    11,769,403$    2,247,556$      38,967,251$    

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,889,878$      199,232$         165,019$         2,254,129$      
Due to other funds -                      -                      -                      -                      
Due to other governmental units -                      -                      -                      -                      
Unearned revenue -                      -                      764,114           764,114           
Deposits and advance payment of taxes 53,973             -                      214,189           268,162           
Compensated absences 235,926           -                      -                      235,926           

Total Liabilities 2,179,777        199,232           1,143,322        3,522,331        

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue 1,771,965        -                      -                      1,771,965        

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 1,771,965        -                      -                      1,771,965        

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable 830,886           -                      -                      830,886           
Restricted -                      11,570,171      -                      11,570,171      
Committed 2,873,557        -                      784,827           3,658,384        
Assigned 2,467,247        -                      319,407           2,786,654        
Unassigned 14,826,860      -                      -                      14,826,860      

Total Fund Balances 20,998,550      11,570,171      1,104,234        33,672,955      

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 24,950,292$    11,769,403$    2,247,556$      38,967,251$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023
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TOTAL FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 33,672,955$   

63,775,530     

1,026,234       

Bonds, notes, and leases payable (30,469,649)$  
Compensated absences (2,123,333)      
Net OPEB liability (13,649,648)    
Accrued interest on bonds (302,790)         
Net pension liability (33,693,620)    (80,239,040)    

Deferred outflows - pension plan       15,935,483 
Deferred outflows - OPEB plan         2,615,171 
Deferred inflows - pension plan (11,055,121)    
Deferred inflows - OPEB plan (8,667,683)      (1,172,150)      

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 17,063,529$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

JUNE 30, 2023

RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
 TO STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Deferred inflows and outflows related to the City's net pension and OPEB liabilities are 
based on the differences between actuarially determined actual and expected
investment returns, changes in assumptions, and pension and OPEB contributions
made after the measurement date of the liabilities. These amounts will be amortized
over the estimated remaining average service life of the employees.

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the fund financial statements but are reported in the
governmental activities column of the statement of net position.

Certain revenues that do not provide current financial resources are reported as
unavailable revenue in the fund financial statements but are reported as revenue in
the governmental activities column of the statement of activities.

Some liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not
reported in the fund financial statements but are reported in the governmental
activities column statement of net position.  Those liabilities consist of:

- 17 -
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Capital
General Improvements Nonmajor

Fund Fund Funds Total 
REVENUES
Taxes 33,285,011$ -$                 -$                 33,285,011$ 
Other revenue 4,458,858     534,564        522,195        5,515,617     
Intergovernmental revenues 8,735,582     -                   2,576,270     11,311,852   
Charges for services 5,604,607     -                   186,482        5,791,089     
TOTAL REVENUES 52,084,058   534,564        3,284,947     55,903,569   

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 4,633,133     -                   1,058,059     5,691,192     
Public safety 28,295,674   -                   1,369,118     29,664,792   
Public works 4,846,521     -                   117,659        4,964,180     
Recreation and culture 2,338,748     -                   793,032        3,131,780     
Nondepartmental 1,031,066     -                   -                   1,031,066     

Capital outlays 857,165        3,766,159     577,169        5,200,493     
Debt service:

Principal 959,762        -                   -                   959,762        
Interest 4,134,439     -                   -                   4,134,439     

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 47,096,508   3,766,159     3,915,037     54,777,704   

DEFICIENCY OF REVENUES
UNDER EXPENDITURES 4,987,550     (3,231,595)    (630,090)       1,125,865     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Operating transfers in (out) (1,014,628)    759,120        555,508        300,000        
Proceeds from bond and lease issuance 406,674        -                   -                   406,674        
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 64,557          -                   3,037            67,594          

(543,397)       759,120        558,545        774,268        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 4,444,153     (2,472,475)    (71,545)         1,900,133     

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR 16,554,397   14,042,646   1,175,779     31,772,822   

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 20,998,550$ 11,570,171$ 1,104,234$   33,672,955$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 1,900,133$       

Capital outlays 4,445,261$    
Loss on disposal (206,692)        
Depreciation expense (3,450,401)     788,168            

(610,727)           

73,747              

4,134,439         

(233,844)           

Decrease in compensated absences (187,160)        
Decrease in deferred outflows - OPEB plan (629,453)        
Decrease in net OPEB liability (178,588)        
Increase in deferred inflows - OPEB plan 882,732         
Increase in accrued interest payable 32,048           
Increase in deferred outflows - pension plan 5,168,213      
Decrease in net pension liability (7,849,659)     
Increase in deferred inflows - pension 2,578,612      (183,255)           

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 5,868,661$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Some items reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental
funds.  These activities consist of:

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement
of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense.  In the current period, these amounts are:

Bond and lease proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds;
however, issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. In
the current period, bond and leases of this amount were issued.

Governmental funds report bond premiums as other financing sources. However,
these amounts are reported on the statement of net position as deferred charges and
are amortized over the life of the debt.

Because some revenues will not be collected for several months after the City's fiscal
year ends, they are not considered "available" revenues and are deferred in the
governmental funds.  Unavailable revenues increased by this amount this year.

Governmental funds report repayment of debt principal as an expenditure. In contrast,
the statement of net position treats such repayments as a reduction in long-term
liabilities.
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Water and Mitchell Nonmajor
Sewer Fund Landing Fund Funds Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash 3,838,441$     234,956$        452,900$        4,526,297$     
Investment pool 1,893,943       -                      54,951            1,948,894       
Accounts receivable, net 2,971,245       8,277              221,546          3,201,068       
Due from other governmental units 170,733          -                      -                      170,733          
Other assets 21,607            -                      -                      21,607            
Inventories 434,890          -                      -                      434,890          

          Total Current Assets 9,330,859       243,233          729,397          10,303,489     
Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash 445,730          -                      -                      445,730          
Restricted investment pool 4,522,392       8,259              973,077          5,503,728       
Capital assets:

Construction-in-progress 7,149,357       -                      524,525          7,673,882       
Land 301,703          114,010          462,790          878,503          
Buildings, equipment, and improvements 177,484,689   1,454,318       7,370,968       186,309,975   
Less accumulated depreciation (57,332,157)    (1,089,609)      (5,540,346)      (63,962,112)    

132,571,714   486,978          3,791,014       136,849,706   

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows - pension plan 2,463,247       -                      130,307          2,593,554       
Deferred outflows - OPEB plan 653,793          -                      -                      653,793          

3,117,040       -                      130,307          3,247,347       

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 145,019,613$ 730,211$        4,650,718$     150,400,542$ 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION
LIABILITIES
Due in one year:

Accounts payable 562,498$        21,938$          26,635$          611,071$        
Accrued payroll 193,874          12,895            9,000              215,769          
Accrued interest payable 107,088          -                      13,191            120,279          
Due to other funds -                      -                      726,883          726,883          
Compensated absences 45,165            -                      -                      45,165            
Bonds, notes, and leases payable 4,276,028       -                      225,368          4,501,396       
Deposits  695,714          10,914            926                 707,554          

          Total Current Liabilities 5,880,367       45,747            1,002,003       6,928,117       
Due in more than one year:

Bonds, notes, and leases payable 51,072,833     1,381,807       1,264,052       53,718,692     
Net OPEB liability 3,412,412       -                      -                      3,412,412       
Provision for compensated absences 406,483          -                      -                      406,483          
Net pension liability 4,148,221       -                      219,442          4,367,663       

          Total Noncurrent Liabilities 59,039,949     1,381,807       1,483,494       61,905,250     
          Total Liabilities 64,920,316     1,427,554       2,485,497       68,833,367     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows - pension plan 1,753,487       -                      92,758            1,846,245       
Deferred inflows - OPEB plan 2,166,921       -                      -                      2,166,921       

3,920,408       -                      92,758            4,013,166       

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Net investment in capital assets 72,254,731     (903,088)         1,328,517       72,680,160     

4,968,122       8,259              973,077          5,949,458       
(1,043,964)      197,486          (229,131)         (1,075,609)      

          Total Net Position (Deficit) 76,178,889     (697,343)         2,072,463       77,554,009     

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION 145,019,613$ 730,211$        4,650,718$     150,400,542$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)

Enterprise Funds

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

          Total Noncurrent Assets

          Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
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Water and Mitchell Nonmajor
Sewer Fund Landing Fund Funds Total

OPERATING REVENUES
18,046,860$ 103,923$      1,844,886$   19,995,669$ 

122,654        -                    -                    122,654        
38,153          -                    -                    38,153          
60,792          -                    -                    60,792          
53,136          -                    -                    53,136          

Impact fees 143,023        -                    -                    143,023        
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 18,464,618   103,923        1,844,886     20,413,427   

OPERATING EXPENSES
4,815,269     24,598          288,072        5,127,939     
1,814,855     14,200          94,713          1,923,768     

733,516        12,890          237,410        983,816        
2,350,643     1,616            16,525          2,368,784     
4,480,395     70,309          343,008        4,893,712     

130,375        -                    22,770          153,145        
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 14,325,053   123,613        1,002,498     15,451,164   

Operating income before depreciation 4,139,565     (19,690)         842,388        4,962,263     

5,091,325     34,445          236,094        5,361,864     

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (951,760)       (54,135)         606,294        (399,601)       

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
-                    -                    (300,000)       (300,000)       

Gain on sale of capital assets 3,731            -                    (1,264,782)    (1,261,051)    
Forgiveness of principal -                    -                    -                    -                    
Grants 1,140,868     -                    -                    1,140,868     

332,498        -                    35,608          368,106        
(304,869)       -                    (40,972)         (345,841)       

TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES
(EXPENSES) 1,172,228     -                    (1,570,146)    (397,918)       

220,468        (54,135)         (963,852)       (797,519)       

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), BEGINNING
OF YEAR 75,958,421   (643,208)       3,036,315     78,351,528   

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), END OF YEAR 76,178,889$ (697,343)$     2,072,463$   77,554,009$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (DEFICIT)

Salaries
Personnel benefits
Professional and skilled services
Supplies

Operating transfers in (out)

Depreciation

Interest expense
Interest income

Equipment

Pretreatment monitoring fee

Other operating expenses

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN  NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Enterprise Funds

Sundry income

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Penalties
Charges for services

Tapping charges and connection fees
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Water and Mitchell Nonmajor
Sewer Fund Landing Fund Funds Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers 19,014,328$  98,135$         1,793,641$    20,906,104$  
Payments to suppliers (7,800,276)     (73,027)          (709,957)        (8,583,260)     
Payments to employees (6,528,542)     (38,798)          (389,649)        (6,956,989)     
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,685,510      (13,690)          694,035         5,365,855      

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:  
Internal activity - payments to other funds -                     -                     (300,000)        (300,000)        
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES -                     -                     (300,000)        (300,000)        

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from bonds, notes, and capital leases 10,500           -                     -                     10,500           
Principal paid on bonds, notes, and capital leases (4,279,359)     -                     (270,760)        (4,550,119)     
Interest paid on bonds, notes, and mortgages (459,934)        -                     (52,439)          (512,373)        
Payments for capital acquisitions (4,562,991)     -                     -                     (4,562,991)     
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                     -                     72,228           72,228           
Capital grants 1,140,868      -                     -                     1,140,868      
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES (8,150,916)     -                     (250,971)        (8,401,887)     

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest income 332,498         -                     35,608           368,106         
NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES 332,498         -                     35,608           368,106         

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,132,908)     (13,690)          178,672         (2,967,926)     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 13,833,414    256,905         1,302,256      15,392,575    

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 10,700,506$  243,215$       1,480,928$    12,424,649$  

Cash 3,838,441$    234,956$       452,900$       4,526,297$    
Investment pool 1,893,943      -                     54,951           1,948,894      
Restricted cash 445,730         -                     -                     445,730         
Restricted investment pool 4,522,392      8,259             973,077         5,503,728      

10,700,506$  243,215$       1,480,928$    12,424,649$  
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH PROVIDED    
(USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating loss (951,760)$      (54,135)$        606,294$       (399,601)$      
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash
   provided (used) by operating activities:
      Depreciation 5,091,325      34,445           236,094         5,361,864      
      (Increase) Decrease in:

Accounts receivable (126,527)        (5,788)            (51,247)          (183,562)        
Due from other governmental units (19,478)          -                     -                     (19,478)          
Other assets 13,924           1,828             -                     15,752           
Inventories (21,607)          -                     -                     (21,607)          
Deferred outflows - pension (604,441)        -                     (31,976)          (636,417)        
Deferred outflows - OPEB 157,363         -                     -                     157,363         

      Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable (97,663)          9,960             (62,430)          (150,133)        
Accrued payroll 39,636           -                     (3,223)            36,413           
Deposits 695,714         -                     -                     695,714         
Due to other funds -                     -                     (27,813)          (27,813)          
Compensated absences 149,413         -                     -                     149,413         
Net OPEB liability 44,647           -                     -                     44,647           
Net pension liability 938,091         -                     49,626           987,717         
Deferred inflows - pension (634,117)        -                     (21,290)          (655,407)        
Deferred inflows - OPEB 10,990           -                     -                     10,990           

NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 4,685,510$    (13,690)$        694,035$       5,365,855$    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Enterprise Funds

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
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Health Custodial
Care Trust Funds

ASSETS
-$                   469,749$       

Investment pool -                     75,032           
Investments 2,247,844      -                     

-                     209,231         

TOTAL ASSETS 2,247,844$    754,012$       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable -$                   51,321$         

-                     209,231         

TOTAL LIABILITIES -                     260,552         

NET POSITION 
Reserved for trust 2,247,844      -                     
Reserved for police -                     30,460           
Reserved for bay restoration -                     470,229         

2,247,844$    761,241$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION - CUSTODIAL FUNDS

JUNE 30, 2023

Due to other governmental units

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Cash 

Accounts receivable
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Health Custodial
Care Trust Funds

ADDITIONS
Investment earnings 74,552$         3,633$           
Contributions - police -                     88,179           
Contributions - bay restoration -                     1,239,456      
Net apreciation (depreciation) in fair value of investments 102,162         -                     

176,714         1,331,268      

DEDUCTIONS
Deductions - police -                     70,184           
Deductions - bay restoration -                     1,235,778      
Operating expenses 4,182             -                     

4,182             1,305,962      

172,532         25,306           

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,075,312      735,935         

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,247,844$    761,241$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

TOTAL ADDITIONS

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION - CUSTODIAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTE 1 DESCRIPTION OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY 

 

The City of Salisbury, Maryland (“the City”) was established in 1732.  The City is governed by a 

Mayor and a board of five Council Members elected by the voters of the City. 

 

 

NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) as applied to local 

government units.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted 

standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial principles.  The 

most significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below. 

 

In evaluating how to define the City for financial reporting purposes, management has 

considered all potential component units.  The decision of whether to include a potential 

component unit was made by applying the criteria set forth in the GASB standards related to 

component units.  The basic - but not the only - criterion for including a potential component 

unit is the exercise of oversight responsibility by the City's elected officials.  Based upon the 

application of these criteria, the accompanying statements include the financial transactions 

of the Salisbury Zoo Commission, Inc. (“the Zoo”).  The operations of the Zoo are included in the 

general fund. 

 

Basis of Presentation 

 

The City’s basic financial statements consist of entity-wide statements, including a statement of 

net position and a statement of activities; and fund financial statements, which provide a more 

detailed level of financial information. 

 

Entity-wide Financial Statements 

 

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the City 

as a whole.  These statements include the financial activities of the City.  The statements 

distinguish between those activities of the City that are governmental and those that are 

considered business-type activities. 

 

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and 

business-type activities of the City at year end.  The statement of activities presents a 

comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of 

the City’s governmental activities and for business-type activities of the City.  Direct expenses 

are those that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and, 

therefore, clearly identifiable to a particular function.  Program revenues include charges paid 

by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program; grants and contributions that 
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CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d) 

 

are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program, and 

interest earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program.  Revenues 

which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the City, 

with certain limited exceptions. 

 

The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each 

business segment or governmental function is self-financing or draws from general revenues of 

the City. 

 

Fund Financial Statements 

 

During the year, the City segregates transactions related to certain City functions or activities 

in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance.  

Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at a more 

detailed level.  The focus of governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major 

funds.  Each major fund is presented in a separate column.  Nonmajor funds are aggregated 

and presented in a single column.  Custodial funds are reported by type. 

 

Fund Accounting 

 

The City uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year.  A fund is defined as a 

fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  There are three categories 

of funds:  governmental, proprietary, and custodial. 

 

Governmental Funds 

 

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are 

financed.  Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses, and balances of current 

financial resources.  Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds 

according to the purpose for which they may or must be used.  Current liabilities are assigned 

to the fund from which they will be paid.  The difference between governmental fund assets, 

liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources is reported as fund balance.  The following are the 

City’s major governmental funds: 

 

General Fund – The general fund is the general operating fund of the City.  All general revenues 

and other receipts that are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to another fund 

and general operating expenditures are accounted for in this fund. 

 

Capital Improvements Fund – The capital improvements fund is used to account for all financial 

transactions related to the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities for the 

governmental fund type activities. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d) 

 

Proprietary Funds 

 

Proprietary funds focus on the determination of changes in net position, financial position, and 

cash flows and are classified as enterprise funds. 

 

Enterprise Funds 

 

Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to external 

users for goods or services.  The City’s major enterprise funds are: 

 

Water and Sewer Fund – The Water and Sewer Fund is used to account for all financial 

transactions, including the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities, related to the 

operations of the City’s water and sewer services. 

 

Mitchell Landing Fund – The Mitchell Landing Fund is used to account for all financial 

transactions related to the operations of the Mitchell Landing Apartments, a low-income 

housing project which operates under the guidelines of the Maryland Department of Housing 

and Community Development. 

 

Fiduciary Funds 

 

Custodial fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position.  The City’s 

custodial funds include the health care trust, police-confiscated asset, and bay restoration 

funds.  These funds account for assets held by the City in a trustee capacity or as fiscal agent 

for individuals, private organizations, other governments, and/or other funds. 

 

Measurement Focus 

 

Entity-wide financial statements – The entity-wide financial statements are prepared using the 

economic resources measurement focus.  All assets and liabilities associated with the operation 

of the City are included on the statement of net position. 

 

Fund financial statements – All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current 

financial resources measurement focus.  With this measurement focus, only current assets, 

current liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources generally are included on the balance 

sheet.  The statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances reports on the 

sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other 

financing uses) of current financial resources.  This approach differs from the manner in which 

the governmental activities of the entity-wide financial statements are prepared.  

Governmental fund financial statements, therefore, include a reconciliation with brief 

explanations to better identify the relationship between the entity-wide statements and the 

statements for governmental funds. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d) 

 

Like the entity-wide statements, all proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic 

resources measurement focus.  All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these 

funds are included on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.  The 

statement of changes in net position presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., 

expenses) in net total assets.  The statement of cash flows provides information about how the 

City finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities. 

 

Basis of Accounting 

 

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and 

reported on the financial statements.  Entity-wide financial statements are prepared using the 

accrual basis of accounting.  Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of 

accounting.  Proprietary and custodial funds also use the accrual basis of accounting.  

Differences in the accrual and the modified accrual basis of accounting arise in the 

recognition of revenue, the recording of unearned and unavailable revenue, and in the 

presentation of expenses versus expenditures. 

 

Revenues - Exchange and Nonexchange Transactions – Revenue resulting from exchange 

transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on 

the accrual basis when the exchange takes place.  On a modified accrual basis, revenue is 

recorded in the fiscal year in which the resources are measurable and become available.  

Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are 

expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current 

fiscal year.  For the City, available means received within 60 days after year end. 

 

Nonexchange transactions, in which the City receives value without directly giving equal value 

in return, primarily include grants.  Revenue from grants is recognized in the fiscal year in which 

all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.  Eligibility requirements include timing 

requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the year 

when use is first permitted; matching requirements, in which the City must provide local 

resources to be used for a specified purpose; and expenditure requirements, in which the 

resources are provided to the City on a reimbursable basis.  On a modified accrual basis, 

revenue from nonexchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized. 

 

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered both 

measurable and available at year end:  charges for services, fines and forfeitures, state-levied 

locally shared taxes (including gasoline tax and motor vehicle license tax), grants, interest, and 

rent. 

 

Unavailable revenue – Unavailable revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue 

recognition criteria have been satisfied. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont'd) 

 

On the governmental fund financial statements, receivables that were not collected within the 

available period have been reported as unavailable revenue. 

 

Expenses/Expenditures – On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the 

time they are incurred.  The fair value of donated items received during the year is reported in 

the operating statement as an expense with a like amount reported as donated revenue.  The 

measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial 

resources (expenditures) rather than expenses.  Expenditures generally are recognized in the 

accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable.  Allocations of 

cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds. 

 

Budgetary Data 

 

All funds, other than agency funds, are legally required to be budgeted and appropriated.  

The City Council adopts an annual budget as set forth in the City Charter.  The budget is 

prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting consistent with GAAP, except that depreciation 

is not considered.  The Mayor may transfer the balance of unencumbered appropriations 

between general classifications of expenditures within an office, department, or agency.  At 

the Mayor’s request, in the last three months of the budget year, the Council may, by resolution, 

transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance from one office, department, or agency 

to another.  All appropriations lapse at year end. 

 

Cash Equivalents 

 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the enterprise funds consider all highly liquid 

investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash 

equivalents. 

 

Investments 

 

Investments are recorded at fair value. 

 

In establishing the fair value of investments, the City uses the following hierarchy.  The lowest 

level of valuation available is used for all investments. 

 

Level 1 – Valuations based on quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the entity has the ability to access. 

 

Level 2 – Valuations based on quoted prices of similar products in active markets or identical 

products in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, directly 

or indirectly. 

 

Level 3 – Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair 

value measurement. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont'd) 

 

Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts 

 

The City estimates an allowance for uncollectible accounts based upon an aging of the 

receivables and the City’s historical collection rates experienced in prior years for each type 

of receivable.  Real estate taxes that can be liened with Wicomico County for lack of payment 

are deemed to be fully collectible; other taxes, such as local personal taxes and ordinary 

business corporation taxes which cannot be liened, are not considered fully collectible and 

are recorded net of an allowance.  In addition, the City may terminate service and lien a user’s 

property for delinquent water and sewer bills and, therefore, considers water and sewer utility 

receivables to be fully collectible. 

 

Property Taxes 

 

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien as of July 1.  Taxes are levied on July 1 and are 

recognized when levied.  Taxes are due and payable on or before September 30, and all 

unpaid taxes become delinquent on October 1.  Effective July 1, 2019, the City began billing 

and collecting real estate taxes; prior to that date, the real estate taxes were billed and 

collected by Wicomico County, Maryland on behalf of the City.  Real property taxes 

uncollected as of 60 days after fiscal year end are considered unavailable to pay liabilities 

that are owed at the balance sheet date and, therefore, are included in deferred inflows of 

resources in the balance sheet – governmental funds.  An allowance is established for 

delinquent personal property taxes to the extent that their collectibility is improbable.  At June 

30, 2023, all property taxes were deemed collectible, and there was no allowance. 

 

Inventories 

 

Inventory is presented at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and is expensed 

when used. 

 

Capital Assets 

 

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in 

proprietary funds.  These assets generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds.  

These assets are reported in the governmental activities column of the entity-wide statement of 

net position but are not reported in the fund financial statements.  Capital assets utilized by the 

proprietary funds are reported both in the business-type activities column of the entity-wide 

statement of net position and in the respective funds. 

 

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical costs) and updated for 

additions and retirements during the year.  Donated capital assets, received before June 15, 

2015, are recorded at their fair market values as of the date received.  Donated capital assets 

received after June 15, 2015 are recorded at acquisition value.  The City maintains a 

capitalization threshold of $10,000.  Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d) 

 

maintenance and repairs that do not add value to the asset or materially extend an asset’s life 

are not capitalized. 

 

All reported capital assets except land, art, and construction-in-progress are depreciated.  

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 

 

Land improvements 10 - 40 years 

Buildings and improvements 10 - 40 years 

Improvements, non-buildings 10 - 40 years 

Machinery and equipment 5 - 15 years 

Zoo animals 8 - 15 years 

 

Compensated Absences 

 

The City accrues a liability for vested compensated absences including vacation, sick leave, 

compensatory time, and holidays worked with various limitations on each type of 

compensated absence.  All accrued compensated absences liabilities are recorded in the 

entity-wide financial statements. 

 

Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations 

 

All payables, accrued liabilities, and long-term obligations are reported in the entity-wide 

statements; and all payables, accrued liabilities, and long-term obligations payable from 

proprietary funds are reported on the proprietary fund financial statements. 

 

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid 

in a timely manner and in full from current financial resources are reported as obligations of 

the funds.  However, claims and judgments and compensated absences that will be paid from 

governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent 

that they are due for payment during the current year. 

 

Pensions 

 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 

inflows of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 

net position of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (“MSRPS”), and additions 

to/deductions from MSRPS's fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as 

they are reported by MSRPS. 

 

Net Position (Deficit) 

 

Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and 

deferred inflows.  Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 

depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings used for the acquisition, 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d) 

 

construction, or improvement of those assets.  Net position is reported as restricted when there 

are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the City 

or through external restrictions imposed by grantors, creditors, or laws or regulations of other 

governments.  Amounts not meeting the definition of restricted or net investment in capital 

assets are reported as unrestricted. 

 

The City applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which 

both restricted and unrestricted net position is available. 

 

The deficit in the Mitchell Landing Fund (major enterprise fund) as of June 30, 2023 was 

$697,343.  This deficit is due to depreciation which cannot be recaptured through user 

charges. 

 

Fund Balance 

 

Fund balance will be displayed in the following classifications (if applicable) depicting the 

relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can 

be used: 

 

Nonspendable – amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form 

or because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 

 

Restricted – amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constitutional 

provisions or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are externally imposed by 

creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments. 

 

Committed – amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by formal action 

of the City Council.  The City Council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the 

City.  Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through resolutions 

approved by the City Council. 

 

Assigned – amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed but 

that are intended to be used for specific purposes.  City Council has designated the Director 

of Internal Services the authority to assign amounts for specific purposes. 

 

Unassigned – all other spendable amounts. 

 

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 

balances are available, the City considers restricted funds to have been spent first.  When an 

expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are 

available, the City considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then 

assigned funds and, finally, unassigned funds, as needed, unless City Council or the Director 

of Finance has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. 
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NOTE 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont’d) 

 

Operating Revenues and Expenses 

 

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity 

of the proprietary funds.  For the City, these revenues are charges for services for water and 

sewer.  Operating expenses are necessary costs incurred to provide the good or service that is 

the primary activity of the fund.  Revenues not meeting these definitions are reported as 

nonoperating. 

 

Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 

accompanying notes.  Actual results may differ from those estimates. 

 

 

NOTE 3 CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

 

The City maintains a cash account and an investment pool that is available for use by all funds.  

Each fund reports its portion of this account and pool.  Additional cash and investment 

accounts are also held separately by several of the City's funds. 

 

The City follows the State of Maryland laws related to types of deposits and investments, 

selection of depositories, and collateral requirements. 

 

Cash and Deposits 

 

At June 30, 2023, the carrying amount of the City’s cash deposits was $19,553,031, and the 

bank balance was $19,947,872.  Of the bank balance, $728,157 was covered by federal 

depository insurance, and $19,219,715 was exposed to custodial credit risk because, in 

accordance with Maryland State law, it was uninsured, and the collateral held by the 

depository’s agent was not in the City’s name. 

 

Investment Pool 

 

The City is a participant of the MLGIP, which provides all local government units of the State a 

safe investment vehicle for short-term investment of funds.  The State Legislature created MLGIP 

with the passage of Article 95 22G of the Annotated Code of Maryland.  The MLGIP, under the 

administrative control of the State Treasurer, has been managed by PNC Capital Advisors, LLC.  

An MLGIP Advisory Committee comprised of current participants was formed to review, on a 

quarterly basis, the activities of the fund and to provide suggestions to enhance the pool. 

 

Although not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and not subject to 

regulatory oversight, MLGIP acts like a money market mutual fund in that its objective is to 

maintain a stable net asset value of $1 per share, is rated by a nationally recognized statistical 
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NOTE 3 CASH AND INVESTMENTS  (cont’d) 

 

rating organization, and is subject to an independent annual audit.  These external investment 

pools are considered 2a7-like pools and are recorded at amortized cost.  The amortized cost, 

which approximates fair value of the pool, is determined by the pool’s share price.  As of June 

30, 2023, MLGIP was rated AA by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization.  As of 

June 30, 2023, the City had $26,939,507 invested in MLGIP. 

 

Restricted Cash 

 

Restricted cash in the governmental funds represents funds held in escrow by a local financial 

institution relating to the Public Improvement Bonds.  Additional restricted cash in the enterprise 

funds represents a replacement reserve fund for the Mitchell Landing Fund and funds held in 

escrow for the Public Improvement Bonds. 

 

Retiree Health Plan Trust 

 

The investment policy of the City of Salisbury Health Care Trust requires that the funds be 

managed as a balanced account with approximately 60% equities, and 40% cash and 

equivalents and government and corporate bonds.  The investments are held at State Street 

Bank in the City’s name.  The total investment balance in this fund at June 30, 2023 was 

$2,247,844. 

 

The City did not have any individual investments that exceeded 5% of the total investment 

amount. 

 

The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The City has the 

following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2023: 

 

 

 

NOTE 4 INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 

 

As a result of its operations, the City effects a variety of transactions between funds to finance 

operations and service debt.  Accordingly, to the extent that certain interfund transactions 

have not been paid or received as of June 30, 2023, appropriate due from/to other funds have 

been established.  The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2023 is as follows: 

 

  

Investment Type  Fair Value  Level 1  Level 2 

       

Money markets  $        26,769  $        26,769  $                  - 

Mutual funds  2,017,870  2,017,870  - 

Exchange traded products  203,205  203,205  - 

       

TOTAL  $   2,247,844  $   2,247,844  $                  - 
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NOTE 4 INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES  (cont’d) 

 

Receivable By Amount  Payable From Amount 

     

General Fund $    726,883  Nonmajor Proprietary Funds $    726,883 

 

 

Interfund receivables/payables represent temporary borrowings between funds and general 

fund contributions to support certain enterprise activities. 

 

Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2023 are as follows: 

 

 Transfers In  Transfers Out 

    

General Fund $                  -  $   1,014,628 

Capital Improvements Fund 759,120  - 

Nonmajor Governmental Funds 555,508  - 

Nonmajor Proprietary Funds -  300,000 

    

TOTAL $   1,314,628  $   1,314,628 

 

 

NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows: 

 

( July 1, 2022  Additions  Deletions  Transfers  June 30, 2023 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES          

Capital assets not being          

   depreciated:          

Land and art $   8,822,878  $     14,003   $    (99,011)  $               -  $   8,737,870 

Construction-in-progress 6,871,864  2,377,142  (107,681)  (1,378,262)  7,763,063 

Total Capital Assets Not          

   Being Depreciated 15,694,742  2,391,145  (206,692)  (1,378,262)  16,500,933 

          

Capital assets being          

   depreciated:          

Land improvements 767,410  -  -  -  767,410 

Buildings and improvements 27,305,857  -  -         1,053,462  28,359,319 

Improvements, non-buildings 32,378,711  -  -  324,800  32,703,511 

Machinery and equipment 27,707,036  2,054,115  (37,706)  -  29,723,445 

Zoo animals 36,000  -  -  -  36,000 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated 88,195,014  2,054,115  (37,706)  1,378,262  91,589,685 

Accumulated depreciation (40,902,393)  (3,450,401)  37,706  -  (44,315,088) 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated, Net 47,292,621  (1,396,286)  -  1,378,262  47,274,597 

          

Governmental Activities          

   Capital Assets, Net $ 62,987,363   $   994,859  $  (206,692)  $               -  $ 63,775,530  
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NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS  (cont’d) 

 

Depreciation was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

 

General government  $      257,660 

Public safety  1,584,743 

Public works  905,549 

Recreation and culture  702,449 

   

Total Depreciation Expense  $   3,450,401 

 

 

( July 1, 2022  Additions  Deletions  Transfers  June 30, 2023 

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES          

Water and Sewer Fund          

Capital assets not being          

   depreciated:          

Land $       301,703  $               -   $               -  $               -  $       301,703 

Construction-in-progress 2,738,313  4,579,634  (79,516)  (89,074)  7,149,357 

Total Capital Assets Not          

   Being Depreciated 3,040,016  4,579,634  (79,516)  (89,074)  7,451,060 

          

Capital assets being          

   depreciated:          

Land improvements 430,636  -  -  -  430,636 

Buildings and improvements 45,047,758  -  -         -  45,047,758 

Improvements, non-buildings 118,848,624  -  -  30,299  118,878,923 

Machinery and equipment 13,056,317  67,539  (55,259)  58,775  13,127,372 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated 177,383,335  67,539  (55,259)  89,074  177,484,689 

Accumulated depreciation (52,295,158)  (4,931,169)  54,325  -  (57,332,157) 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated, Net 125,088,177  (5,023,785)  (934)  89,074  120,152,532 

          

Water and Sewer Fund          

   Capital Assets, Net $128,128,193  $  (444,151)  $    (80,450)  $               -  $127,603,592 

          

          

Parking Authority Fund          

Capital assets not being          

   depreciated:          

Land $       467,790  $               -   $      (5,000)  $               -  $       462,790 

Construction-in-progress 520,900  3,625  -  -  524,525 

Total Capital Assets Not          

   Being Depreciated 988,690  3,625  -  -  987,315 
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NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS  (cont’d) 

 

( July 1, 2022  Additions  Deletions  Transfers  June 30, 2023 

(cont’d)          

Capital assets being          

   depreciated:          

Land improvements 156,704  -  -  -  156,704 

Buildings and improvements 3,986,550  -  -         -         3,986,550 

Improvements, non-buildings 64,800  -  (64,800)  -  - 

Machinery and equipment 284,326  -  -  -  284,326 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated 4,492,380  -  -  -  4,492,380 

Accumulated depreciation (3,180,578)  (106,351)  47,790  -  (3,239,139) 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated, Net 1,311,802  (106,351)  (17,010)  -  1,188,441 

          

Parking Authority Fund          

   Capital Assets, Net $   2,300,492   $  (102,726)  $     (22,010)  $               -  $    2,175,756  

          

          

City Marina Fund          

Capital assets not being          

   depreciated:          

Land     $ 1,315,000  $               -  $(1,315,000)  $               -  $                   - 

Total Capital Assets Not          

   Being Depreciated 1,315,000  -  (1,315,000)  -  - 

          

Capital assets being          

   depreciated:          

Land improvements 1,418,255  -  -  -  1,418,255 

Buildings and improvements 209,494  -  -  -  209,494 

Other fixed assets 150,803  -  -  -  150,803 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated 1,778,552  -  -  -  1,778,552 

Accumulated depreciation (1,567,070)  (21,472)  -  -  (1,588,542) 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated, Net 211,482  (21,472)  -  -  190,010 

          

City Marina Fund          

   Capital Assets, Net $   1,526,482  $    (21,472)  $                -  $               -  $       190,010 

          

          

Stormwater Utility Fund          

Capital assets not being          

   depreciated:          

Construction-in-progress $                  -  $               -  $                -  $               -  $                   - 

Total Capital Assets Not          

   Being Depreciated -  -  -  -  - 
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NOTE 5 CAPITAL ASSETS  (cont’d) 

 

( July 1, 2022  Additions  Deletions  Transfers  June 30, 2023 

(cont’d)          

Capital assets being          

   depreciated:          

          

          

          

          

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated 1,164,836  362,046  (139,463)  -  1,164,836 

Accumulated depreciation (604,395)  (108,270)  -  -  (712,665) 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated, Net 560,441  (108,270)  -  -  452,171 

          

Stormwater Utility Fund          

   Capital Assets, Net $       560,441  $  (108,270)  $               -  $               -  $       452,171 

          

          

Mitchell Landing Fund          

Capital assets not being          

   depreciated:          

Land $       114,010  $               -   $               -  $               -  $       114,010 

Total Capital Assets Not          

   Being Depreciated 114,010  -  -  -  114,010 

          

Capital assets being          

   depreciated:          

Land improvements 7,862  -  -  -  7,862 

Buildings and improvements 1,357,051  -  -         -         1,357,051 

Machinery and equipment 89,405  -  -  -  89,405 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated 1,454,318  -  -  -  1,454,318 

Accumulated depreciation (1,055,164)  (34,445)  -  -  (1,089,609) 

Total Capital Assets Being          

   Depreciated, Net 399,154  (34,445)  -  -  364,709 

          

Mitchell Landing Fund          

   Capital Assets, Net $       513,164   $    (34,445)  $               -  $               -  $       478,719  

 

 

The majority of the construction-in-progress relates to the Bicycle Master Plan, City Park Master 

Plan, Service Center, Street Scaping, and Urban Greenway for the governmental activities.  

Business-type projects included Paleo Well, Sewer Infiltration Inflow Remediation, and East Main 

Street Sewer.  Refer to Note 11 for more information regarding the total project and completed 

amounts relating to these projects. 
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NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

The City's Charter provides that total bonded or other indebtedness of the City payable from 

its general tax revenues shall at no time exceed the total of 2% of the assessed valuation of all 

real property and 5% of the assessed valuation of all personal and corporate property subject 

to taxation by the City.  The legal debt limit permitted at June 30, 2023 totaled $61,936,927.  

After considering general obligations, including mortgages and notes outstanding of 

$26,138,902, the available additional debt margin was $35,798,025. 

 

Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows: 

 

         Due Within 

 July 1, 2022  Additions  Retirements  June 30, 2023  One Year 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES          

General Obligation Bonds $  29,343,445  $              -  $ (3,204,543)  $  26,138,902  $3,439,227 

Bond premium 2,645,171  -  (233,844)  2,411,327  233,844 

Lease obligations 2,238,589  610,727  (929,896)  1,919,420  578,898 

 34,227,205  610,727  (4,368,283)  30,469,649  4,252,969 

Compensated absences 2,151,303  207,956  -  2,359,259  235,926 

Net OPEB liability 13,471,060  178,588  -  13,649,648  - 

Net pension liability 25,843,961  7,849,659  -  33,693,620  - 

          

Governmental Activities          

   Long-term Liabilities $  75,693,529  $8,846,930  $ (4,368,283)  $  80,172,176  $4,488,895 

          

          

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES          

General Obligation Bonds $  59,775,218  $       6,000  $ (4,381,569)  $  55,399,649  $4,198,350 

Bond premium 1,178,020  -  (136,790)  1,041,230  136,790 

Mortgage and Notes Payable:          

   Department of Housing and          

      Community Development -          

      Mitchell Landing Project -          

      no interest or principal due          

      while project serves as low-          

      income rental housing 1,381,807  -  -  1,381,807  - 

Lease obligations 564,901  -  (167,499)  397,402  166,256 

 62,899,946  6,000  (4,685,858)  58,220,088  4,501,396 

Compensated absences 302,235  149,413  -  451,648  45,165 

Net OPEB liability 3,367,765  44,647  -  3,412,412  - 

Net pension liability 3,379,946  987,717  -  4,367,663  - 

          

Business-type Activities          

   Long-term Liabilities $  69,949,892  $1,187,777  $ (4,685,858)  $  66,451,811  $4,546,561 

 

 

  

DRAFT



CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 40 - 

 

 

 

NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont’d) 

 

The City’s long-term debt consisted of the following: 

 

  Balance Outstanding 

  Governmental  Business-type 

  Activities  Activities 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2003, the City obligated 

itself to pay to the Maryland Department of the 

Environment (“MDE”) the amount of $3,163,361 at 

an annual interest rate of 0.4% for wastewater 

treatment plant upgrades and expansion.  Interest 

is payable semi-annually beginning on August 1, 

2003, and principal is payable annually beginning 

on February 1, 2005 until the principal amount of the 

bond has been paid.  The general obligation bond 

is accounted for in the water and sewer enterprise 

fund. 

 

$                  -  $      164,238 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2006, the City obligated 

itself to pay to MDE the amount of $42,009,341 at 

an annual interest rate of 0.4% for wastewater 

treatment plant upgrades and expansion.  The 

final amount advanced as of June 30, 2017 is 

$41,721,225.  Interest is payable semi-annually 

beginning February 1, 2006, and principal is 

payable annually beginning February 1, 2009 until 

the principal amount of the bond has been paid.  

The general obligation bond is accounted for in the 

water and sewer enterprise fund. 

 

-  10,530,722 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2010, the City obligated 

itself to pay to MDE the amount of $2,756,400.  The 

final amount advanced as of June 30, 2023 is 

$2,056,250.  The loan is repayable in annual 

installments of $145,021.  There was an initial 

payment of $1,000 due on August 1, 2011.  Due to 

the reduction in principal drawn, the bonds now 

mature through February 1, 2026 with a reduced 

final payment of $24,955.  There is no interest on this 

obligation, which is accounted for in the water and 

sewer enterprise fund. 

 

-  314,997 

 

 

  

DRAFT



CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 41 - 

 

 

 

NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont’d) 

 

  Balance Outstanding 

  Governmental  Business-type 

  Activities  Activities 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2012, the City entered 

into a tax-exempt loan agreement with MDE in the 

amount of $1,631,000 at a rate of 0.90% for 30 

years.  The interest payments are due semi-annually 

beginning on August 1, 2012.  Annual principal 

payments are due on February 1, beginning on 

February 1, 2014.  The obligation is accounted for in 

the water and sewer enterprise fund. 

 

-  1,017,413 

  
   

In the year ended June 30, 2014, the City entered 

into a tax-exempt loan agreement with the 

Administration in the amount of $66,375.  The final 

amount advanced on the loan was $59,119.  The 

loan is due on demand, with interest accruing at the 

default rate (1.00%) from the date of demand.  This 

obligation is accounted for in the general fund. 

 

22,326  - 

  
   

In the year ended June 30, 2014, the City entered 

into a loan agreement with the Administration in the 

amount of $464,625.  The final amount advanced as 

of June 30, 2018 is $413,835.  The loan is due on 

demand and bears no interest.  The Administration 

shall forgive payment of the principal amount if the 

City performs all of its obligations under the loan 

agreement.  If the Administration has not demanded 

repayment of the principal prior to March 20, 2024, 

then the loan shall be deemed forgiven.  This 

obligation is accounted for in the general fund. 

 

413,835  - 

  
   

In the year ended June 30, 2015, the City obligated 

itself to pay the Administration the amount of 

$34,545,000 for wastewater treatment plant 

upgrades and expansion. Principal is payable 

annually beginning on February 1, 2018 continuing 

through February 1, 2037 and bears no interest.  This 

obligation is accounted for in the water and sewer 

fund. 

 

-  34,959,303 
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NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont’d) 

 

  Balance Outstanding 

  Governmental  Business-type 

  Activities  Activities 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2016, the City issued 

$4,726,200 of Public Improvements Bonds at an 

interest rate of 2.18%.  Interest is payable semi-

annually beginning on June 1, 2016.  The bonds 

mature in varying amounts beginning on June 1, 

2016 and continuing through December 1, 2025.  

The bonds are accounted for in the general fund 

and the water and sewer enterprise fund. 

 

1,203,422  322,908 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2017, the City issued 

$20,030,000 of Public Improvement Refunding 

Bonds at an interest rate of 2.00-5.00%.  Interest is 

payable semi-annually beginning on April 1, 2017.  

The bonds mature in varying amounts beginning on 

April 1, 2017 and continuing through April 1, 2031.  

The bonds are accounted for in the general fund, 

the water and sewer enterprise fund, and in the non-

major enterprise fund. 

 

3,998,948  4,481,051 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2018, the City issued 

$5,724,853 of Public Improvement Bonds at an 

interest rate of 2.51%.  Interest is payable semi-

annually beginning on June 1, 2018.  The bonds 

mature in varying amounts beginning on June 1, 

2018 and continuing through June 1, 2032.  The 

bonds are accounted for in the general fund and in 

the non-major enterprise fund. 

 

3,554,371  218,697 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2020, the City issued 

$11,225,000 of Public Improvement Bonds at an 

interest rate of 2.125% to 5.00%.  Interest is payable 

semi-annually beginning on March 1, 2020.  The 

bonds mature in varying amounts beginning on 

March 1, 2020 and continuing through March 1, 

2035.  The bonds are accounted for in the general 

fund and in the non-major enterprise fund. 

 

8,786,000  764,000 
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NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont’d) 

 

  Balance Outstanding 

  Governmental  Business-type 

  Activities  Activities 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2022, the City issued 

$8,965,000 of tax-exempt Public Improvement 

Bonds at the interest rate of 1.5% to 4.0%.  Interest is 

payable semi-annually beginning on March 1, 

2022.  The bonds mature in varying amounts 

beginning on March 1, 2022 and continuing through 

September 1, 2036.  The bonds are accounted for in 

the general fund.  The refunding resulted in a gross 

cash flow savings of $496,625 and an economic 

benefit or net present value savings of $488,602. 

 

8,160,000  - 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2022, the City issued 

$2,895,000 of Public Improvement Bonds at the 

interest rate of 2.0% to 3.0%.  Interest is payable 

semi-annually beginning on March 1, 2022.  The 

bonds mature in varying amounts beginning on 

March 1, 2022 and continuing through September 

1, 2028.  The bonds are accounted for in the water 

and sewer enterprise fund. 

 

-  2,515,000 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2022, the City entered a 

loan agreement with the Maryland Water Quality 

Financing Administration in the amount of $90,000 at 

the interest rate of 0.4% for the Mt. Hermon Road 

Sewer Extension.  Interest is payable semi-annually 

beginning on February 1, 2022, and principal is 

payable annually beginning on February 1, 2023 

until the principal amount of the bond has been 

paid.  The loan is accounted for in the water and 

sewer enterprise fund. 

 

-  81,320 

     

In the year ended June 30, 2022, the City entered 

into a loan agreement with the Maryland Water 

Quality Financing Administration in the amount of 

$30,000.  The loan is due on demand with interest 

accruing at the default rate of 1.67% from the 

date of demand.  The Administration shall forgive 

payment of the principal amount if the City performs 

all of its obligations under the loan agreement.  If the 

Administration has not demanded repayment of 
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NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont’d) 

 

  Balance Outstanding 

  Governmental  Business-type 

  Activities  Activities 

     

the principal prior to August 28, 2030, then the loan 

shall be forgiven.  The obligation is accounted for in 

the water and sewer enterprise fund. 

 

-  30,000 

     

  $ 26,138,902  $ 55,399,649 

 

 

Principal maturities of the City’s long-term debt are as follows: 

 

  Governmental Activities 

  Principal  Interest  Total 

Year Ending June 30,  Maturities  Maturities  Maturities 

       

2024  $   3,439,227   $      802,953   $   4,242,180  

2025   2,992,258    679,333    3,671,591  

2026   3,096,457    565,774    3,662,231  

2027   2,732,615    452,518    3,185,133  

2028   2,030,619    365,636    2,396,255  

2029 - 2033   8,397,328    829,516    9,226,844  

2034 - 2037   3,450,398    99,333    3,549,731  

       

  $ 26,138,902  $   3,795,063  $ 29,933,965 

 

 

  Business-type Activities 

  Principal  Interest  Total 

Year Ending June 30,  Maturities  Maturities  Maturities 

       

2024  $   4,198,350  $      416,496  $   4,614,846 

2025  3,931,730  333,347  4,265,077 

2026  6,491,213  272,988  6,764,201 

2027  6,344,504  212,262  6,556,766 

2028  5,632,863  183,717  5,816,580 

2029 - 2033  15,680,021  229,771  15,909,792 

2034 - 2038  11,391,684  35,217  11,426,901 

2039 - 2042  1,729,284  15,638  1,744,922 

       

  $ 55,399,649  $   1,699,436  $ 57,099,085 
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NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont'd) 

 

Conduit Debt 

 

In the year ended June 30, 2007, the City issued Special Obligation Bonds (Villages at Aydelotte 

Farm Project), Series of 2007, in the amount of $9,775,000, payable solely from and secured 

by a pledge of certain tax increment revenues and special tax revenues.  These bonds are 

secured in the first instance by the proceeds of tax collections attributable to the increase in 

the assessed value of real property located in a prescribed development district over the 

original taxable value of such real property, as determined in accordance with the Maryland 

Tax Increment Financing Act.  To the extent such tax increment revenues are insufficient, 

proceeds of special taxes levied on and collected from the taxable parcels within a prescribed 

special taxing district will be used to pay debt service.  The full faith and credit and unlimited 

taxing power of the City have not been pledged to pay these bonds.  These bonds are payable 

over 30 years, with semi-annual interest payments on each July 1 and January 1, starting on 

July 1, 2007; and principal payments on July 1 in the years 2012 to 2036, inclusive, with a final 

principal and interest payment on January 1, 2037.  These bonds bear interest at the rate of 

5.25% per annum and are not subject to the debt limit set forth in the City’s Charter.  These 

bonds were issued with the expectation that interest thereon shall be excludable from gross 

income of the holders thereof for federal income tax purposes. 

 

In the year ended June 30, 2007, the City issued Special Obligation Bonds (Village at Salisbury 

Lake Project), Series of 2007, in the amount of $15,000,000, payable solely from and secured 

by a pledge of certain tax increment revenues and special tax revenues.  These bonds are 

secured in the first instance by the proceeds of tax collections attributable to the increase in 

the assessed value of real property located in a prescribed development district over the 

original taxable value of such property, as determined in accordance with the Maryland Tax 

Increment Financing Act.  To the extent such tax increment revenues are insufficient, proceeds 

of special taxes levied on and collected from the taxable parcels within a prescribed special 

taxing district will be used to pay debt service.  The full faith and credit and unlimited taxing 

power of the City have not been pledged to pay these bonds.  These bonds are payable over 

30 years, with semi-annual interest payments on July 1 and January 1, starting on July 1, 2012 

(or such earlier date as the bonds are converted and remarketed); and principal payments on 

July 1 in the years 2013 to 2036, inclusive, with a final principal and interest payment on 

January 1, 2037.  These bonds initially bear interest at the rate of 7.9% per annum and are not 

subject to the debt limit set forth in the City’s Charter.  These bonds were issued as drawdown 

bonds and sold to the then current owner of the property located in the prescribed 

development/special taxing district.  These bonds are subject to conversion and reoffering if 

certain conditions set forth in the Indenture of Trust relating to such bonds are met.  Until any 

such conversion and reoffering, the bond holder will advance proceeds of the bonds to pay 

project costs.  Until any such conversion and reoffering (and, potentially, even thereafter), 

interest on such bonds will be includable in gross income of the holders thereof for federal 

income tax purposes. 

  

DRAFT



CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 46 - 

 

 

 

NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT  (cont'd) 

 

Lease Obligations  

 

The City has entered into leases for the acquisition of various machinery and equipment. 

Accordingly, the present value of future minimum lease payments and the related assets have 

been recorded in the appropriate fund. 

 

The original cost of assets acquired under these leases for the general fund is $5,782,331 with 

accumulated depreciation of $1,706,947; for the water and sewer fund, the original cost is 

$240,566 with accumulated depreciation of $127,967; for the parking fund, the original cost 

is $140,000 with accumulated depreciation of $30,446; and for the storm water fund, the 

original cost is $595,278 with accumulated depreciation of $131,257 at June 30, 2023. 

 

Following is a summary of total future minimum lease payments for all leases: 

 

  Principal   

    Water and  Stormwater     

Year Ending June 30,  General  Sewer  Utility  Parking  Interest 

           

2024  $    579,232  $      43,702  $    105,803  $      16,417  $      57,322 

2025  533,422  14,170  108,157  16,731  39,883 

2026  428,573  -  75,372  17,050  23,593 

2027  345,780  -  -  -  10,908 

2028  32,413  -  -  -  1,222 

           

Total  $ 1,919,420  $      57,872  $    289,332  $      50,198  $    132,928 

 

 

NOTE 7  PENSION PLAN 

 

Generally, all regular employees of the City participate in the State of Maryland Employees 

Retirement and Pension Systems (“Employees' Systems”).  Law enforcement officers and firemen 

employed by the City generally participate in the State of Maryland Law Enforcement Officers 

Pension Systems (“LEOPS”).  Both the Employees' Systems and LEOPS (collectively, the Systems) 

are cost-sharing multiple-employer public retirement systems sponsored by the Maryland State 

Retirement and Pensions Systems and created by the Maryland General Assembly. 

 

Benefits Provided 

 

Participants in the Systems may retire with full benefits after 30 years of service regardless of 

age or at various ages with specified years of eligibility service for reduced benefits.  Annual 

service retirement allowances are paid monthly to retired members in accordance with 

allowance options selected based on average final compensation.  Participants terminating 

in the retirement system prior to specified retirement age are refunded their accumulated 

contributions plus earned interest or may defer receipt of accumulated contributions until 
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NOTE 7  PENSION PLAN  (cont’d) 

 

age 60.  Participants and their beneficiaries may also be eligible for disability and death 

benefits based on years of creditable service and average final compensation. 

 

Member Contributions 

 

During fiscal year 2023, the State Personnel and Pensions Article required active members to 

contribute to the Systems at a rate of 7% for LEOPS and 6% for non-LEOPS personnel of each 

employee’s covered salary. 

 

Employer Contributions 

 

The City’s contractually required annual contribution is based on an actuarially determined 

amount that, when combined with the employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs 

of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any 

unfunded accrued liability.  For the year ended June 30, 2023, the rate of the employer 

contribution varied depending on each pension plans’ requirements.  The City’s contribution 

to the Systems for the year ended June 30, 2023 was $4,913,384. 

 

Pension Liability and Expense, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources 

 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported a liability of $38,061,283 for its proportionate share of the 

net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total 

pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by rolling forward 

the System’s total pension liability as of June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022.  The City’s proportion 

of the net pension liability was calculated utilizing the employer’s one-year reported covered 

payroll as it relates to the total one-year reported covered payroll.  At June 30, 2022, the City’s 

proportion for the Employee plan was 0.0513%, a decrease of 0.0017% from the prior year, 

and the LEOPS plan was 0.1389%, a decrease of 0.0290% from the prior year. 

 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $5,266,541.  At 

June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 

resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

 Employees Plan  LEOPS Plan  Total 

 Deferred  Deferred  Deferred  Deferred  Deferred  Deferred 

 Outflows  Inflows  Outflows  Inflows  Outflows  Inflows 

            

Changes in assumptions $         8,087  $                 -  $       21,499  $     239,803  $       29,586  $     239,803 

Differences between actual            

   required contributions -  4,037  49,549  -  49,549  4,037 

Contributions subsequent to            

   the measurement date 1,253,319  -  3,660,065  -  4,913,384  - 

Differences between actual            

   and expected experience -  4,338,889  -  8,318,637  -  12,657,526 

Differences between actual            

   and expected returns 4,839,406   -  8,697,112  -  13,536,518  - 

            

Total $  6,100,812  $  4,342,926  $12,428,225  $  8,558,440  $18,529,037  $12,901,366 
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NOTE 7  PENSION PLAN  (cont’d) 

 

An amount of $4,913,384 is reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from the City’s 

contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction of 

the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2024.  Other amounts will be reported as 

deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and will 

be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 

Year Ended June 30,   

   

2024  $   448,852 

2025  394,206 

2026  105,719 

2027  (166,618) 

2028  (67,872) 

   

  $   714,287 

 

 

Actuarial Assumptions 

 

The total pension liability as of June 30, 2023 for each of the defined benefit cost-sharing plans 

was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2022.  

 

• Actuarial cost method – entry age normal, level percentage of pay 

• Investment return – 6.80% 

• Salary increases – 2.75% 

• Inflation – 2.25% 

• Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Mortality Tables. 

 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2022 valuation were based on the experience 

study that was performed for the five-year period ended June 30, 2010.  The assumptions 

derived from the experience study were adopted by the Board of Trustees for first use in the 

actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2012. 

 

Discount Rate 

 

The discount used to measure the total pension liability was 6.80%.  The discount rate was 

based on the expected rate of return on the pension plan investments of 6.80%.  The projection 

of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member 

contributions will be made at the current contribution rate, and that employer contributions will 

be made at rates equal to the difference between the actuarially determined contribution 

rates and the member rate.  Based on these assumptions, the plan’s fiduciary net position was 

projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan 

members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 

applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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NOTE 7  PENSION PLAN  (cont’d) 

 

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 

Rate 

 

The following presents the net pension liability, calculated using the discount rate of 6.80%, as 

well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 

one percentage point lower (5.80%) or one percentage point higher (7.80%) than the current 

rate. 

 

  1%  Current  1% 

  Decrease  Discount Rate  Increase 

  5.80%  6.80%  7.80% 

City’s proportionate share:       

   Employee plan  $ 12,443,351  $ 10,274,060  $   3,044,826 

   LEOPS plan  33,063,030  27,787,223  8,090,358 

       

  $ 45,506,381  $ 38,061,283  $ 11,135,184 

 

 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

 

Detailed information about the Systems’ fiduciary net position is available in the Systems’ Annual 

Comprehensive Financial Report, which may be obtained by writing to the Office of Legislative 

Audits, State Office Building, 301 West Preston Street, Baltimore, Maryland, 21201, or by visiting 

the Systems’ website at www.sra.maryland.gov. 

 

 

NOTE 8 POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS  

 

Plan Description 

 

During the year ended June 30, 2007, Wicomico County and the Board of Education jointly set 

up the “Retiree Health Insurance Plan Trust of the Board of Education of Wicomico County and 

Wicomico County.”  A Board of Trustees (“the Board”) oversees the trust.  In June 2009, the City 

joined the trust, and the trust was renamed, “Amended Retiree Health Plan Trust for the 

Wicomico County Board of Education and Wicomico County and the City of Salisbury” (“the 

Trust”). 

 

The plan is an agent multiple-employer plan with combined administrative functions for 

efficiency, and each agent employer remains responsible for financing benefits of its own 

individual plan.  Each agent employer also remains individually responsible for its own separate 

actuarial valuations, and expenses and obligations are measured like those of sole employers.  

The assets of the three entities are segregated within the Trust. 
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NOTE 8 POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS  (cont’d) 

 

The assets of the Trust are managed by an investment manager, Croft-Leominster, Inc., under 

a formal investment policy.  The Board meets quarterly to review investment performance.  The 

investment manager provides a fiscal year performance report to the Board.  Questions 

regarding performance should be directed to the plan administrator.  The plan does not issue 

a stand-alone financial report. 

 

Benefits Provided 

 

A PPO and an EPO plan are available for participants under age 65.  Both plans include 

medical, prescription, dental, and vision.  The prescription plan covers both retail and mail 

order prescription drugs.  Once a retiree turns 65, a Medicare supplemental plan is available.  

The supplemental plan also includes vision, dental, and prescription. 

 

Employees retiring through ordinary disability must have worked for the City for a specified 

number of years prior to retirement, plus fulfill the State Retirement Agency’s criteria for an 

immediate service retirement. 

 

On February 27, 2017, the City Council approved changes to the OPEB plan.  For future retirees, 

the annual subsidy is capped at $3,500 for a retiree, $7,000 for retirees with spouse coverage, 

and $9,500 for retiree with family coverage.  Future hires are also required to have 20 years of 

service to be eligible for these benefits. 

 

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms 

 

As of February 1, 2022, a total of 493 employees were covered by the benefit terms as follows: 

 

Active employees  376 

Retirees in pay status (pre-Medicare)  40 

Retirees in pay status (post-Medicare)  77 

 

The City has not established an irrevocable trust.  The plan is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis 

from the City’s general fund.  

 

Net OPEB Liability  

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 

reported results must pertain to liability information within certain defined timeframes.  For this 

report, the following timeframes are used: 

 

Valuation date  February 1, 2022 

Measurement date  June 30, 2023 

Measurement period  July 1, 2022 - June 30, 2023 
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NOTE 8 POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS  (cont’d) 

 

Actuarial Assumptions 

 

The net OPEB liability in the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined using the 

following actuarial assumptions applied to all periods included in the measurement.  The 

medical trend assumption was developed using the Society of Actuaries (“SOA”) Long-Run 

Medical Cost Trend Model.  The model was updated in 2016. 

 

Inflation  2.5% 

Rate of growth in real income/GDP per year  1.4% 

Extra trend due to technology and other factors  1.0% 

Expected health share of GDP in 2029  19.0% 

Health share of GDP resistance point  20.0% 

Year for limiting cost growth to GDP growth  2075 

 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 Total Dataset Mortality with Scale MP-2014 and RP- 

2014 Disabled Retiree Mortality with Scale MP-2014. 

 

The following are the changes in assumptions for the plan; the discount rate changed to 3.69%, 

the medical trend rate was updated to the latest model released by the SOA and excludes the 

impact of the Cadillac Tax, and the mortality assumption was updated to the latest experience 

study on public sector employees and retirees released by the SOA. 

 

Discount rate 

 

The discount rate of 3.86% was used to measure the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2023. 

 

Sensitivity Analysis 

 

The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the valuation discount rate of 

3.69%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 

rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current rate. 

 

  1%  Current   1% 

  Decrease  Discount Rate  Increase 

  2.86%  3.86%  4.86% 

       

Total OPEB liability  $ 21,490,215  $ 19,309,904  $ 17,419,822 

Fiduciary net position  2,247,844  2,247,844  2,247,844 

       

Net OPEB liability  $ 19,242,371  $ 17,062,060  $ 15,171,978 

 

 

The following presents the net OPEB liability, calculated using the valuation healthcare cost 

trend rate of 3.94%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 

  

DRAFT



CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

- 52 - 

 

 

 

NOTE 8 POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS  (cont’d) 

 

a trend rate that is one percentage point lower each year or one percentage point higher 

each year than the current rate. 

 

  1%  Current  1% 

  Decrease  Trend Rate  Increase 

  2.94%  3.94%  4.94% 

       

Total OPEB liability  $ 16,720,659  $ 19,309,904  $ 22,441,940 

Fiduciary net position  2,247,844  2,247,844  2,247,844 

       

Net OPEB liability  $ 14,472,815  $ 17,062,060  $ 20,194,096 

 

 

Changes in Total OPEB Liability 

 

Total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022  $ 18,914,137 

Service cost  853,173 

Interest cost  683,320 

Difference between expected and actual   

   experience  (357,861) 

Changes of assumptions  (348,792) 

Benefit payments  (434,073) 

   

Total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2023  $ 19,309,904 

 

 

The amount of OPEB expense recognized by the City was $340,709 for the year ended June 

30, 2023.   

 

At June 30, 2023, the City reported deferred outflows of resources relating to OPEB from the 

following sources: 

 

  Deferred  Deferred 

  Outflows of  Inflows of 

  Resources  Resources 

Differences between expected and     

   actual experience  $     701,763  $  6,314,015 

Changes of assumptions  2,490,437  4,520,589 

Difference between actual and expected     

   expected earnings  76,764  - 

     

Total  $  3,268,964  $10,834,604 
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NOTE 8 POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS  (cont’d) 

 

Deferred inflows of resources due to the change in assumptions will be recognized in pension 

expense as follows: 

 

Year Ending June 30,   

   

2024  $  (1,057,404) 

2025  (1,087,615) 

2026  (1,003,111) 

2027  (1,086,574) 

2028  (1,502,346) 

Thereafter  (1,828,590) 

   

  $  (7,565,640) 

 

 

NOTE 9 DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

 

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 

Internal Revenue Code Section 457.  The plan, available to all eligible City employees, permits 

them to defer a portion of their salary until future years.  The deferred compensation is not 

available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency.  The 

deferred amounts are invested in various annuity contracts. 

 

All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan; all property and rights purchased with 

those amounts; and all income attributable to those amounts, property, or rights are held in 

trust for the exclusive benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries and are not subject to 

the claims of the City’s general creditors. 

 

The City has no liability for losses under the plan but does have the duty of due care that would 

be required of an ordinary prudent investor. 

 

 

NOTE 10 SERVICE AWARD TRUST 

 

The City has a Volunteer Firemen Service Award Trust, which was established to accumulate 

funds for the City Volunteer Firemen's Retirement.  Members will receive a one-time stipend 

every time five years of benefit services have been completed.  Stipends range from $2,500 to 

$5,000 based on service years completed.  The transactions of the Service Award Trust have 

been reported as an expendable trust fund in the fiduciary fund types.  
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NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

As of June 30, 2023, the City had infrastructure projects yet to be completed.  The commitments 

and amounts completed are as follows: 

 

   Completed   

 Project  as of   

 Amount  06/30/2023  Commitments 

Governmental Activities:      

Bicycle master plan $   2,783,034  $   2,232,967   $      550,067  

Urban greenway  1,625,000  1,190,770   434,230 

Street scaping div circle  2,506,000  800,756  1,705,244 

Service center 2,324,520  613,143  1,711,377 

Community center  625,000  599,167  25,833 

City Park  786,851   322,156   464,695 

Water chiller and heating  300,000  281,136  18,864 

Bridge maintenance  262,000  220,632   41,368 

Truitt Street 342,000  190,500  151,500 

Building lighting 711,426  164,726  546,700 

Building management  183,237  153,640  29,597 

      

Totals $ 12,449,068  $   6,769,593  $   5,679,475 

 

 

In addition, the City has incurred costs totaling $993,470 for governmental activities project 

costs that were not under a formal contract as of June 30, 2023. 

 

   Completed   

 Project  as of   

 Amount  06/30/2023  Commitments 

Business-type Activities:      

Paleo well $  3,328,629  $   3,115,349  $      213,280 

Raw water line Naylor Mill 2,000,000  1,559,118  440,882 

Park well field 629,000  409,857  219,143 

East Main Street sewer 436,615  348,990  87,625 

Pump station building 380,000  299,597  80,403 

WWTP main building 569,996  224,879  345,087 

Pump Station Improvement Sewer 340,000  155,630  184,370 

WWTP filter cloth project 185,000  141,320  43,680 

Sewer trunk line 150,000  130,133  19,867 

Restore park well field 356,800  92,061  264,739 

Filter replacement project 306,500  78,849  227,151 

Park aerator building 81,600  70,380  11,220 

Park water treat elect gear replace 306,500  55,610  250,890 

Sewer infiltration inflow remediation 1,400,000  51,015  1,348,985 

      

Totals $ 10,470,110  $   6,732,788  $   3,737,322 
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NOTE 11 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  (cont’d) 

 

In addition, the City has incurred costs totaling $941,094 for business-type activities project 

costs that were not under a formal contract as of June 30, 2023. 

 

 

NOTE 12 RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 

of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  The City has joined 

together with other municipalities in the State to form the Local Government Insurance Trust 

(“LGIT”), a public entity risk pool currently operating as a common risk management and 

insurance program for member municipalities.  The City pays an annual premium to LGIT for its 

building and contents, commercial general liability, environmental liability, business 

automobile, and excess liability coverage.  The agreement for formation of the LGIT provides 

that it will be self-sustaining through member premiums and will reinsure through commercial 

companies for claims in excess of $500,000 for liability claims.  The City continues to carry 

separate commercial insurance for its workers' compensation and health insurance coverage.  

Settled claims resulting from the above risks have not exceeded coverage in any of the past 

three fiscal years. 

 

Under the terms of the agreement, LGIT deficits may be funded by additional assessments 

against participating municipalities, levied at the Trustees' discretion. 

 

 

NOTE 13 FUND BALANCES 

 

As of June 30, 2023 fund balances are composed of the following: 

 

   Capital    Total 

 General  Improvements  Nonmajor  Governmental 

 Fund  Fund  Funds  Funds 

Nonspendable:        

   Inventory $      816,481  $                   -  $                -  $       816,481 

   Prepaid expenditures 14,405  -  -  14,405 

Restricted:        

   Capital improvements -  11,570,171  -  11,570,171 

Committed:        

   Health care 2,278,041  -  -  2,278,041 

   General impact 10,328  -  -  10,328 

   Curb, gutter, and sidewalk -  -  174,867  174,867 

   Trash container sales and demolition -  -  383,193  383,193 

   National Folk Festival -  -  226,767  226,767 

   Zoo Commission 585,188  -  -  585,188 

Assigned:        

   Grants -  -  261,006  261,006 

   Encumbrances 2,467,247  -  -  2,467,247 

   Community development -  -  58,401  58,401 

Unassigned 14,826,860  -  -  14,826,860 

        

Total Fund Balances $ 20,998,550  $  11,570,171  $ 1,104,234  $  33,672,952 
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NOTE 14 TAX ABATEMENT 

 

Enterprise Zone Credit 

 

The City offers Enterprise Zone credit for companies that are planning to relocate and already 

located within the Salisbury Enterprise Zone.  A business is eligible if it makes a capital 

investment in its property (i.e., constructs or renovates a building, or expands an existing 

facility), or hires two or more new employees in the zone.  The two basic benefits involve credits 

on property taxes and state income taxes.  Commercial as well as industrial concerns are 

eligible. 

 

This 10-year property tax credit is available to companies that locate, expand, or substantially 

improve business properties in the Enterprise Zone.  The property tax credit is equal to 80% of 

the difference between the base year value of the property (the assessment in the year prior 

to new construction, expansion, or substantial improvement) and the assessed value of the 

property after the investment is made.  The property tax credit is 80% for five years.  During the 

last five years, the property tax credit declines 10% annually; the credit is 70%, 60%, 50%, 

40%, and 30%, respectively. 

 

There are two types of income tax credits that could be applied to state income taxes.  If the 

employee is economically disadvantaged (as determined by the Maryland Jobs Service), the 

business may be entitled to a credit up to $3,000 of the employee’s wages in the first year of 

employment.  The credit is $2,000 in the second year and $1,000 in the third.  If the employee 

is not economically disadvantaged, the business may take a $1,000 credit in the first year.  

 

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City abated property taxes totaling $107,271 

under this program. 

 

 

NOTE 15 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

The City has evaluated all subsequent events through (to be determined), the date the financial 

statements were available to be issued. DRAFT
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

RESOURCES (INFLOWS):
30,510,493$ 31,012,380$ 33,285,011$ 2,272,631$   
3,655,126     3,818,563     4,438,858     620,295        
4,706,292     5,077,817     5,624,607     546,790        
4,057,598     7,746,959     8,735,582     988,623        

AMOUNTS AVAILABLE FOR APPROPRIATIONS 42,929,509   47,655,719   52,084,058   4,428,339     

CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS (OUTFLOWS):

City council 89,868          84,439          84,439          -                    
City clerk 178,063        183,492        183,487        5                   
Mayor's office 773,322        773,323        757,560        15,763          
Development services 781,077        781,181        679,977        101,204        
City attorney 345,000        345,000        280,368        64,632          
Finance 851,712        860,529        758,175        102,354        
Purchasing 321,403        338,749        334,536        4,213            
Human resources 606,174        609,474        519,033        90,441          
Information services 677,809        684,141        650,176        33,965          
Planning and zoning 99,534          92,534          91,110          1,424            
Municipal buildings 224,930        471,858        262,635        209,223        
Poplar Hill 56,216          52,216          46,485          5,731            

Police and traffic control 17,737,530   18,135,247   16,771,865   1,363,382     
Fire 10,650,261   11,210,764   10,566,839   643,925        
Buildings, permits, and inspections 387,791        394,791        378,679        16,112          
Neighborhood services and code compliance 1,338,080     1,338,201     1,287,539     50,662          

Supervision and engineering 435,627        550,571        478,596        71,975          
Roadways 978,396        989,147        829,238        159,909        
Engineering 1,515,905     1,566,180     1,383,531     182,649        
Waste collection and disposal 1,391,909     2,552,304     1,492,205     1,060,099     
Recycling 156,959        159,649        152,241        7,408            
Fleet maintenance 453,725        529,941        466,873        63,068          
Carpenter shop 157,302        158,303        144,562        13,741          

Municipal zoo 1,912,053     1,919,201     1,767,644     151,557        
Park maintenance 940,584        937,171        536,003        401,168        
Parks and recreation 102,652        102,652        67,445          35,207          

1,205,700     1,448,360     1,031,066     417,294        
5,130,092     5,130,085     5,094,201     35,884          

TOTAL CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS 49,499,674   52,399,503   47,096,508   5,302,995     

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES OVER 
(UNDER EXPENDITURES) (6,570,165)    (4,743,784)    4,987,550     9,731,334     

     
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

-                    -                    -                    -                    
(730,697)       (1,355,753)    (1,014,628)    341,125        

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 41,698          41,698          64,557          22,859          
Proceeds from bond and lease issuance 534,000        768,532        406,674        (361,858)       
Payment to refunding agent -                    -                    -                    -                    
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) (154,999)       (545,523)       (543,397)       2,126            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (6,725,164)    (5,289,307)    4,444,153     9,733,460     

16,554,397   16,554,397   16,554,397   -                    

9,829,233$   11,265,090$ 20,998,550$ 9,733,460$   

General government:

Public safety:

Public works:

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR

Operating transfers out

Debt payments

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR

Recreation and culture:

Nondepartmental

Operating transfers in

Other revenue
Charges for services
Intergovernmental revenues

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Tax revenue

Budgeted Amounts

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
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JUNE 30, 2022 JUNE 30, 2021 JUNE 30, 2020 JUNE 30, 2019 JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2017 JUNE 30, 2016 JUNE 30, 2015 JUNE 30, 2014

City's proportion of the net pension liability 0.05134% 0.05300% 0.04880% 0.04748% 0.04370% 0.04077% 0.04381% 0.04388% 0.03618%

City's proportion of the net pension liability - 
dollar value 10,274,060$    7,950,652$      11,022,365$    9,792,715$      9,169,651$      8,817,962$      10,337,660$    9,118,977$      6,421,441$      

City's covered employee payroll 11,003,260$    10,830,485$    10,274,521$    9,928,830$      9,612,053$      9,038,825$      9,025,976$      8,921,251$      8,210,528$      

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as a percentage of its covered
employee payroll 93.37% 73.41% 107.28% 98.63% 95.40% 97.56% 114.53% 102.22% 78.21%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability 76.27% 81.84% 70.72% 72.34% 71.18% 69.38% 65.79% 68.78% 71.87%

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, this schedule has been prepared prospectively as the above information for the preceding years is not readily available. This schedule will accumulate each year until sufficient information to
present a ten-year trend is available.

CITY OF SALISBURY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY - EMPLOYEE PLAN

MEASUREMENT DATE
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JUNE 30, 2023 JUNE 30, 2022 JUNE 30, 2021 JUNE 30, 2020 JUNE 30, 2019 JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2017 JUNE 30, 2016 JUNE 30, 2015

Contractually required contribution 1,171,926$      1,167,784$      1,045,629$      974,969$         871,477$         838,434$         761,119$         800,742$         820,957$         

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution 1,171,926        1,167,784        1,045,629        974,969           871,477           838,434           761,119           800,742           820,957           

Contribution excess -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

City's covered employee payroll 11,466,788$    11,003,260$    10,830,485$    10,274,521$    9,928,830$      9,612,053$      9,038,825$      9,025,976$      8,921,251$      

Contributions as a percentage of
covered employee payroll 10.22% 10.61% 9.65% 9.49% 8.78% 8.72% 8.42% 8.87% 9.20%

CITY OF SALISBURY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CITY PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS - EMPLOYEE PLAN

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, this schedule has been prepared prospectively as the above information for the preceding years is not readily available. This schedule will accumulate each year until sufficient information to
present a ten-year trend is available.
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JUNE 30, 2022 JUNE 30, 2021 JUNE 30, 2020 JUNE 30, 2019 JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2017 JUNE 30, 2016 JUNE 30, 2015 JUNE 30, 2014

City's proportion of the net pension liability 0.13890% 0.14180% 0.12900% 0.11901% 0.11618% 0.10909% 0.11458% 0.09806% 0.09566%

City's proportion of the net pension liability - 
dollar value 27,787,223$    21,273,255$    29,248,772$    24,545,814$    24,376,517$    23,590,848$    27,035,352$    20,378,891$    16,976,786$    

City's covered employee payroll 9,965,459$      9,580,352$      8,625,104$      8,527,889$      8,537,671$      8,527,899$      8,446,986$      8,115,718$      7,710,443$      

City's proportionate share of the net pension
liability as a percentage of its covered
employee payroll 278.84% 222.05% 339.11% 287.83% 285.52% 276.63% 320.06% 251.10% 220.18%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total pension liability 76.27% 81.84% 70.72% 72.34% 71.18% 69.38% 65.79% 68.78% 71.87%

CITY OF SALISBURY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY - LEOPS

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, this schedule has been prepared prospectively as the above information for the preceding years is not readily available. This schedule will accumulate each year until sufficient information to
present a ten-year trend is available.

MEASUREMENT DATE
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JUNE 30, 2023 JUNE 30, 2022 JUNE 30, 2021 JUNE 30, 2020 JUNE 30, 2019 JUNE 30, 2018 JUNE 30, 2017 JUNE 30, 2016 JUNE 30, 2015

Contractually required contribution 3,169,591$      3,129,289$      2,774,665$      2,443,797$      2,316,726$      2,622,090$      2,486,688$      2,418,121$      2,123,236$      

Contributions in relation to the contractually
required contribution 3,169,591        3,129,289        2,774,665        2,443,797        2,316,726        2,622,090        2,486,688        2,418,121        2,123,236        

Contribution excess -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

City's covered employee payroll 10,772,537$    9,965,459$      9,580,352$      8,625,104$      8,527,889$      8,537,671$      8,527,899$      8,446,986$      8,115,718$      

Contributions as a percentage of
covered employee payroll 29.42% 31.40% 28.96% 28.33% 27.17% 30.71% 29.16% 28.63% 26.16%

CITY OF SALISBURY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF CITY PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS - LEOPS

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 68, this schedule has been prepared prospectively as the above information for the preceding years is not readily available. This schedule will accumulate each year until sufficient information to
present a ten-year trend is available.
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June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY
Service cost 853,173$         1,634,584$      1,399,469$      855,590$         721,012$         700,469$         
Interest on total OPEB liability 683,320           575,597           648,775           742,609           750,575           713,494           
Effect of change in assumptions (357,861)          (7,661,139)       (336,372)          404,933           1,998,381        (149,048)          
Differences between expected and actual experience (348,792)          (5,554,286)       2,239,684        1,278,128        (100,801)          188,093           
Benefit payments (434,073)          (461,089)          (439,785)          (386,249)          (359,991)          (648,885)          

NET CHANGE IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY 395,767           (11,466,333)     3,511,771        2,895,011        3,009,176        804,123           

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY, BEGINNING OF YEAR 18,914,137      30,380,470      26,868,699      23,973,688      20,964,512      20,160,389      

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY, END OF YEAR 19,309,904$    18,914,137$    30,380,470$    26,868,699$    23,973,688$    20,964,512$    

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
Contributions - employer 434,073$         461,089$         439,785$         386,249$         359,991$         648,885$         
Net investment income 172,532           (233,956)          545,938           (25,811)            84,829             152,787           
Benefit payments (434,073)          (461,089)          (439,785)          (386,249)          (359,991)          (648,885)          
Administrative expenses -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       (53,272)            

NET CHANGE IN PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 172,532           (233,956)          545,938           (25,811)            84,829             99,515             

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,075,312        2,309,268        1,763,330        1,789,141        1,704,312        1,604,797        

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 2,247,844$      2,075,312$      2,309,268$      1,763,330$      1,789,141$      1,704,312$      

CITY'S NET OPEB LIABILITY 17,062,060$    16,838,825$    28,071,202$    25,105,369$    22,184,547$    19,260,200$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total OPEB liability 11.64% 10.97% 7.60% 6.56% 7.46% 8.13%

Expected average remaining service years of all participants 8                      8                      8                      8                      9                      9                      

Notes to Schedule: 

Benefit Changes None. 

Changes of Assumptions Discount rate used was 3.62% for 2018, 3.13% for 2019, 2.45% for 2020, 1.92% for 2021, 3.69% for 2022, and 3.86% for 2023.
The medical trend was updated to the latest model released by the SOA and excludes the impact of the Cadillac Tax.
The mortality assumption was updated to the latest experience study on public sector employees and retirees released by the SOA.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 75, this schedule has been prepared prospectively as the above information for the preceding years is not readily available. This schedule will accumulate each year until sufficient information to
present a ten-year trend is available.

CITY OF SALISBURY
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

SCHEDULE OF THE CITY'S NET OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

 MEASUREMENT DATE
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Variance
Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)
Taxes:

Real property 21,273,025$  21,646,676$  373,651$       
Personal property 47,000           42,582           (4,418)            
Ordinary business corporations and utilities 6,700,000      7,636,995      936,995         
Payments in lieu of tax 512,355         530,579         18,224           
Admissions and amusement 120,000         229,973         109,973         
Local income tax 2,200,000      2,951,263      751,263         

Total Taxes 30,852,380    33,038,068    2,185,688      

Interest and penalties on delinquent taxes 160,000         246,943         86,943           
Total Taxes, Interest, and Penalties 31,012,380    33,285,011    2,272,631      

Other revenue:
Amusement licenses 3,000             3,035             35                  
Billboard licenses 69,000           69,018           18                  
Building and inspection permits 430,000         298,767         (131,233)        
Business licenses 148,300         166,207         17,907           
Franchise fees 385,000         354,346         (30,654)          
Landlord licenses 846,750         913,407         66,657           
Plumbing licenses and permits 45,000           7,555             (37,445)          
Towing companies 5,000             4,000             (1,000)            
Other miscellaneous permits 35,762           80,281           44,519           
Fire permits 230,599         421,682         191,083         
Municipal infraction violations 95,500           104,567         9,067             
Interest on investment of idle funds 12,500           302,229         289,729         
Insurance proceeds 15,369           35,418           20,049           
Donations 55,600           55,800           200                
Zoo reimbursements 264,700         162,716         (101,984)        
Zoo Commission 296,665         380,371         83,706           
Bad debt collections 1,000             1,005             5                    
School zone camera fines 600,000         470,814         (129,186)        
Healthcare rebate -                     104,850         104,850         
Other miscellaneous receipts 278,818         502,790         223,972         

Total Other Revenue 3,818,563      4,438,858      620,295         

Continued on next page.

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF REVENUE - BUDGETED AND ACTUAL

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND
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Variance
Final Positive

Budget Actual (Negative)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF REVENUE - BUDGETED AND ACTUAL

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND

Administrative fees 674,817         674,817         -                     
Ambulance call fees 2,000,000      2,444,654      444,654         
Advertising 100                -                     (100)               
Filing fees 100                125                25                  
Garbage disposal fees 2,231,000      2,334,406      103,406         
Inspection fees 25,100           50,957           25,857           
Plan review fees 40,000           22,755           (17,245)          
Police alarm systems 27,200           27,246           46                  
Weed removal 69,500           52,091           (17,409)          
Fire permits and plan review 10,000           15,368           5,368             
Zoning appeal fees -                     2,188             2,188             

Total Charges for Services 5,077,817      5,624,607      546,790         

Intergovernmental:
State of Maryland:

Police protection 706,261         1,103,483      397,222         
Enterprise zone 84,000           107,271         23,271           
EMS medicaid gap reimbursement -                     917,196         917,196         
Highway user 1,425,798      1,475,881      50,083           
MDOT reimbursements 41,570           -                     (41,570)          

Wicomico County:
Financial corporations 18,300           18,302           2                    
Fire department 766,292         766,292         -                     
Room tax 230,000         284,079         54,079           
Safe stations 10,000           10,000           -                     
American recovery program 4,464,738      4,053,078      (411,660)        

Total Intergovernmental 7,746,959      8,735,582      988,623         

Total Revenues 47,655,719    52,084,058    4,428,339      

Other Financing Sources:
Transfers in -                     -                     -                     
Proceeds from bond issuance 768,532         406,674         (361,858)        
Proceeds from sale of capital assets 41,698           64,557           22,859           

Total Other Financing Sources 810,230         471,231         (338,999)        

TOTAL REVENUES AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 48,465,949$  52,555,289$  4,089,340$    

Charges for services:
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

General Government
City council:

Salaries 63,000$        62,000$        62,000$        -$                  
Personnel benefits 10,609          10,365          10,365          -                    
Other operating expenses 15,509          12,074          12,074          -                    
Community promotion 750               -                    -                    -                    

89,868          84,439          84,439          -                    
City clerk:

Salaries 117,393        119,394        119,390        4                   
Personnel benefits 48,324          47,887          47,886          1                   
Other operating expenses 12,346          16,211          16,211          -                    

178,063        183,492        183,487        5                   
Mayor's office:

Salaries 527,337        464,427        463,674        753               
Personnel benefits 169,978        153,002        141,126        11,876          
Professional services 500               42,471          41,271          1,200            
Other operating expenses 75,507          102,135        100,201        1,934            
Community promotion -                    11,288          11,288          -                    

773,322        773,323        757,560        15,763          
Developmental services:

Salaries 180,541        191,041        190,953        88                 
Personnel benefits 63,973          64,935          64,915          20                 
Professional services 148,500        99,000          99,000          -                    
Other operating expenses 184,400        202,162        141,399        60,763          
Community promotion 200,500        200,500        179,348        21,152          
Capital outlay 3,163            23,543          4,362            19,181          

781,077        781,181        679,977        101,204        
City attorney:

Professional services 345,000         345,000        280,368        64,632          
345,000        345,000        280,368        64,632          

Internal services - finance:
Salaries 458,592        442,527        429,912        12,615          
Personnel benefits 193,850        193,850        176,570        17,280          
Professional services 97,000          96,492          65,811          30,681          
Other operating expenses 96,270          117,797        85,875          31,922          
Capital outlay -                    6,363            -                    6,363            
Not defined 6,000            3,500            7                   3,493            

851,712        860,529        758,175        102,354        
Internal services - procurement:

Salaries 214,346        221,946        220,514        1,432            
Personnel benefits 60,122          68,522          68,249          273               
Professional services 17,000          17,110          16,994          116               
Other operating expenses 29,935          31,171          28,779          2,392            
Capital outlay -                    -                    -                    -                    

321,403        338,749        334,536        4,213            
Information technology:

Salaries 398,166        398,166        396,294        1,872            
Personnel benefits 150,181        165,061        146,513        18,548          
Professional services 12,000          5,000            5,000            -                    
Other operating expenses 102,462        100,222        92,178          8,044            
Capital outlay 15,000          15,692          10,191          5,501            

677,809        684,141        650,176        33,965          

Continued on next page.

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES COMPARED WITH APPROPRIATIONS

Budgeted Amounts
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES COMPARED WITH APPROPRIATIONS

Budgeted Amounts

Internal services - human resources:
Salaries 314,955        314,955        291,186        23,769          
Personnel benefits 234,623        199,764        176,609        23,155          
Professional services 29,000          31,700          8,027            23,673          
Other operating expenses 27,596          63,055          43,211          19,844          

606,174        609,474        519,033        90,441          
Planning and zoning:

Salaries 75,299          75,999          75,902          97                 
Personnel benefits 14,235          14,235          13,979          256               
Professional services 7,000            -                    -                    -                    
Other operating expenses 3,000            2,300            1,229            1,071            

99,534          92,534          91,110          1,424            
Municipal buildings:

Other operating expenses 224,930        471,858        262,635        209,223        
224,930        471,858        262,635        209,223        

Poplar Hill mansion:
Salaries 26,500          28,284          28,284          -                    
Personnel benefits 5,440            3,656            3,220            436               
Other operating expenses 24,276          20,276          14,981          5,295            

56,216          52,216          46,485          5,731            

Total General Government 5,005,108     5,276,936     4,647,981     628,955        

Public Safety
Police services:

Salaries 8,006,022     7,587,074     7,586,357     717               
Personnel benefits 5,083,252     4,622,587     4,221,340     401,247        
Professional services 75,019          133,944        79,377          54,567          
Other operating expenses 1,264,398     1,844,241     1,661,078     183,163        
Community promotions 2,000            4,000            3,997            3                   
Capital outlays 300,000        987,262        585,050        402,212        

14,730,691    15,179,108    14,137,199    1,041,909     
Police communications:

Salaries 649,643        579,356        561,156        18,200          
Personnel benefits 241,722        220,672        197,881        22,791          
Professional services 4,000            4,000            885               3,115            
Other operating expenses 147,767        162,487        144,849        17,638          

1,043,132     966,515        904,771        61,744          
Animal control:

Salaries 83,273          83,176          80,145          3,031            
Personnel benefits 32,036          41,557          40,755          802               
Other operating expenses 5,100            5,100            1,171            3,929            
Professional services 127,643        135,143        129,840        5,303            

248,052        264,976        251,911        13,065          
Total Police Department 16,021,875    16,410,599    15,293,881    1,116,718     

Traffic control:
Salaries 308,843        193,079        163,216        29,863          
Personnel benefits 127,106        89,346          76,716          12,630          
Professional services 650               450               435               15                 
Other operating expenses 1,279,056     1,229,962     1,116,575     113,387        
Capital outlays -                    2,799            1,955            844               

1,715,655     1,515,636     1,358,897     156,739        

Continued on next page.
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES COMPARED WITH APPROPRIATIONS

Budgeted Amounts

Traffic DID:
Salaries -                    58,200          31,736          26,464          
Personnel benefits -                    38,937          15,405          23,532          
Professional services -                    6,200            4,900            1,300            
Other operating expenses -                    105,675        67,046          38,629          

-                    209,012        119,087        89,925          
Fire department:

Firefighting:
Salaries 5,298,880     5,614,428     5,533,312     81,116          
Personnel benefits 3,702,450     3,701,854     3,338,304     363,550        
Professional services 153,940        176,367        165,900        10,467          
Other operating expenses 926,151        1,195,840     1,029,945     165,895        
Capital outlays 123,532        124,001        122,418        1,583            

10,204,953    10,812,490    10,189,879    622,611        
Volunteer firemen:

Salaries 45,387          41,377          36,275          5,102            
Personnel benefits 303,567        273,057        258,965        14,092          
Professional services 37,600          25,086          22,966          2,120            
Other operating expenses 8,272            8,272            8,272            -                    
Community promotions 50,482          50,482          50,482          -                    

445,308        398,274        376,960        21,314          
Total Fire Department 10,650,261    11,210,764    10,566,839    643,925        

Buildings, permits, and inspections:
Salaries 271,334        279,933        274,721        5,212            
Personnel benefits 88,757          88,757          83,657          5,100            
Professional services 9,050            484               434               50                 
Other operating expenses 18,650          25,617          19,867          5,750            

387,791        394,791        378,679        16,112          
Housing and community development:

Salaries 751,936        753,936        745,660        8,276            
Personnel benefits 307,886        307,886        298,955        8,931            
Professional services 500               500               350               150               
Other operating expenses 201,158        205,158        175,686        29,472          
Community promotions 76,000          70,000          66,767          3,233            
Capital outlays 600               721               121               600               

1,338,080     1,338,201     1,287,539     50,662          

Total Public Safety 30,113,662    31,079,003    29,004,922    2,074,081     

Department of Public Works
Resource management:

Salaries 238,795        332,860        278,488        54,372          
Personnel benefits 115,354        118,622        106,693        11,929          
Professional services 500               500               500               -                    
Other operating expenses 80,978          98,589          92,915          5,674            
Capital outlays -                    -                    -                    -                    

435,627        550,571        478,596        71,975          

Continued on next page.
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Final Budget
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Original Final Actual (Negative)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES COMPARED WITH APPROPRIATIONS

Budgeted Amounts

Engineering:
Salaries 499,155        440,082        410,173        29,909          
Personnel benefits 186,172        185,975        165,272        20,703          
Professional services 12,728          33,301          30,873          2,428            
Other operating expenses 817,850        899,938        770,329        129,609        
Capital outlays -                    6,884            6,884            -                    

1,515,905     1,566,180     1,383,531     182,649        
Roadways:

Salaries 433,688        409,088        396,354        12,734          
Personnel benefits 226,924        223,774        188,997        34,777          
Professional services 1,000            2,314            2,225            89                 
Other operating expenses 196,784        247,515        191,007        56,508          
Capital outlays 120,000        106,456        50,655          55,801          

978,396        989,147        829,238        159,909        
Sanitation:

Waste collection and disposal:
Salaries 413,330        411,576        411,441        135               
Personnel benefits 201,184        188,734        176,503        12,231          
Professional services 1,000            2,000            2,000            -                    
Other operating expenses 776,395        933,909        902,261        31,648          
Capital outlays -                    1,016,085     -                    1,016,085     

1,391,909     2,552,304     1,492,205     1,060,099     
Recycling:

Salaries 85,965          87,875          87,451          424               
Personnel benefits 44,230          45,010          41,263          3,747            
Professional services 250               250               249               1                   
Other operating expenses 26,514          26,514          23,278          3,236            

Capital outlays -                    -                    -                    -                    
156,959        159,649        152,241        7,408            

Total Sanitation 1,548,868     2,711,953     1,644,446     1,067,507     

Fleet maintenance:
Salaries 200,418        218,934        218,694        240               
Personnel benefits 109,228        104,927        82,356          22,571          
Professional services 600               600               445               155               
Other operating expenses 133,479        131,055        122,189        8,866            
Capital outlays 10,000          74,425          43,189          31,236          

453,725        529,941        466,873        63,068          
Carpenter shop:

Salaries 96,517          96,360          89,114          7,246            
Personnel benefits 35,738          35,896          32,364          3,532            
Professional services 200               200               115               85                 
Other operating expenses 24,847          25,847          22,969          2,878            

157,302        158,303        144,562        13,741          

Total Department of Public Works 5,089,823     6,506,095     4,947,246     1,558,849     

Continued on next page.
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CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES COMPARED WITH APPROPRIATIONS

Budgeted Amounts

Municipal zoo:
Salaries 992,486        1,001,086     932,146        68,940          
Personnel benefits 371,680        346,292        346,067        225               
Professional services 80,775          84,448          69,111          15,337          
Other operating expenses 458,512        487,375        420,320        67,055          
Community promotions 8,600            -                    -                    -                    

1,912,053     1,919,201     1,767,644     151,557        
Park maintenance:

Salaries 339,247        292,486        232,821        59,665          
Personnel benefits 159,433        154,483        109,242        45,241          
Professional services 560               1,574            1,539            35                 
Other operating expenses 196,344        208,811        160,061        48,750          
Capital outlays 245,000        279,817        32,340          247,477        

940,584        937,171        536,003        401,168        
Parks and recreation:

Salaries 68,899          67,899          50,189          17,710          
Personnel benefits 33,753          33,653          16,802          16,851          
Other operating expenses 1,100            454               646               

102,652        102,652        67,445          35,207          

Total Recreation and Culture 2,955,289     2,959,024     2,371,092     587,932        

Nondepartmental
Insurance:

Personnel benefits 603,200        591,520        437,972        153,548        
Other operating expenses 350,000        361,680        361,659        21                 

953,200        953,200        799,631        153,569        
Miscellaneous:

Personnel benefits 252,500        495,160        231,435        263,725        
252,500        495,160        231,435        263,725        

Total Nondepartmental 1,205,700     1,448,360     1,031,066     417,294        

Debt Payments
Principal redemption 3,239,534     4,134,905     4,134,439     466               
Interest 1,890,558     995,180        959,762        35,418          
Issuance -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total Debt Payments 5,130,092     5,130,085     5,094,201     35,884          

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 49,499,674    52,399,503    47,096,508    5,302,995     

Other Financing Uses
Transfer to other funds 730,697        1,355,753     1,014,628     341,125        
Payment to refunding agent -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total Other Financing Uses 730,697        1,355,753     1,014,628     341,125        

TOTAL EXPENDITURES AND OTHER 
FINANCING USES 50,230,371$  53,755,256$  48,111,136$  5,644,120$    

Recreation and Culture 
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Curb,
Gutter, and Community National
Sidewalk Grant Reimbursement Development Folk

Fund Fund Fund Fund Festival Total
ASSETS

118,207$       577,294$       300,032$       58,401$         218,723$       1,272,657$    
33,143           5,671             3,148             -                     -                     41,962           
23,517           123,509         87,414           -                     10,044           244,484         

Due from other governmental units -                     688,453         -                     -                     -                     688,453         

TOTAL ASSETS 174,867$       1,394,927$    390,594$       58,401$         228,767$       2,247,556$    

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

-$                   155,618$       7,401$           -$                   2,000$           165,019$       
Due to other funds -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     -                     

-                     764,114         -                     -                     -                     764,114         
Deposits and advance payment of taxes -                     214,189         -                     -                     -                     214,189         

Total Liabilities -                     1,133,921      7,401             -                     2,000             1,143,322      

Fund Balances:
174,867         -                     383,193         -                     226,767         784,827         

Assigned -                     261,006         -                     58,401           -                     319,407         
Total Fund Balances 174,867         261,006         383,193         58,401           226,767         1,104,234      

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 174,867$       1,394,927$    390,594$       58,401$         228,767$       2,247,556$    

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

JUNE 30, 2023

Cash
Investment pool
Accounts receivable

Accounts payable

Committed

Unearned revenue - grants

Special Revenue Funds

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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Curb,
Gutter, and Community National
Sidewalk Grant Reimbursement Development Folk

Fund Fund Fund Fund Festival Total
REVENUES
Charges for services -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   186,482$       186,482$       

63,710           72,157           208,555         -                     177,773         522,195         
-                     2,576,270      -                     -                     -                     2,576,270      

TOTAL REVENUES 63,710           2,648,427      208,555         -                     364,255         3,284,947      

EXPENDITURES
-                     894,023         22,057           -                     141,979         1,058,059      
-                     1,369,118      -                     -                     -                     1,369,118      

Public works -                     87,395           30,264           -                     -                     117,659         
Recreation and culture -                     2                    -                     -                     793,030         793,032         

-                     577,169         -                     -                     -                     577,169         
TOTAL EXPENDITURES -                     2,927,707      52,321           -                     935,009         3,915,037      

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 63,710           (279,280)        156,234         -                     (570,754)        (630,090)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
-                     268,008         -                     -                     287,500         555,508         

Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                     -                     -                     3,037             -                     3,037             
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES -                     268,008         -                     3,037             287,500         558,545         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 63,710           (11,272)          156,234         3,037             (283,254)        (71,545)          

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF YEAR 111,157         272,278         226,959         55,364           510,021         1,175,779      

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR 174,867$       261,006$       383,193$       58,401$         226,767$       1,104,234$    

Operating transfers in (out)

Other revenue
Grant revenues

General government

Capital outlays

Public safety

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Special Revenue Funds

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
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REVENUES
Federal 1,401,237$    
State 1,086,131      
Others 161,059         
TOTAL REVENUES 2,648,427      

EXPENDITURES
General government:

Salaries 196,568         
Personnel benefits 49,618           
Operating expenses 647,837         

Public safety:
Salaries 565,875         
Personnel benefits 328,060         
Operating expenses 475,183         

Public works:
Operating expenses 87,395           

Recreation and culture
Operating expenses 2                    

Capital outlay 577,169         
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 2,927,707      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfer in 268,008         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (11,272)          

FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 272,278         

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 261,006$       

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE -
GRANT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

- 72 -

DRAFT



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nonmajor Proprietary Funds 

DRAFT



City Marina Parking Stormwater
Fund Authority Fund Utility Fund Total

ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES
Current assets:

Cash and investment pool -$                 -$                 452,900$      452,900$      
Investment pool 198               54,753          -                   54,951          
Accounts receivable 24,740          561,207        91,627          677,574        

Less:  allowance for uncollectible -                   (456,028)       -                   (456,028)       
Total Current Assets 24,938          159,932        544,527        729,397        

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted investment pool -                   973,077        -                   973,077        
Capital assets:

Land -                   462,790        -                   462,790        
Construction-in-progress -                   524,525        -                   524,525        
Buildings, equipment, and improvements 1,778,552     4,427,580     1,164,836     7,370,968     

Less:  accumulated depreciation (1,588,542)    (3,239,139)    (712,665)       (5,540,346)    
Total Noncurrent Assets 190,010        3,148,833     452,171        3,791,014     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows - pension plan -                   95,113          35,194          130,307        

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources -                   95,113          35,194          130,307        

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS
OF RESOURCES 214,948$      3,403,878$   1,031,892$   4,650,718$   

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION
LIABILITIES
Due in one year:

Accounts payable 1,238$          10,507$        14,890$        26,635$        
Accrued payroll 1,198            6,363            1,439            9,000            
Accrued interest payable -                   13,191          -                   13,191          
Deposits 926               -                   -                   926               
Due to other funds 220,564        506,319        -                   726,883        
Bonds, notes, and leases payable -                   113,042        112,326        225,368        

Total Current Liabilities 223,926        649,422        128,655        1,002,003     
Due in more than one year:

Bonds, notes, and leases payable -                   1,087,044     177,008        1,264,052     
Net pension liability -                   160,175        59,267          219,442        

Total Noncurrent Liabilities -                   1,247,219     236,275        1,483,494     
Total Liabilities 223,926        1,896,641     364,930        2,485,497     

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows - pension -                   67,707          25,051          92,758          

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
190,010        975,670        162,837        1,328,517     

-                   973,077        -                   973,077        
(198,988)       (509,217)       479,074        (229,131)       

Total Net Position (8,978)           1,439,530     641,911        2,072,463     

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND NET POSITION 214,948$      3,403,878$   1,031,892$   4,650,718$   

Net investment in capital assets

Unrestricted (Deficit)
Restricted

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

JUNE 30, 2023
COMBINING STATEMENT OF  NET POSITION

Enterprise Funds

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS
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City Marina Parking Stormwater
Fund Authority Fund Utility Fund Total

OPERATING REVENUES
77,382$        790,660$      976,844$      1,844,886$   

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 77,382          790,660        976,844        1,844,886     

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 32,461          200,407        55,204          288,072        
Personnel benefits 4,026            70,780          19,907          94,713          

4,055            90,436          142,919        237,410        
13,254          3,092            179               16,525          
41,455          205,042        96,511          343,008        

Equipment -                    5,941            8,232            14,173          
Capital outlays -                    -                    8,597            8,597            
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 95,251          575,698        331,549        1,002,498     

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
DEPRECIATION (17,869)         214,962        645,295        842,388        

21,473          106,351        108,270        236,094        

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (39,342)         108,611        537,025        606,294        

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
-                    -                    (300,000)       (300,000)       

Interest income -                    35,608          -                    35,608          
Interest expense -                    (32,546)         (8,426)           (40,972)         
Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets (1,314,999)    50,217          -                    (1,264,782)    

TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES 
(EXPENSES) (1,314,999)    53,279          (308,426)       (1,570,146)    

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (1,354,341)    161,890        228,599        (963,852)       

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,345,363     1,277,640     413,312        3,036,315     

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR (8,978)$         1,439,530$   641,911$      2,072,463$   

Enterprise Funds

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

  COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN  NET POSITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - NONMAJOR PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Transfers in (out)

Charges for services

Professional and skilled services
Supplies
Other operating expenses

Depreciation
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Water Sewer
Department Department Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 5,133,173$    12,913,687$  18,046,860$  
Penalties 33,905           88,749           122,654         
Tapping charges and connection fees -                     38,153           38,153           
Sundry income 133,907         (73,115)          60,792           
Pretreatment monitoring fee -                     53,136           53,136           
Impact fees 143,023         -                     143,023         
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 5,444,008      13,020,610    18,464,618    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 1,996,445      2,818,824      4,815,269      
Personnel benefits 754,422         1,060,433      1,814,855      
Professional and skilled services 284,458         449,058         733,516         
Other operating expenses 2,307,297      4,523,741      6,831,038      
Equipment 43,289           87,086           130,375         
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 5,385,911      8,939,142      14,325,053    

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION 58,097           4,081,468      4,139,565      

771,579         4,319,746      5,091,325      

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (713,482)        (238,278)        (951,760)        

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Grants and loan forgiveness 541,092         599,776         1,140,868      
Interest income 166,249         166,249         332,498         
Loss on sale of capital assets 3,731             -                     3,731             
Interest expense (22,635)          (282,234)        (304,869)        
TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 688,437         483,791         1,172,228      

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (25,045)$        245,513$       220,468         

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 75,958,419    

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR 76,178,887$  

Depreciation

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN  NET POSITION -
WATER AND SEWER FUND

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

REVENUES
Inspection fees 20,000$         20,000$         7,644$           (12,356)$        
Water sales 4,898,896      4,898,896      5,125,529      226,633         
Penalties 22,500           22,500           33,905           11,405           
Interest earned -                     -                     166,249         166,249         
Water income - sundry 203,500         203,500         133,907         (69,593)          
Impact fees -                     -                     143,023         143,023         
Grants -                     -                     541,092         541,092         
Gain on sale of capital assets -                     4,665             3,731             (934)               

TOTAL REVENUES 5,144,896      5,149,561      6,155,080      1,005,519      

EXPENSES
Engineering:

Salaries 502,549         470,505         453,014         17,491           
Personnel benefits 203,609         203,609         185,998         17,611           
Professional and skilled services 32,000           49,627           16,594           33,033           
Other operating expenses 133,320         167,690         151,773         15,917           
Capital outlay 14,500           26,125           4,551             21,574           

Total Engineering 885,978         917,556         811,930         105,626         

Billing and collection:
Salaries 151,622         156,785         156,785         -                     
Personnel benefits 60,191           57,125           57,125           -                     
Professional and skilled services 42,000           39,903           17,679           22,224           
Other operating expenses 190,870         189,410         131,052         58,358           
Capital outlay -                     1,460             1,460             -                     

Total Billing and Collection 444,683         444,683         364,101         80,582           

Water treatment:
Salaries 793,382         756,327         724,177         32,150           
Personnel benefits 318,402         318,402         278,966         39,436           
Other operating expenses 1,581,537      1,513,825      1,320,136      193,689         
Capital outlay -                     91,258           37,278           53,980           

Total Water Treatment 2,693,321      2,679,812      2,360,557      319,255         

Continued on next page.

Budgeted Amounts

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

WATER DEPARTMENT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS

- 76 -

DRAFT



Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Budgeted Amounts

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

WATER DEPARTMENT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Distribution and storage:
Salaries 534,976         534,976         500,400         34,576           
Personnel benefits 222,323         222,505         194,357         28,148           
Professional and skilled services 3,000             3,000             2,949             51                  
Other operating expenses 433,553         632,576         506,068         126,508         

Total Distribution and Storage 1,193,852      1,393,057      1,203,774      189,283         

Administration:
Salaries 117,850         175,892         162,069         13,823           
Personnel benefits 45,130           48,604           37,976           10,628           
Professional and skilled services 254,506         249,706         247,236         2,470             
Other operating expenses 192,343         205,575         198,268         7,307             

Total Administration 609,829         679,777         645,549         34,228           

Debt payments:
Principal redemption 343,144         341,849         -                     341,849         
Interest 76,370           77,665           22,635           55,030           

Total Debt Payments 419,514         419,514         22,635           396,879         

TOTAL EXPENSES 6,247,177      6,534,399      5,408,546      1,125,853      

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
DEPRECIATION (1,102,281)     (1,384,838)     746,534         2,131,372      

-                     -                     (771,579)        (771,579)        

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (1,102,281)$   (1,384,838)$   (25,045)$        1,359,793$    

Depreciation
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

Sewer charges 12,112,408$  12,112,408$  12,568,343$  455,935$       
Sewer charges - urban services 505,000         505,000         345,344         (159,656)        
Penalties 50,000           50,000           88,749           38,749           
Tapping charges and connection fees -                     -                     38,153           38,153           
Pretreatment monitoring fees 200,000         200,000         53,136           (146,864)        
Interest earned -                     -                     166,249         166,249         
Sewer income - sundry 2,250             2,250             (73,115)          (75,365)          
Grants -                     599,776         599,776         -                     

TOTAL REVENUES 12,869,658    13,469,434    13,786,635    317,201         

EXPENSES
Engineering:

Salaries 485,426         473,382         453,693         19,689           
Personnel benefits 183,551         183,347         169,585         13,762           
Professional and skilled services 23,500           27,291           438                26,853           
Other operating expenses 110,315         120,904         93,196           27,708           
Capital outlay 8,750             51,066           7,570             43,496           

Total Engineering 811,542         855,990         724,482         131,508         

Billing and collection:
Salaries 241,105         241,105         241,605         (500)               
Personnel benefits 92,135           92,135           88,936           3,199             
Professional and skilled services 41,000           41,000           25,894           15,106           
Other operating expenses 46,538           46,538           44,202           2,336             

Total Billing and Collection 420,778         420,778         400,637         20,141           

Wastewater treatment:
Salaries 1,623,719      1,589,385      1,402,193      187,192         
Personnel benefits 669,746         672,046         524,169         147,877         
Professional and skilled services 30,000           45,200           1,357             43,843           
Other operating expenses 3,152,905      4,248,101      3,879,154      368,947         
Equipment -                     68,544           -                     68,544           

Total Wastewater Treatment 5,476,370      6,623,276      5,806,873      816,403         

Continued on next page.

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

SEWER DEPARTMENT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

REVENUES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

SEWER DEPARTMENT
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Maintenance and repair:
Salaries 586,068         569,778         467,895         101,883         
Personnel benefits 233,246         233,429         205,503         27,926           
Professional and skilled services 3,000             3,000             2,219             781                
Other operating expenses 283,238         311,648         199,934         111,714         
Capital outlay -                     53,000           79,516           (26,516)          

Total Maintenance and Repair 1,105,552      1,170,855      955,067         215,788         

Pretreatment monitoring:
Salaries 141,316         141,316         132,836         8,480             
Personnel benefits 46,452           46,702           43,436           3,266             
Other operating expenses 33,126           32,876           29,923           2,953             

Total Pretreatment Monitoring 220,894         220,894         206,195         14,699           

Administration:
Salaries 116,614         123,507         120,602         2,905             
Personnel benefits 49,104           49,351           28,804           20,547           
Professional and skilled services 434,877         428,666         419,150         9,516             
Other operating expenses 276,368         282,573         277,332         5,241             

Total Administration 876,963         884,097         845,888         38,209           

Debt payments:
Principal redemption 3,904,223      3,899,037      -                     3,899,037      
Interest 414,599         419,785         282,234         137,551         

Total Debt Payments 4,318,822      4,318,822      282,234         4,036,588      

TOTAL EXPENSES 13,230,921    14,494,712    9,221,376      5,273,336      

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
TRANSFERS AND DEPRECIATION (361,263)        (1,025,278)     4,565,259      5,590,537      

TRANSFERS
Transfer out 380,000         1,175,000      -                     (1,175,000)     

-                     -                     (4,319,746)     (4,319,746)     

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 18,737$         149,722$       245,513$       95,791$         

Depreciation
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 54,000$        54,000$        77,382$        23,382$        
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 54,000          54,000          77,382          23,382          

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 38,927          38,723          32,461          6,262            
Personnel benefits 5,514            5,346            4,026            1,320            
Professional and skilled services 4,155            4,155            4,055            100               
Supplies 3,775            20,300          13,254          7,046            

39,205          43,051          41,455          1,596            
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 91,576          111,575        95,251          16,324          

OPERATING LOSS BEFORE DEPRECIATION (37,576)         (57,575)         (17,869)         39,706          

-                    -                    21,473          (21,473)         

NET OPERATING LOSS (37,576)         (57,575)         (39,342)         18,233          

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Gain on sale of fixed assets -                    -                    (1,314,999)    (1,314,999)    
TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUES -                    -                    (1,314,999)    (1,314,999)    

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (37,576)$       (57,575)$       (1,354,341)$  (1,296,766)$  

Depreciation

Other operating expenses

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

CITY MARINA
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -

Budgeted Amounts

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

OPERATING REVENUES
Parking permits, fines, state grants, meters,

and Park 'n Shop 661,448$     661,448$     790,660$     129,212$     
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 661,448       661,448       790,660       129,212       

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 217,235       216,756       200,407       16,349         
Personnel benefits 84,295         83,833         70,780         13,053         

110,708       107,264       90,436         16,828         
5,650           5,650           3,092           2,558           

218,397       223,537       205,042       18,495         
Equipment 44,450         44,450         5,941           38,509         
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 680,735       681,490       575,698       105,792       

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE
DEPRECIATION (19,287)       (20,042)       214,962       235,004       

-                  -                  106,351       (106,351)     

NET OPERATING LOSS (19,287)       (20,042)       108,611       128,653       

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
-                  (150,000)     -                  150,000       

Interest income -                  -                  35,608         35,608         
Gain on sale of capital assets -                  -                  50,217         50,217         
Principal payment (144,210)     (144,210)     -                  144,210       
Interest expense (63,485)       (63,485)       (32,546)       30,939         
TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUE
(EXPENSES) (207,695)     (357,695)     53,279         410,974       

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (226,982)$   (377,737)$   161,890$     539,627$     

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -
PARKING AUTHORITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Operating transfer out

Budgeted Amounts

Professional and skilled services
Supplies
Other operating expenses

Depreciation

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 984,000$     984,000$     976,844$     (7,156)$       
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 984,000       984,000       976,844       (7,156)         

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries 112,218       113,718       55,204         58,514         
Personnel benefits 49,568         47,868         19,907         27,961         

226,825       194,654       142,919       51,735         
Supplies 200              200              179              21                

149,490       144,334       96,511         47,823         
Equipment -                  8,232           8,232           -                  
Capital outlays -                  202,421       8,597           193,824       
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 538,301       711,427       331,549       379,878       

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE DEPRECIATION 445,699       272,573       645,295       372,722       

-                  -                  108,270       (108,270)     

NET OPERATING INCOME 445,699       272,573       537,025       264,452       

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
(300,000)     (300,000)     (300,000)     -                  

Proceeds from extended term financing -                  -                  -                  -                  
Interest expense (111,931)     (111,931)     (8,426)         103,505       
Gain on sale of capital assets -                  -                  -                  -                  
TOTAL NONOPERATING REVENUE
(EXPENSES) (411,931)     (411,931)     (308,426)     103,505       

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 33,768$       (139,358)$   228,599$     367,957$     

Other operating expenses

Depreciation

Operating transfer out

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL -
STORMWATER UTILITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Budgeted Amounts

Professional and skilled services

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - ENTERPRISE FUNDS
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Personal
Total Real Property Property Corporations

564,979$     213,776$     4,643$         346,560$     
172,388       3,322           2,634           166,432       
63,419         (2,229)          1,004           64,644         

111,525       11,290         5,995           94,240         
881,883       242,390       8,335           631,158       

1,794,194    468,549       22,611         1,303,034    
(764,726)      -                   (19,567)        (745,159)      

1,029,468$  468,549$     3,044$         557,875$     

Levy Year

Less allowance for uncollectibles

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

2022

General Fund

JUNE 30, 2023

2023

SCHEDULE OF DELINQUENT TAXES RECEIVABLE (UNAUDITED) 

2019 and prior
2020

NOTE:  Included in the above are unearned taxes of $487,616.

2021
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Rate Dates Bond Authorized Outstanding
Description of Bonds and Purpose of Issue (Percent) Payable Maturities Date Issued Total Issue June 30, 2023 Principal Interest Payable At

General Obligation Bonds:
Water Quality Bond of 2003 0.40 F & A1 08/01/03-08/01/24 04/17/03 3,163,361$   164,238$       163,584$     9,146$         MD Dept. Enviroment
Water Quality Bond of 2005 0.40 F & A1 02/01/09-02/01/28 09/29/05 42,009,341   10,530,722    2,137,975    149,786       MD Water Quality Fin.
Maryland Water Quality Bond (ARRA) 0 A & F1 08/01/11-02/01/30 12/04/09 2,056,400     314,997         145,021       -                   MD Water Quality Fin.

Maryland Energy Administration 0 S & M1 09/01/11-03/01/13 12/04/09 258,740        -                     -                   -                   MD Water Quality Fin.
Refinance Public Improvement Bond 3.35 A & O1 10/01/11-10/01/26 10/04/10 5,050,000     -                     -                   -                   Bank of America
Public Improvements Refunding  Bond, Series 2011B 2.75 J & DA1 12/13/11-06/01/23 12/13/11 4,828,000     -                     387,000       10,643         Suntrust Bank
Series 2012A Maryland Water Quality

Financing Adminstration Drinking Water Bond 0.90 A & F1 05/22/12-02/01/43 05/22/12 1,631,000     1,017,413      51,597         12,487         MD Water Quality Fin.
Series 2012B Maryland Water Quality

Financing Adminstration Drinking Water Bond 0 A & F1 05/22/12-02/01/43 05/22/12 1,500,000     -                     -                   -                   MD Water Quality Fin.
Public Improvement Bonds of 2013 3.01 J & J1 12/05/12-06/30/29 12/05/12 6,041,000     -                     -                   -                   Suntrust Bank
Public Improvement Bonds of 2014 2.96 J & J1 07/01/14-07/01/28 12/23/13 3,178,000     -                     -                   -                   Hebron Savings Bank
Series 2014A Maryland Water Quality 1.00 On demand 02/01/16-02/01/29 03/20/14 66,375          22,326           4,761           427              MD Water Quality Fin.

Financing Adminstration Drinking Water Bond
Series 2014B Maryland Water Quality 0 On demand 03/20/14-02/01/29 03/20/14 464,625        413,835         -                   -                   MD Water Quality Fin.

Financing Adminstration Drinking Water Bond
Series 2015A Maryland Water Quality

Financing Adminstration Drinking Water Bond 0 F & A1 08/01/15-02/01/37 06/30/15 34,545,000   34,959,303    150,000       -                   MD Water Quality Fin.
Series 2015B Maryland Water Quality

Financing Adminstration Drinking Water Bond 0 F & A1 08/01/15-02/01/37 06/30/15 1,500,000     -                     -                   -                   MD Water Quality Fin.
Public Improvement Bonds of 2016 2.18 J & D1 12/01/15-06/01/26 12/01/15 4,726,200     1,526,330      487,223       38,585         Bank of America
2017 Public Improvements Refunding Bond 2.00 - 5.00 A & O1 04/01/17-04/01/31 07/28/16 20,030,000   8,480,000      1,915,000    385,813       Bank of America
2018 Public Improvements Bond 2.51 J1 06/01/18-06/01/32 12/23/17 5,724,853     3,773,067      369,600       103,981       BB&T Bank
2019 Public Improvements Bond 2.125-5.00 M & S1 03/01/20-06/01/35 10/08/19 11,225,000   9,550,000      585,000       370,125       Sun Trust Bank
2020A Maryland Water Quality 0.40 A & F1 02/01/22-02/01/41 8/28/2020 90,000          81,320           4,349           500              
2020B Maryland Water Quality 1.67 A & F1 08/01/21-02/01/41 8/28/2020 24,000          30,000           -                   -                   
2022 Public Improvements Bond 1.50-4.00 M & S1 03/01/22-09/01/36 9/1/2021 8,965,000     8,160,000      805,000       257,800       
2022 Public Improvements Bond 2.00-3.00 M & S1 03/01/22-09/01/28 9/1/2021 2,895,000     2,515,000      380,000       68,100         

81,538,551$  7,586,110$  1,407,393$  

Requirements to June 30, 2023
Interest

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

STATEMENT OF BONDED INDEBTEDNESS (UNAUDITED)
JUNE 30, 2023
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Fiscal Revenues
Year from Use of Revenue Service

Ended Property Local State Shared Licenses Fines and Money and from Other Charges Surplus
June 30 Taxes Income Taxes Taxes and Permits Forfeitures Property Agencies and Other Total Appropriated

2023 30,103,776$  2,951,263$   3,084,666$  1,798,172$  575,381$    302,229$   6,778,321$  6,509,565$  52,103,373$  2,219,812$  
57.78% 5.66% 5.92% 3.45% 1.10% 0.58% 13.01% 12.49% 100.00%

2022 29,095,670$  2,706,142$   2,120,475$  2,151,025$  557,737$    45,424$     2,525,429$  6,537,880$  45,739,782$  2,381,606$  
63.61% 5.92% 4.64% 4.70% 1.22% 0.10% 5.52% 14.29% 100.00%

2021 27,989,043$  2,334,601$   1,902,515$  1,417,879$  707,364$    22,155$     5,538,545$  5,617,402$  45,529,504$  2,475,078$  
61.47% 5.13% 4.18% 3.11% 1.55% 0.05% 12.16% 12.34% 100.00%

2020 27,076,972$  2,260,354$   1,939,940$  1,280,959$  883,319$    187,700$   2,185,588$  5,791,617$  41,606,449$  2,290,713$  
65.08% 5.43% 4.66% 3.08% 2.12% 0.45% 5.25% 13.92% 100.00%

2019 25,672,621$  2,148,438$   2,312,137$  1,580,614$  1,115,784$ 237,781$   2,328,583$  5,029,056$  40,425,014$  1,876,770$  
63.51% 5.31% 5.72% 3.91% 2.76% 0.59% 5.76% 12.44% 100.00%

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

GENERAL FUND REVENUE BY SOURCE (UNAUDITED)
FIVE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Fiscal
Year

Ended General Other Supervision and Sanitation Miscellaneous
June 30 Government Police Fire Safety Engineering Highways and Other Recreation and Transfers Total

2023 4,647,983$   15,293,881$ 10,566,838$ 3,144,202$   1,862,128$   829,238$      2,255,883$   2,371,088$   7,139,895$   48,111,136$  
9.66% 31.79% 21.96% 6.54% 3.87% 1.72% 4.69% 4.93% 14.84% 100.00%

2022 4,508,629$   14,272,879$ 10,169,146$ 3,112,650$   1,959,694$   693,429$      2,010,016$   2,462,606$   12,173,843$ 51,362,892$  
8.78% 27.79% 19.80% 6.06% 3.82% 1.35% 3.91% 4.79% 23.71% 100.00%

2021 4,192,461$   13,532,744$ 8,462,946$   3,038,807$   1,481,233$   811,422$      2,009,949$   2,161,996$   7,091,436$   42,782,994$  
9.80% 31.63% 19.78% 7.10% 3.46% 1.90% 4.70% 5.05% 16.57% 100.00%

2020 4,131,101$   12,969,356$ 8,919,013$   3,014,795$   1,898,710$   1,059,568$   2,118,072$   2,089,274$   5,811,650$   42,011,539$  
9.83% 30.87% 21.23% 7.18% 4.52% 2.52% 5.04% 4.97% 13.84% 100.00%

2019 4,020,202$   12,251,783$ 7,879,515$   2,820,365$   2,188,921$   689,625$      1,962,362$   1,893,357$   5,337,112$   39,043,242$  
10.30% 31.38% 20.18% 7.22% 5.61% 1.77% 5.03% 4.85% 13.66% 100.00%

Department of Public Works

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

GENERAL FUND EXPENDITURES BY FUNCTION (UNAUDITED)
FIVE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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Fiscal
Year

Ended Water Other Sewer Other Surplus Capital Debt
June 30 Charges Water Charges Sewer Total Appropriated Operations Outlay Service Depreciation Total

2023 5,133,173$   1,021,907$   12,913,687$ 872,948$      19,941,715$ 2,039,432$   14,194,677$ 130,375$      304,868$      5,091,325$   19,721,245$ 

2022 4,726,861     3,221,649     11,854,251   1,026,687     20,829,448   1,841,543     12,248,761   32,687         480,386       4,931,169     17,693,003   

2021 4,357,511     355,117       10,900,457   940,802       16,553,887   1,742,899     12,066,569   1,483,018     520,520       4,780,253     18,850,360   

2020 4,438,863     580,962       11,234,415   1,086,955     17,341,195   1,985,331     12,029,808   60,784         579,638       4,634,879     17,305,109   

2019 4,571,346     803,363       11,420,297   1,134,078     17,929,084   2,062,272     11,763,182   30,690         649,763       4,587,216     17,030,851   

In addition, debt service only includes interest expense (no principal payments).

Revenue

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

WATER AND SEWER DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)
FIVE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

Expenses
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Outstanding
Fiscal Percent of Total Delinquent
Year Total General Levy Delinquent Collections as Outstanding Taxes as a

Ended Assessable Sinking Current Tax Collected in Tax Total Tax a Percent of Delinquent Percent of
June 30 Basis Tax Levy Collections Year of Levy Collections Collections Current Levy Taxes Current Levy

2023 2,624,686,019$   30,624,036$  29,116,403$  95.08% 456,793$     29,573,196$  96.57% 1,606,852$    5.25%

2022 2,488,125,619     29,179,307    27,902,785    95.63% 1,190,750    28,589,600    97.98% 1,502,522      5.15%

2021 2,409,081,247     28,189,060    26,655,135    94.56% 850,141       27,505,276    97.57% 2,200,751      7.81%

2020 2,312,626,586     27,244,457    26,054,111    95.63% 554,987       26,609,098    97.67% 2,358,336      8.66%

2019 2,228,360,951     26,402,199    24,744,210    93.72% 484,372       25,228,582    95.55% 1,972,716      7.47%

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

GENERAL AND SINKING FUND - PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS (UNAUDITED)
FIVE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
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General Ratio Total Ratio
Fiscal Obligation G. O. Expenditures G. O. Debt
Year Real Property Debt Debt to General Fund Service to

Ended Full and Personal Railroads and Notes Assessed Legal Debt Legal Total G. O. and Water Total
June 30 Partial Year Property Ordinary and Utilities Total Payable Values Limit Debt Margin Debt Service and Sewer Expenditures

2023 2,309,912,479$  1,869,780$ 225,486,380$  87,417,380$  2,624,686,019$  81,538,552$  0.0311 61,936,927$  31,467,777$  8,857,027$   67,832,381$  0.131

2022 2,178,664,239    1,972,620   226,609,070    80,879,690    2,488,125,619    89,118,663    0.0358 59,046,354    24,819,149    9,015,445     69,055,898    0.131

2021 2,113,819,337    2,561,790   214,723,980    77,976,140    2,409,081,247    92,453,779    0.0384 57,039,482    25,493,107    10,229,365   61,076,841    0.167

2020 2,009,236,346    3,247,210   229,679,260    70,463,770    2,312,626,586    99,605,678    0.0431 55,354,239    25,617,835    8,904,182     59,316,648    0.150

2019 1,930,891,071    3,058,170   226,509,050    67,902,660    2,228,360,951    94,970,713    0.0426 53,491,315    31,732,709    7,997,337     56,074,093    0.143

FIVE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
GENERAL AND SINKING FUND - ASSESSED VALUES AND DEBT RATIOS (UNAUDITED)

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND

Corporations
Assessed Values
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND 

ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 

WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

 

 

(to be determined) 

 

 

 

Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

Salisbury, Maryland 

 

 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 

of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 

Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 

governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining 

fund information of the City of Salisbury (“the City”), Salisbury, Maryland, as of and for the year ended 

June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 

City’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated (to be determined). 

 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 

control over financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 

statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness the City’s internal 

control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 

or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 

combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 

material misstatement of the City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 

corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 

deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 

merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

 

 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify 

any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  However, material 

weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free from 

material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 

regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 

material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 

provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  

The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to 

be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

 

Purpose of This Report 

 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 

compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

City’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 

accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and 

compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

 

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LLP 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON 

COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND 

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE 

REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 

 

 

(to be determined) 

 

 

 

Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

Salisbury, Maryland 

 

 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

 

Opinion on Major Federal Program 

 

We have audited the City of Salisbury’s (“the City”) compliance with the types of compliance 

requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a 

direct and material effect on the City’s major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2023.  The 

City’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 

accompanying schedule of findings and recommendations. 

 

In our opinion, the City compiled, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 

to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major federal program for the year 

ended June 30, 2023. 

 

Basis for Opinion on Major Federal Program 

 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 

in the United States of America (“GAAS”); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 

Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (“Government 

Auditing Standards”); and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, 

Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 

(“Uniform Guidance”).  Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are 

further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

 

We are required to be independent of the City and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 

accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
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Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

 

 

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 

compliance for the major federal program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 

City’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major 

federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s 

compliance. 

 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 

design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 

requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 

applicable to the City’s federal programs. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 

compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 

opinion on the City’s compliance based on our audit.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of 

assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always 

detect material noncompliance when it exists.  The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 

resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  Noncompliance with the 

compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood 

that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of 

the report on compliance about the City’s compliance with the requirements of its major federal 

program as a whole. 

 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 

Guidance, we: 

 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include 

examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the City’s compliance with the compliance 

requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 

necessary in the circumstances. 

 

• Obtain an understanding of the City’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and 

report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over 

compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
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Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

 

 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 

weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 

compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 

assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 

requirement of a federal program on a timely basis.  A material weakness in internal control over 

compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, 

such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 

requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely 

basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination 

of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 

federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 

important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 

all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 

deficiencies in internal control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 

identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 

weaknesses, as defined above.  However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 

control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 

control over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 

testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of 

the Uniform Guidance.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

 

 

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LLP 
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PROJECT
ASSISTANCE AWARD OR PASSED 

SOURCE LISTING PASS-THROUGH THROUGH TO LOAN
CODE NUMBER GRANTOR'S NUMBER EXPENDITURES SUBRECIPIENTS BALANCE

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Truitt St Rehab D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 80,274$             -$                       -$                       
General Administrative D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 692                    -                         -                         
Translation Services D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 553                    -                         -                         
Critical Need Supplement D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 12,605               -                         -                         
General Administrative D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 1,197                 -                         -                         
Rental CDBG D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 9,232                 -                         -                         
Critical Need Supplement D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 23,800               -                         -                         

Total B-20-MC-24-0015 D 14.218 B-20-MC-24-0015 128,353             -                         -                         

Homebuyer Assistance D 14.218 B-21-MC-24-0015 39,412               39,412               -                         
Habitat for Humanity D 14.218 B-21-MC-24-0015 40,593               40,593               -                         
Truitt Community Center D 14.218 B-21-MC-24-0015 43,818               -                         -                         
General Administrative D 14.218 B-21-MC-24-0015 73,404               -                         -                         

Total B-21-MC-24-0015 197,227             80,005               -                         

Total ALN 14.218 325,580             80,005               -                         

Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 325,580             80,005               -                         

U.S. Department of Justice
CV Emergency Supplemental Funding Program D 16.034 2020-VD-BX-1639 55,839               -                         -                         

Total ALN 16.034 55,839               -                         -                         

U.S. Marshals Service D 16.111 JLEO-22-0347 5,231                 -                         -                         
U.S. Marshals Service D 16.111 JLEO-23-0347 3,625                 -                         -                         

Total ALN 16.111 8,856                 -                         -                         

Adult Drug Treatment Court D 16.585 N/A 18,228               18,228               -                         
Total ALN 16.585 18,228               18,228               -                         

Bulletproof Vest Partnership Program D 16.607 N/A 2,435                 -                         -                         
Total ALN 16.607 2,435                 -                         -                         

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FEDERAL GRANTOR PROJECT TITLE
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PROJECT
ASSISTANCE AWARD OR PASSED 

SOURCE LISTING PASS-THROUGH THROUGH TO LOAN
CODE NUMBER GRANTOR'S NUMBER EXPENDITURES SUBRECIPIENTS BALANCE

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FEDERAL GRANTOR PROJECT TITLE
Passed through the Governor's Office of Crime
Control and Prevention
Edward Byrne Memorial J.A.G. I 16.738 BJAG-2019-0029 94,099               -                         -                         
NIBRS Training I 16.738 BJAG-2021-0029 10,197               -                         -                         
Exploring Predictive Policing I 16.738 2020-DJ-BX-0921 21,096               -                         -                         

Total ALN 16.738 125,392             -                         -                         

Total U.S. Department of Justice 210,750             18,228               -                         

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through the Maryland Department of Highway Safety
State and Community Highway Safety
FY22 Aggressive Driving I 20.600 LE-22-171 831                    -                         -                         
FY22 Distracted Driving I 20.600 LE-22-172 931                    -                         -                         
FY23 Aggressive Driving I 20.600 LE-23-152 430                    -                         -                         
FY23 Distracted Driver I 20.600 LE-23-153 384                    -                         -                         

Total ALN 20.600 2,576                 -                         -                         

National Priority Safety Programs
FY22 DUI I 20.616 LE-22-165 121                    -                         -                         
FY23 DUI I 20.616 LE-23-150 838                    -                         -                         

Total ALN 20.616 959                    -                         -                         

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 3,535                 -                         -                         

U.S. Department of Treasury
Passed through the 
CRF Vulnerable Population I 21.019 FY21 CRF-WICHD-4 492                    -                         -                         

492                    -                         -                         

CARES Federal Recovery Funds D 21.027 SLT-5263 4,104,479          -                         -                         
Total ALN 21.027 4,104,479          -                         -                         

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 4,104,971          -                         -                         

- 7 -
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PROJECT
ASSISTANCE AWARD OR PASSED 

SOURCE LISTING PASS-THROUGH THROUGH TO LOAN
CODE NUMBER GRANTOR'S NUMBER EXPENDITURES SUBRECIPIENTS BALANCE

CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023

FEDERAL GRANTOR PROJECT TITLE
Environmental Protection Agency
Passed through the Maryland Department of the Environment
Capitalization Grants for Clean Water State Revolving Funds
Salisbury WWTP BNR ENR I 66.458 N/A -                         -                         34,959,303        

Total ALN 66.458 -                         -                         34,959,303        

Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency -                         -                         34,959,303        

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
FY23 PATH D 93.243 N/A 20,129               -                         -                         

Total ALN 93.243 20,129               -                         -                         

Passed through the 
Critical Time Intervention I 93.958 N/A 34,808               -                         -                         
Critical Time Intervention I 93.958 N/A 3,724                 -                         -                         

38,532               -                         -                         

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) 58,661               -                         -                         

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
FY20 SAFER Grant D 97.083 EMW-2020-FH-00936 755,706             -                         -                         

Total ALN 97.083 755,706             -                         -                         

Port Security Grant Program D 97.004 EMW-2020-FG-01556 21,295               -                         -                         
Total ALN 97.004 21,295               -                         -                         

Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security 777,001             -                         -                         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 5,480,498$        98,233$             34,959,303$      

SOURCE CODES:

I  -  Indirect Funding
D  -  Direct Funding

- 8 -
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CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND 

 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
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NOTE A SINGLE AUDIT REPORTING ENTITY 

 

The City's single audit reporting entity is consistent with the reporting entity used for the 

City's financial statements. 

 

 

NOTE B   BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

 

All expenditures included in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are 

presented on the basis that expenditures are reported to the respective federal 

grantor agencies.  Accordingly, certain expenditures are recorded when paid, and 

certain other expenditures are recorded when the federal obligation is determined. 

 

 

NOTE C  INDIRECT COST RATE 

 

The City has not elected to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under 

Uniform Guidance.  For the year ended June 30, 2023, there were no indirect costs 

included in the schedule of expenditures of federal awards. 

 

 

NOTE D   LOAN BALANCES INVOLVING FEDERAL FUNDS 

 

The ACCESS Program is a medical assistance program that reimburses municipalities 

for emergency service transporter services.  Reimbursements are federal source 

revenues but are reimbursed after a yearly audit of the services; therefore, the 

expenditures are for the previous fiscal year.  The amount of ACCESS funding 

recognized for the year ended June 30, 2023 was $917,196. 

 

 

NOTE E   LOAN BALANCES INVOLVING FEDERAL FUNDS 

 

In the year ended June 30, 2018, the City obligated itself to pay the Maryland Water 

Quality Administration the amount of $36,045,000 for wastewater treatment plant 

upgrades and expansion.  Principal is payable annually beginning February 1, 2018 

continuing through February 1, 2037 and bears no interest.  This obligation is 

accounted for in the water and sewer fund.  As of June 30, 2023, the principal amount 

outstanding totaled $34,959,303. 
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
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PART A - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

 

Financial Statements 

 

Type of auditor’s report issued [unmodified, qualified, adverse, or disclaimer]: 

 

 Unmodified                                  

 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weakness(es) identified?              Yes      X     No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?             Yes      X     None reported 

• Noncompliance material to financial  

statements noted?                Yes      X     No 

 

 

Federal Awards 

 

Internal control over major program: 

• Material weakness(es) identified?               Yes      X     No 

• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?              Yes      X     None reported 

 

 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major program [unmodified, qualified, adverse, or 

disclaimer]: 

 

 Unmodified                                  

 

Any audit findings disclosed that are  

required to be reported in accordance  

with the Uniform Guidance?                Yes      X     No 

 

 

Identification of major program: 

 

Assistance Listing Number  Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

   

21.027  

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery 

Funds 

 

 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between  

Type A and Type B programs:  $  750,000 

 

 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?         X     Yes              No 
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PART B - FINDINGS RELATED TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS 

 

 

None. 

 

 

CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 

None. 

 

 

 

PART C - FINDINGS RELATED TO FEDERAL AWARDS 

 

 

STATUS OF PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS 

 

 

None. 

 

 

CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

 

None. 
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(to be determined) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Members of City Council 

City of Salisbury 

Salisbury, Maryland 

 

 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 

major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Salisbury (“the City”) for the year 

ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated (to be determined).  Professional 

standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 

 

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit 

 

As communicated in our engagement letter dated July 13, 2023, our responsibility, as described by 

professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that 

have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  Our audit of 

the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities. 

 

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 

reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.  An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over 

financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over 

financial reporting.  Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the City solely 

for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such 

internal control. 

 

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 

professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.  

However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 

communicate to you. 

 

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit 

 

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 

you. 
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Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 

 

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, and our firm have complied with all relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence. 

 

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Policies 

 

Significant Accounting Policies 

 

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies.  A summary of the 

significant accounting policies adopted by the City is included in Note 2 to the financial statements.  

There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting 

polciies or their application during 2023.  No matters have come to our attention that would require us, 

under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant unusual 

transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for 

which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are 

based on management’s current judgments.  Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and 

experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events.  Certain accounting 

estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 

of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current 

judgments. 

 

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements are accumulated depreciation, 

compensated absences, net pension liability, net OPEB liability, and fair value of investments. 

 

• Management’s estimate of the accumulated depreciation is based on the straight-line method of 

depreciation over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

 

• Management’s estimate of compensated absences is based on estimates of the amounts owed 

by the City according to City policy. 

 

• Management’s estimate of the net pension liability is based on the actuarially determined 

pension liability of the State pension plan, and the estimate of the City’s allocation of the total 

liability. 

 

• Management’s estimate of the net OPEB liability under the state plan is based on the actuarially 

determined OPEB liability of the plan. 

 

• Management’s estimate of the fair value of investments is based on quoted market prices for 

identical assets in active markets, when available, or on quoted market prices for similar assets in 

active markets. 

 

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the above estimates determined that 

they are reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole and in relation to the 

applicable opinion units. 
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Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit 

 

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of the 

audit. 

 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements 

 

As part of our audit, we assisted management with the preparation of the conversion entries to adjust the 

measurement focus from the governmental fund data to the government-wide financial statements, 

including the adjustments to record the net pension and OPEB liabilities and the related deferred inflows 

and outflows and certain closing journal entries for the general fund and food service fund.  The attached 

schedules summarize the adjustments we assisted management with.  Management has posted these 

adjustments, and they are included in the financial statements of the City. 

 

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely 

misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and communicate 

them to the appropriate level of management.  Further, professional standards require us to also 

communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant classes of 

transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole and each 

applicable opinion unit.  There were no such mistatements. 

 

In addition, professional standards require us to communicate to you all material, corrected misstatements 

that were brought to the attention of management as a result of our audit procedures.  There were no 

such mistatements. 

 

Disagreements with Management 

 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 

whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing 

matter, which could be significant to the City’s financial statements or the auditor’s report.  No such 

disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 

 

Representations Requested from Management 

 

We have requested certain written representations from management, which are included in the 

management representation letter dated (to be determined). 

 

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 

 

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 

accounting matters.  Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations 

with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 

 

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 

 

In the normal course of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety of matters, 

including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and regulatory 

conditions affecting the entity, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material 

misstatement.  None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the City’s auditor. 
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Restriction on Use 

 

This information is intended solely for the information and use of the members of the Council and 

management of the City of Salisbury, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 

than these specified parties. 

 

Very truly yours, 

 

 

 

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LLP 
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Description Debit Credit

1 Deferred outflows - pension 1,159,342.00    
Deferred inflows - pension 2,522,666.00    
General government (pension expense) 100,581            
Public safety (pension expense) 142,798            
Public works (pension expense) 115,219            
Recreation and culture (pension expense) 43,957              
Net pension liability 1,765,879         

2 Deferred outflows - pension 2,345,734.00    
Deferred inflows - pension 8,824,028.00    
Public safety (pension expense) 1,497,223.00    
Net pension liability 7,975,517.00    

3 Deferred outflows - OPEB 482,392.00       
OPEB expense 497,802.00       
Net OPEB liability 8,985,902.00    
Deferred inflows - OPEB 9,001,312.00    

To adjust the net pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows to actual at June 30, 2022
related to the LEOPS pension plan

To adjust the net OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows to actual at June 30, 2022
related to the OPEB plan

To adjust the net pension liability and related deferred inflows and outflows to actual at June 30, 2022
related to the non-uniformed pension plan

CITY OF SALISBURY

JUNE 30, 2023
SCHEDULE OF ADJUSTING JOURNAL ENTRIES - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
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Account Number Description Debit Credit

1 xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Pension expense 282,729.00       
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Deferred outflows - pensions 814,239.00       
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Deferred inflows - pensions 1,771,735.00    
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Net pension liability 1,240,225.00    

To record current year activity and adjust the net pension liability to actual at June 30, 2022

2 Deferred outflows - OPEB 120,598.00       
OPEB expense 124,451.00       
Net OPEB liability 2,246,475.00    
Deferred inflows - OPEB 2,250,328.00    

CITY OF SALISBURY
SCHEDULE OF ADJUSTING JOURNAL ENTRIES - WATER AND SEWER FUND

JUNE 30, 2023

To adjust the net OPEB liability and related deferred inflows and outflows to actual at June 30, 2022
related to the OPEB plan

DRAFT



Account Number Description Debit Credit

1 xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Pension expense 4,040.00           
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Deferred outflows - pensions 11,633.00         
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Deferred inflows - pensions 25,313.00         
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Net pension liability 17,720.00         

To record current year activity and adjust the net pension liability to actual at June 30, 2022

CITY OF SALISBURY
SCHEDULE OF ADJUSTING JOURNAL ENTRIES - WATER SEWER CAPITAL FUND

JUNE 30, 2023

DRAFT



Account Number Description Debit Credit

1 xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Pension expense 10,918.00         
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Deferred outflows - pensions 31,440.00         
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Deferred inflows - pensions 68,411.00         
xxxx-xxxx-xxxx Net pension liability 47,889.00         

To record current year activity and adjust the net pension liability to actual at June 30, 2022

CITY OF SALISBURY
SCHEDULE OF ADJUSTING JOURNAL ENTRIES - PARKING FUND

JUNE 30, 2023

DRAFT



 

 

 

 

To: Salisbury City Council 

CC: Andy Kitzrow, La’Tanya Christopher, Keith Cordrey 

From: Muir Boda, Director of Housing & Community Development 

Subject: Budget Amendment Walmart Foundation Grant for Anne St. Village 

Date: November 28, 2023 

 

Council, 

The City of Salisbury has been approved and received a grant in the amount of $1,000 for 
Anne Street Village from the Fruitland Walmart via the Walmart Foundation. Though we typically 
receive grants through the Community Foundation of the Eastern Shore into our non-endowment 
fund, this particular grant we had to apply and process this way. We are appreciative of the support 
from the Fruitland Walmart and their Associates and it was presented to us recently at their re-grand 
opening after going through an extensive remodel and expansion. 
 

These funds will be used to furnish the remaining houses with microwaves, mattresses, and 
small refrigerators. In addition to these funds, we have received another donation that went to 
CFES in the amount of $2,000. With our new staff on board, we will be able to fully occupy Anne 
Street Village. 
 

If Council has any questions or concerns, please feel to reach out. 
 

Muir 

 

 

 

 



11/28/23, 2:15 PM Mail - Muir Boda - Outlook

https://outlook.office365.com/mail/id/AAQkADA4YmQzNjI0LWYxZTctNDVmNy1hMGUyLWEzZGQzYWI1NzE0NQAQAEEX0lWSclRAm4fyQrZqfQE%3D 1/1

Walmart/Sam's Club Facility# 2931 Community Grant Status: Request ID 90680893

cgadmin@cybergrants.com <cgadmin@cybergrants.com>
Mon 10/30/2023 8:19 PM
To: Muir Boda <MBODA@SALISBURY.MD> 

________________________________
 WARNING: This message was sent from an external source. Please verify the source before clicking any
links or opening any attachments. NEVER provide account credentials or sensitive data unless the source
has been 100% verified as legitimate.
________________________________

Local Community Grant Request ID 90680893; Facility# 2931

Dear Muir Boda,

Congratulations! Facility # 2931 has recommended your Community Grant application, Request ID
90680893, to receive a $1,000.00 grant.

Please allow 4-6 weeks for delivery. If you do not receive your check in that time, please contact the
facility manager to make further inquiries.

For your reference we have provided the check information and address below:

Invoice # 93723791
Address:
            125 N Division St  Room103
            Salisbury, MD 21801

You will also receive a separate email with additional details. If you haven’t already, we encourage you to
explore Walmart.com/nonprofits to learn more about all our Spark Good local giving programs.

Thanks again for all that you do for the community.

Sincerely,
Walmart and Sam’s Club Local Giving Team

CG/JMAIL/290622169



 

 

Walmart Inc. (“Walmart”) requires each Grantee to accept the following terms which shall 

apply to any grant funds awarded by Walmart in response to the Grantee’s application. Your 

acceptance of these terms is a prerequisite for the consideration of your grant application. 

 

Please note that your review and agreement to the following terms does not create any 

agreement on behalf of Walmart to approve your grant application or to provide any donation to 

your organization. The following terms become binding only upon the issuance of a check by 

Walmart in response to your organization’s grant application. 

 

Unless otherwise specified, all terms shall apply to all Grantees. 

 
 

The Grantee agrees to the following: 

 

1. AUTHORITY 

 

Grantee’s signatory possesses all necessary capacity and authority to act for, sign and bind 

the Grantee to this Agreement. 

 

2. REPRESENTATIONS OF GRANTEE 

 
The Grantee represents to Walmart (the “Grantor”) that it qualifies as one of the following 

types of organizations: 

• An organization holding a current tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) or (19) 
of the Code; 

• A recognized government entity: state, county, or city agency, including law 

enforcement or fire department; 

• A K-12 public or private school, charter school, community/junior college, 

state/private college or university; or 

• A recognized church or other faith-based organization. 

 

3. PURPOSE AND ADMINISTRATION 

 

The grant shall be used exclusively for the purposes selected by Grantee in the Grantee’s 

Community Grants application (the “Fund Use”). Additionally, Grantee agrees as follows: 

 

• The Grantee will directly administer the project or program being supported by the 

grant and agrees that no grant funds shall be re-granted to any organization or entity, 
whether or not formed by the Grantee. 
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• The Grantee will use funds for exclusively charitable, scientific, and/or educational 

purposes. 

 

• The Grantee shall expend the grant funds exclusively within the United States in 

accordance with this Agreement. 

 

 
 

4. USE OF GRANT FUNDS 

 

The Grantee shall use the full amount of the grant for the purposes set forth in the Fund 

Use. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by Grantor, the Grantee shall return any portion 

of the grant and the income earned thereon that is not expended for such purposes. 

 
 

The Grantee agrees not to use any portion of the grant or any income derived from the grant 

for the following: 

 

• To carry on propaganda or otherwise attempt to influence legislation within the 
meaning of Section 4945(d)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

(the “Code”); 

 

• To influence the outcome of any specific public election; 

 
• To conduct activities outside the United States; 

 

• To provide a grant to an individual for travel, study, or similar purpose within the 

meaning of Section 4945(g) of the Code; or 

 

• To promote or engage in criminal acts of violence, terrorism, hate crimes, the 

destruction of any state, or discrimination on the basis of race, national origin, 

religion, military and veteran status, disability, sex, gender identity, age, or sexual 

orientation, or support of any entity that engages in these activities. 

 

Any interest or other income generated by the grant funds must be applied to the purposes 

described in the Fund Use. 

 

To the extent that the Grantee is a governmental entity, and in addition to all other 

requirements contained in this Agreement, the Grantee agrees that grant funds are to be 

used exclusively for public purposes within the meaning of Section 170(c)(1) of the Code. 

 
 

5. RECORD RETENTION 
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The Grantee agrees to maintain complete and accurate records of receipts and expenditures 

and make its books and records available to the Grantor at reasonable times upon its 

request. Grantee will maintain books, accounts, and records that, with a sufficient detail, 

accurately and clearly reflect its transactions and the disposition of funds. No “off the 

books” or unrecorded funds or accounts shall be created or maintained for any purpose. 

Furthermore, Grantee will maintain records of expenditures charged against the grant that 

are adequate to identify the use of the funds in compliance with the purposes and 

restrictions specified in this Agreement. Such records shall be retained for a period of at 

least five years after the completion of the use of the grant. 

 

The Grantor may, at its expense, monitor and conduct an evaluation of operations under 

the grant, which may include visits by representatives of the Grantor to observe the 

Grantee’s program, procedures and operations, and discussions of the program with the 

Grantee’s personnel. 

 

6. ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 

The Grantor reserves the right to terminate the grant for cause as a result of the Grantee’s 

breach of the terms of this Agreement or the Grantee’s failure to make adequate and 

sustained progress toward the completion of the activities and achievement of the 

objectives contained in the Funds Use. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that 

Grantor determines, in its sole discretion, that Grantee has engaged in conduct that violates 

Section 12 of this Agreement, Grantor immediately shall have the right to suspend future 

donations and to suspend or terminate this Agreement. 
 

If the Grantor determines, in its reasonable discretion, that the Grantee has breached or 

failed to carry out any provision of this Agreement, the Grantor may, in addition to any 

other legal remedies it may have, terminate the grant and demand the return of all or part 

of the grant funds not spent or obligated to third parties in accordance with the terms of 

this Agreement, including, without limitation, all grant funds expended by the Grantee for 

purposes other than for the Funds Use. The Grantee shall return all such grant funds to the 

Grantor within thirty (30) days of receiving a termination notice from the Grantor. 

 

7. PUBLICITY 

 

The Grantor may make information regarding this grant public at any time and in a manner 

which it deems appropriate. Grantee agrees to cooperate with any effort by Grantor to 

publicize the grant, including but not limited to designating a suitable representative to 

appear on behalf of Grantee at publicity events, providing relevant and pertinent 

information to include in press releases and distributions, and responding as appropriate to 

relevant and pertinent press inquiries. 

 

Grantee agrees to provide Grantor an opportunity to review and comment on the contents 

of any statement, release, or report concerning this grant in advance of its release to the 

public or any third party. 



4  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Grantee may list Grantor as a 

supporter of Grantee for up to one year following Grantor’s transfer of funds to Grantee 

pursuant to this Agreement; provided, however, (i) any such listing will include the names 

of other supporters of Grantee and (ii) Grantor’s position on such listing shall be reasonable 

in proportion to the amount given by Grantor. No license to use Grantor’s (or Grantor’s 

subsidiaries’ or affiliates’) trademarks, trade names or other intellectual property is granted 

hereunder. 

 
 

8. NO ADDITIONAL SUPPORT 

 

It is expressly understood that the Grantor has no obligation to provide additional support 

to the Grantee for this or any other project or purposes. 

 

9. GENERAL INDEMNIFICATION 

 

The Grantee shall indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the Grantor, its governing 

board, and the individual members thereof, and all officers, agents, employees, 

representatives and volunteers from and against any and all liability, loss, cost, expense, 

injury, proceeding, claim or obligation arising out of, related to, connected with, or as a 

result of any acts or omissions of the Grantee, including, without limitation, any injury or 

property damage suffered by any third party due to the negligence or willful misconduct 

by the Grantee or any Grantee employee, officer, agent, employee, representative or 

volunteer in performance of this Agreement. Such provision shall not apply to any liability, 

loss, cost, expense, injury, proceeding, claim or obligation arising out of, connected with, 

or as a result of any negligent act or willful misconduct committed by the Grantor. 

 

In no case shall the Grantor be liable to the Grantee or any third party for consequential 

damages. The Grantor shall have no liability for any debts, liabilities, deficits, cost 

overruns, or negligence or willful misconduct of the Grantee. It is expressly understood by 

the parties that no trustee, director, member, officer, employee or other representative of 

the Grantor shall incur any financial responsibility or liability of any kind or nature in 

connection with this Agreement. The parties agree that the liability of the Grantor 

hereunder shall be limited to the payment of the grant awarded by Grantor, if any, pursuant 

to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that the Grantor shall have no other duty 

or obligation to the Grantee or any other person. 

 

To the extent that the Grantee is a governmental entity described in Section 170(c)(1) of 

the Code and is prohibited by law from providing Grantor with the above indemnification, 

this Section 9 shall not be applicable. 

 

10. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS 

 

Grantee will comply in full with all applicable federal, state, and local laws and regulations 

and rules of governmental agencies and bodies relating to Grantee’s acceptance and use of 

the grant, including those that govern gifts, donations, contributions, expenditures, and 
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anything else of value that benefit, directly or indirectly, public officials. Grantee agrees to 

notify Grantor immediately: (a) of any conduct on Grantee’s part that may be in violation of 

any applicable federal, state and local laws and (b) if Grantee receives notice of, or 

otherwise becomes aware of, any actual or threatened investigation, action, litigation, or 

disciplinary or other proceeding of which Grantee is or may be a subject in connection with 

the grant and to the extent permitted by applicable law, shall provide Grantor with all 

written notices and communications received by Grantee relating to any such investigation, 

action, litigation, or disciplinary proceeding. 

 

11. ANTI-TERRORISM AND ECONOMIC SANCTIONS 

 

Grantee affirms that neither Grantee nor any of Grantee’s affiliates (i) is or will act in 

violation of any Anti-Terrorism Law (as defined below), (ii) is or will become a Prohibited 

Person (as defined below), (iii) conducts or will conduct any business or engages or will 

engage in any transaction or dealing with any Prohibited Person, including the making or 

receiving of any contribution of funds, goods or services to or for the benefit of any 

Prohibited Person, (iv) deals in or will deal in or otherwise engages or will engage in any 

transaction relating to property or interests in property blocked pursuant to Executive Order 

No. 13224 (as defined below); or (v) engages in or will engage in or conspires to engage 

in any transaction that evades or avoids, or has the purpose or intent of evading or avoiding, 

or attempts to violate, any of the prohibitions set forth in any Anti-Terrorism Law. As used 

herein: (A) “Anti-Terrorism Law” is defined as any Law relating to terrorism or money- 

laundering, including Executive Order No. 13224 and the USA Patriot Act (as defined 

below); (B) “Executive Order No. 13224” is defined as the Executive Order No. 13224 on 

Terrorist Financing, effective September 24, 2001, relating to “Blocking Property and 

Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support 

Terrorism”, as amended; (C) “Prohibited Person” is defined as any person or entity (1) 

listed in the Annex to, or is otherwise subject to the provisions of, Executive Order No. 

13224; (2) owned or controlled by, or acting for or on behalf of, any party described in 

clause (C)(1) above; (3) with whom any lender is prohibited from dealing or otherwise 

engaging in any transaction by any Anti-Terrorism Law; (4) who commits, threatens or 

conspires to commit or supports “terrorism” as defined in Executive Order No. 13224; (5) 

named as a “specially designated national and blocked person” on the most current list 

published by the U.S. Treasury Department Office of Foreign Assets Control at its official 

website, http://www.treas.gov/ofac/t11sdn.pdf or at any replacement website or other 

official publication of such list; or (6) affiliated with any party described in clauses (C)(1)- 

(5) above; and (D) “USA Patriot Act” is defined as the “Uniting and Strengthening 

America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act 

of 2001” (Public Law 107-56), as amended. 

 

12. ANTI-CORRUPTION COMPLIANCE 

 

Grantee agrees that its use of all funds received under this Agreement will be in full 

compliance with all applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations, including but not 

limited to the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) and the UK Bribery 

Act. Accordingly, Grantee agrees that in connection with its activities under this 

http://www.treas.gov/ofac/t11sdn.pdf
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Agreement, neither Grantee nor any agent, affiliate, employee, re-grantee, or other person 

acting on its behalf will offer, promise, give, or authorize the giving of anything of value, 

or offer, promise, make, or authorize the making of any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence 

payment, kickback, or other unlawful payment, to any government official, political party, 

or candidate for public office in order to gain any unfair advantage or to influence any act 

or decision of a government official. Grantee further agrees that the funds provided under 

this Agreement shall not be used for the personal benefit or enrichment of any government 

official. 

 

Grantee agrees to provide timely information to Walmart regarding any changes to the 

representations made in this Agreement. Grantee further agrees to assist and cooperate in 

any investigations related to the use of the grant funds received under this Agreement. 

 

13. APPLICABLE LAW 

 

This Agreement, and the rights and obligations of the parties, will be construed, interpreted 

and enforced in accordance with, and governed by, the laws of the State of Arkansas. 

 

14. REPRESENTATIVES AND SUCCESSORS BOUND 

 

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, their legal 

representatives, successors and assigns. 

 

15. DEPOSIT OF FUNDS 

 

Notwithstanding anything else to the contrary in this Agreement, the Grantee, by executing 

this grant Agreement, expressly agrees to deposit the grant funds check in its account in a 

timely fashion. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that if it does not cash the check within 

one hundred eighty (180) days of the effective date of this Agreement, the Grantor will 

issue a stop payment order on such check, and Grantee releases any and all interest in the 

grant funds and the check and hereby acknowledges that the Grantor is not holding the 

grant funds on Grantee’s behalf. Further, such failure to timely cash the check shall be 

deemed to be a waiver by Grantee of any rights of action against Grantor. If a stop payment 

is issued pursuant to this provision, the Grantee may submit a new request to Grantor for 

grant funds, for similar or different purposes, but the determination as to whether to issue 

a new grant check to Grantee in such circumstance is in the sole discretion of the Grantor. 

 

16. ENTIRE CONTRACT 

 

This Agreement supersedes any and all agreements, either oral or written, between the 

parties hereto with respect to the subject matter covered herein and contains all of the 

covenants and agreements between the parties with respect to the Fund Use in any 

manner whatsoever. Each party to this Agreement acknowledges that no representations, 

inducements, promises, or agreements, orally or otherwise, have been made by any party, 

or anyone acting on behalf of any party, which is not embodied herein, and that no other 

agreement, statement, or promise not contained in this Agreement shall be valid or 
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binding. Any modification of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in writing 

signed by the parties hereto. Any changes, additions or deletions to this Agreement, 

including the Fund Use, must be approved in writing by both the Grantor and the 

Grantee. This Agreement and all amendments may be signed in counterparts, each of 

which will constitute one and the same document. Any signature delivered via facsimile 

or other electronic means shall be deemed an original signature to this Agreement. The 

section headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall 

not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. 

 

17. SEVERABILITY 

 

If any term, covenant, or condition of this Agreement or the application thereof to any 

person or circumstance shall, to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of 

this Agreement, or the application of such term, covenant, or condition to persons or 

circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be 

affected thereby, and each and every remaining term, covenant, or condition of this 

Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 



ORDINANCE NO. ____ 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY AUTHORIZING THE 3 
MAYOR TO ACCEPT A GRANT FROM THE WALMART FOUNDATION 4 
AND TO APPROPRIATE THOSE FUNDS FOR ANNE STREET VILLAGE. 5 

 6 
WHEREAS, the City of Salisbury has applied for and received approval for a grant for Anne Street 7 

Village (“ASV”) from the Walmart Foundation in the amount of $1,000; and 8 
 9 
WHEREAS, the City of Salisbury has a need to appropriate the funds at ASV for items such as 10 

microwaves, small refrigerators, mattresses, blankets, and pillows for the ASV homes; and 11 
 12 
WHEREAS, the appropriations necessary to execute the appropriation of the $1,000 grant as 13 

provided hereinabove, must be made upon the recommendation of the Mayor and the approval of four-14 
fifths of the Council of the City of Salisbury. 15 
 16 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE 17 
CITY OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows:  18 
 19 
 Section 1.  Mayor Randolph J. Taylor is hereby authorized to accept $1,000 in grant funds from 20 
the Walmart Foundation and to appropriate those funds for ASV.  21 
 22 

BE IT FURTHER ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 23 
SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows: 24 

 25 
Section 2. The City of Salisbury’s FY24 Grant Fund Budget be and hereby is amended as follows: 26 
 27 

(a) Increase Walmart Grant Revenue Account No. 10530-426110-XXXXX 28 
(b) Increase Anne Street Village Expense Account No. 10530-546006-XXXXX 29 

 30 
BE IT FURTHER ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 31 

SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows: 32 
 33 
Section 3.  It is the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that each provision 34 

of this Ordinance shall be deemed independent of all other provisions herein. 35 
 36 

Section 4.  It is further the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that if any 37 
section, paragraph, subsection, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be adjudged invalid, 38 
unconstitutional or otherwise unenforceable under applicable Maryland or federal law, such adjudication 39 
shall apply only to the section, paragraph, subsection, clause or provision so adjudged and all other 40 
provisions of this Ordinance shall remain and shall be deemed valid and enforceable. 41 

 42 
Section 5.  The recitals set forth hereinabove are incorporated into this section of the Ordinance as 43 

if such recitals were specifically set forth at length in this Section 5. 44 
 45 
Section 6.   This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the date of its final passage. 46 

 47 
THIS ORDINANCE was introduced and read at a Meeting of the Mayor and Council of the City of 48 

Salisbury held on the _______ day of ______________, 2024 and thereafter, a statement of the substance 49 
of the Ordinance having been published as required by law, in the meantime, was finally passed by the 50 
Council of the City of Salisbury on the _______ day of ________________, 2024. 51 
 52 
 53 



 54 
ATTEST: 55 
 56 
 57 
_____________________________            __________________________________ 58 
Kimberly R. Nichols, City Clerk            D’Shawn M. Doughty, City Council President 59 
 60 
 61 
Approved by me, this ________day of ______________, 2024. 62 
 63 
 64 
_____________________________ 65 
Randolph J. Taylor, Mayor 66 



 

 
 
 

 

 

 

To: Salisbury City Council 

CC: Kim Nichols, Julie English,  

From: Muir Boda, Director of Housing & Community Development 

Subject: Budget Amendment Grant Funds for the Summer Youth Employment Program 

Date: December 8, 2023 

 

Council, 

The Community Foundation of the Eastern Shore has awarded the City of Salisbury $7,231 for our 
Summer Youth Employment Program. This program employs 12 high school students for eight 
weeks and this will cover the salaries for two students. The program starts June 24, 2024 through 
August 16 2024.  
 
The program exposes these students to various departments within the city and the jobs associated 
with the operation of a municipality. We are continuing our partnership with Junior Achievement 
who provides financial literacy classes to the students in the program. This program allows the 
students to gain work experience, build a resume, and earn job references for the future. We are 
excited to be able to continue providing this program. 
 
If Council has any questions or concerns, please feel to reach out. 
 
 
Muir Boda 
Director HCDD 



ORDINANCE NO. ________ 1 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY TO ACCEPT GRANT FUNDS 2 
FROM THE COMMUNITY FOUNDATION OF THE EASTERN SHORE IN THE 3 
AMOUNT OF $7,231 FOR THE SUMMER YOUTH EMPLOYMENT PROGRAM. 4 

 5 
WHEREAS, the City of Salisbury employs high school students for an eight (8) week program from June 6 

24, 2024 to August 16, 2024 (“Summer Program”); 7 
 8 
WHEREAS, the Community Foundation of the Eastern Shore (CFES) has awarded the City of Salisbury 9 

(the “City”) a Workforce Development Grant in the amount of $7,231; 10 
 11 
WHEREAS, the City’s Housing and Community Development Department will use the funds to cover 12 

the salary costs of two (2) student employees for the duration of the Summer Program; and 13 
 14 
WHEREAS, appropriations necessary to accept and execute the purpose of this grant must be made upon 15 

the recommendation of the Mayor and the approval of four-fifths of the Council of the City of Salisbury. 16 
 17 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 18 

OF SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows:  19 
 20 

 Section 1.  Mayor Randolph J. Taylor is hereby authorized to establish a grant account for CFES, on 21 
behalf of the City of Salisbury, for the City’s acceptance of the Workforce Development grant monies in the 22 
amount of $7,231. 23 
 24 

BE IT FURTHER ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 25 
SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows: 26 

 27 
Section 2. The City of Salisbury’s Grant Fund Budget be and hereby is amended as follows: 28 

1) Increase CFES Revenue Account 10500–426100–XXXXX by $7,231. 29 
2) Increase Part Time Salaries Account 10500-501006-XXXXX by $6,360 30 
3) Increase Fringe Benefits Accounts 10500-502xxx-XXXXX by $871 31 

BE IT FURTHER ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 32 
SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows: 33 

Section 3.  It is the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that each provision of this 34 
Ordinance shall be deemed independent of all other provisions herein. 35 

Section 4.  It is further the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that if any section, 36 
paragraph, subsection, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be adjudged invalid, unconstitutional or 37 
otherwise unenforceable under applicable Maryland or federal law, such adjudication shall apply only to the 38 
section, paragraph, subsection, clause or provision so adjudged and all other provisions of this Ordinance shall 39 
remain and shall be deemed valid and enforceable. 40 

Section 5.  The recitals set forth hereinabove are incorporated into this section of the Ordinance as if such 41 
recitals were specifically set forth at length in this Section 5. 42 

Section 6.   This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the date of its final passage. 43 
 44 

THIS ORDINANCE was introduced and read at a Meeting of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury 45 
held on the _______ day of ______________, 2023 and thereafter, a statement of the substance of the Ordinance 46 
having been published as required by law, in the meantime, was finally passed by the Council of the City of 47 
Salisbury on the _______ day of ________________, 2023. 48 



 49 
ATTEST: 50 
 51 
 52 
_____________________________   __________________________________ 53 
Kimberly R. Nichols, City Clerk   D’Shawn M. Doughty, City Council President 54 
 55 
 56 
 57 
Approved by me, this ________day of ______________, 2023. 58 
 59 
 60 
_____________________________ 61 
Randolph J. Taylor, Mayor 62 
 63 



 

 
 
 

 

 

Memo 

To: Andy Kitzrow, City Administrator 
From: Chris O’Barsky, Deputy Fire Chief 
Date: 12/8/2023 
Subject Budget Amendment  

 

 

The Fire Department is requesting the approval of a budget amendment in the amount of 
$4,160.00 for re-imbursement received after providing three (2) Bike Medic Teams to the 2023 
Ocean City Bike Fest on September 13th, 14th, 15th, and 16th.  
 
Thank you in advance for your time and consideration on this request.  If you should have any 
questions or need any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ORDINANCE NO. ________ 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY APPROVING A BUDGET 3 
AMENDMENT OF THE FY2024 GENERAL FUND BUDGET TO APPROPRIATE 4 
FUNDS TO THE SALISBURY FIRE DEPARTMENT’S OPERATING ACCOUNT. 5 

 6 
 WHEREAS, the Fire Department, in collaboration with the Ocean City Fire Department and OC Jams LLC, 7 
provided three (2) Bike Medic Teams for the Ocean City Bike Fest; and    8 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a reimbursement check from OC Jams LLC in the amount of $4,160.00 and 9 
placed the funds the City’s General Fund; and 10 

WHEREAS, the Fire Department has use for these funds and requests that the funds be reallocated to the Fire 11 
Department Operating Budget for FY2024. 12 

WHEREAS, the budget amendment as provided herein must be made upon the recommendation of the Mayor 13 
and the approval of four-fifths of the Council of the City of Salisbury  14 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 15 
SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows:  16 

Section 1.   The City of Salisbury’s Fiscal Year 2024 General Fund Budget be and is hereby amended as follows 17 
(a) Increase the Current Year Other Donations Account (01000-456415) by $4,160.00. 18 
(b) Increase the Salisbury Fire Department’s Over-time/Non-Clerical Account (24035-19 

501021) by $4,160.00. 20 
 21 

BE IT FURTHER ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY, 22 
MARYLAND, as follows: 23 

Section 2.  It is the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that each provision of this 24 
Ordinance shall be deemed independent of all other provisions herein. 25 

Section 3.  It is further the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that if any section, 26 
paragraph, subsection, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be adjudged invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise 27 
unenforceable under applicable Maryland or federal law, such adjudication shall apply only to the section, paragraph, 28 
subsection, clause or provision so adjudged and all other provisions of this Ordinance shall remain and shall be deemed 29 
valid and enforceable. 30 

Section 4.  The recitals set forth hereinabove are incorporated into this section of the Ordinance as if such recitals 31 
were specifically set forth at length in this Section 4. 32 

Section 5.   This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the date of its final passage. 33 
 34 
THIS ORDINANCE was introduced and read at a Meeting of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury 35 

held on the ______ day of ___________, 2023 and thereafter, a statement of the substance of the Ordinance having been 36 
published as required by law, in the meantime, was finally passed by the Council of the City of Salisbury on the _____ 37 
day of _____________, 2023. 38 
 39 
 40 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 41 
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE PAGE THAT FOLLOWS] 42 

 43 
 44 
 45 
 46 
 47 
 48 



ATTEST: 49 
 50 
 51 
_____________________________   __________________________________ 52 
Kimberly R. Nichols, City Clerk   D’Shawn M. Doughty, City Council President 53 
 54 
 55 
 56 
Approved by me, this ________day of ______________, 2023. 57 
 58 
 59 
 60 
________________________________________ 61 
Randolph J. Taylor, Mayor 62 
 63 



 

 
 
 

 

 

Memo 

To:   Andy Kitzrow, City Administrator   
From: Chris O’Barsky, Deputy Fire Chief  
Date: 12/6/2023 
Subject Budget Amendment  

 
 
  

 

 

The Department is requesting approval of a budget amendment in the amount of $24, 805.72 to 

the FY24 Fire Department Operating Budget. A few months ago, the Salisbury Fire Department 

responded to and mitigated a building fire at Spartech, located at 601 Marvel Road, Salisbury, 

MD. In the process of extinguishing the fire, several sets of firefighting turnout gear and fire 

hose were damaged beyond repair due to being saturated with an “oil” type product from one of 

the machines used for fabrication. The Department billed Spartech through the Wicomico 

County Hazmat billing process, and recently received payment to cover the costs associated with 

replacing these items. If you have any further questions or concerns, please do not hesitate to 

contact me.     

 

 

 

 

 



ORDINANCE NO. ________ 1 
 2 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY APPROVING A BUDGET 3 
AMENDMENT OF THE FY2024 GENERAL FUND BUDGET TO APPROPRIATE 4 
FUNDS TO THE SALISBURY FIRE DEPARTMENT’S OPERATING ACCOUNT. 5 

 6 
 WHEREAS, the Fire Department, while in the course of extinguishing a fire at Spartech, located at 601 Marvel 7 
Road, Salisbury, MD, sustained damage to several pieces of firefighting gear and hose due to a hazardous material at the 8 
site; and    9 
 WHEREAS, as a result of the damage, the Fire Department could no longer use the items for emergency 10 
situations; and 11 
             WHEREAS, the Fire Department sustained a significant budgetary impact for the replacement of the damaged 12 
items; and 13 

WHEREAS, the Fire Department has since received from Spartech $24,805.72 for damaged equipment and 14 
requests those funds be reallocated to the Fire Department Operating Budget for FY2024. 15 

WHEREAS, the budget amendment as provided herein must be made upon the recommendation of the Mayor 16 
and the approval of four-fifths of the Council of the City of Salisbury  17 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 18 
SALISBURY, MARYLAND, as follows:  19 

Section 1.   The City of Salisbury’s Fiscal Year 2024 General Fund Budget be and is hereby amended as follows 20 
(a) Increase the Hazmat Special Ops. Revenue Account (01000-433234) by $24,805.72. 21 
(b) Increase the Salisbury Fire Department’s Gear Account (24035-546030) by $23,805.72. 22 
(c) Increase the Salisbury Fire Department’s Equipment Account (24035-546012) by 23 

$1,000.00. 24 
 25 

BE IT FURTHER ENACTED AND ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SALISBURY, 26 
MARYLAND, as follows: 27 

Section 2.  It is the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that each provision of this 28 
Ordinance shall be deemed independent of all other provisions herein. 29 

Section 3.  It is further the intention of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury that if any section, 30 
paragraph, subsection, clause or provision of this Ordinance shall be adjudged invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise 31 
unenforceable under applicable Maryland or federal law, such adjudication shall apply only to the section, paragraph, 32 
subsection, clause or provision so adjudged and all other provisions of this Ordinance shall remain and shall be deemed 33 
valid and enforceable. 34 

Section 4.  The recitals set forth hereinabove are incorporated into this section of the Ordinance as if such recitals 35 
were specifically set forth at length in this Section 4. 36 

Section 5.   This Ordinance shall take effect from and after the date of its final passage. 37 
 38 
THIS ORDINANCE was introduced and read at a Meeting of the Mayor and Council of the City of Salisbury 39 

held on the ______ day of ___________, 2023 and thereafter, a statement of the substance of the Ordinance having been 40 
published as required by law, in the meantime, was finally passed by the Council of the City of Salisbury on the _____ 41 
day of _____________, 2023. 42 
 43 
 44 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 45 
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON THE PAGE THAT FOLLOWS] 46 

 47 



ATTEST: 48 
 49 
 50 
_____________________________   __________________________________ 51 
Kimberly R. Nichols, City Clerk   D’Shawn M. Doughty, City Council President 52 
 53 
 54 
 55 
Approved by me, this ________day of ______________, 2023. 56 
 57 
 58 
 59 
________________________________________ 60 
Randolph J. Taylor, Mayor 61 
 62 



RESOLUTION NO. 2396

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF

SALISBURY, MARYLAND AMENDING THE SALISBURY

CITY COUNCIL REGULATIONS AND RULES OF ORDER

WHEREAS, § SC2 - 6 of the Charter of the City, of Salisbury provides that the City
Council shall determine its own rules and order of business: and

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Salisbury has previously adopted
Regulations and Rules of Order by Resolution No. 737, and has amended those Regulations and
Rules of Order by Resolution Nos. 806, 876, 972, 1043. 1335, 1386: 1451, 1476, 1577, 
1600. 1672. 2072 and 2251: and

WHEREAS, the City Council has periodically, amended its Regulations and Rules of
Order. 

NOW. THEREFORE. BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Salisbury, 
Maryland, that the Salisbury City Council Regulations and Rules of Order are hereby amended by
the addition of a new section as shown on Attachment A, with deletions struck through and

additions underlined. 

THE ABOVE RESOLUTION was introduced. read and passed at the regular meeting of

the City Council of the City of Salisbury, Marvland held on this 28h day of April. 2014. and shall
become effective immediately upon adoption. 

ATTEST: 

Kimberly R. ichols

City Clerk



SALISBURY CITY COUNCIL

REGULATIONS AND RULES OF ORDER

As Amended on 2014

e s. 4 ....... ded on veer..,., 25, 201-3

1. PREAMBLE

The City Council is the legislative and policy - setting part -branch of the City' s
ergamzatiertgovernment. The Mayor is responsible for carrying out the executive and
administrative duties of the eCity. including administering the policies and enforcing the
laws set by the eCouncil. The laws enacted by the Council are called ordinances. Usually, 
the policies established by the Council are enacted by resolution. The Council is made up
of five ( 5) members, elected by the people to four (4) year staggered terms. 

It is the fixed policy of the Salisbury City Council to facilitate the expression of views
and the introduction of legislation by members of the Council; and to promote the orderly, 
open discussion of issues relevant to the government of the City. These Rules shall be
construed to promote that policy and shall be in effect upon their adoption by a simple
majority of the City Council present and voting until they are amended or new rules are
adopted. 

2. ATTENDANCE AND PARTICIPATION AT COUNCIL MEETINGS

Council members are expected to attend all meetings ( regular, special, work sessions. 

closed sessions. and budget sessions) of the City Council. If a Council member cannot

attend a meeting of the City Council because of illness, vacation, business travel or other
unavoidable circumstance. the City Clerk shall be advised of such absence and shall
notify the entire Council. Council members shall be physically present in legislative
meetings in order to participate and/ or vote. Any Council member may participate in

work and budget session meetings via any appropriate and available electronic means. 
such as telephone or video conference, provided that no more than one Council member

is exercising this option at one meeting and that no one Council member avails
themselvesefexercises this option more than four (4) times a year, based- eabeeinning
with the start date of the Council member' s term of office. 

3. COUNCIL MEETINGS

A. Regular open meetings of the Salisbury City Council will be held in Room 301 of the
City /County Government Building, 125 N. Division Street. Salisbury, Maryland, 
unless notice to the contrary is given. Regular meetings are held on the second and

fourth Mondays of each month at 6:00 p.m. except when Monday falls on a legal
holiday. In the event that a City holiday falls on Monday, the meeting will be moved
to the following Tuesday. 

B. Special open or closed meetings may be held at any time and place the City Council
determines is appropriate. 



C. All meetings of the Salisbury City Council will be tape - electronically recorded by the
City Clerk. A recording of an open session made by a member of the public, or any
transcript derived from such a recording. may not be deemed a part of the record of
any proceeding of the City Council of the City of Salisbury. 

D. Notice of open and closed meetings will be posted on the bulletin board in the lobby
of the City /County Government Building, 125 N. Division Street, Salisbury, 
Maryland and on the City' s web site. for a reasonablye time in advance of the

meeting. 

E. The City Clerk will notify the news media of regular and special open meetings, work
sessions and closed sessions. 

F. A representative of the news media or any member of the public may record or
photograph the proceedings of the City Council at an open session if: 

44The equipment is operated from a fixed position that does not block the view

of any other person. The equipment may be occasionally moved about the room, 
but only to the extent that the use of the recording device or camera does not

become disruptive of the meeting. Artificial light may be used, but only
reasonably and not for any extended period of time or °•ice° ' rein any

manner that is disruptive. 

2. If4The equipment or its operator does not create a noise or confusion that disturbs

members of the City Council or other persons attending the session. 

I t
o o of the s va: » b e_ ftheany

publie may plaee [» MicrophonesIpaced on the City Council table if they are to be
kept in a central location and demav -not interfere with or disturb the meeting. 

4.A representative of the news media or any member of the public who desires to
arrangements for the use of a recording device or camera at an open session in a
manner not consistent with the provisions of this section may request such special

arrangements in advance by contacting the City Clerk' s Office. 

G. Regular Council Mnicetings and Work Sessions are broadcast live on PAC14. An

individual Council member desiring to schedule a televised meeting: or tape- record a
meeting for later broadcast, using the facilities in the Council Chambers, must receive
a consensus of the City Council in advance. 

4. AGENDAS

A. On the agenda for each work session shall be an opportunity for Council members to
discuss the proposed agendas for upcoming regular Council meetings and work
sessions. 



B. The preliminary agenda for each regular Council meeting shall be prepared by the
City Clerk by 4: 00 p.m. on the Thursday preceding the next regularly scheduled
meeting by eleven ( 11) days. The Clerk shall distribute the preliminary agenda to the
administrative staff and the Council as soon as it is prepared. If any Council member
or a member of the administrative staff wishes to add or delete an item, they are to
submit the request in writing, including a brief description; timeline, and any other
pertinent information related to the item, to the Council President by noon on the
Wednesday preceding the next regularly scheduled Council meeting by five (5) days. 

The Clerk shall distribute supporting materials and details for items published on the
Council agenda to Council no later than the close of business on the Wednesdav

preceding the Council meeting or Work Session. 

C. The Mayor, a member of the Council, or a member of the public may request that an
item be placed upon the agenda for a Council meeting provided such request is made
in writing prior to the established deadlines with a copy to the City Clerk who will
acknowledge receipt to the requestor. Only matters of an emergency or urgent nature
may be added to the agenda after those deadlines. 

Any Council member wishing to present a Certificate of Appreciation or Certificate
of Recognition must receive a consensus of the Council in advance before it is placed

on an agenda. 

D. The Council President shall place upon the agenda of the Council meeting any item
which is legal, constitutional and proper for the Council to consider, provided, 

however, that the Council President may reasonably defer a requested agenda item
until a future meeting of the Council in order to secure full attendance by Council
members. to afford the public ample opportunity to appear and observe the Council' s
consideration of such agenda item, or to secure the input of the City' s staff. 

E. Items which are matters of a routine, non - controversial nature may be placed on the
agenda under Consent Agenda. The purpose of the consent agenda is to provide a

method for the expeditious handling of items which, in the opinion of the Council
President, City Clerk and City Administrator. will not require discussion and will be
approved unanimously by the Council. Items shall be removed from the Consent
Agenda at the request of any individual Council member. 

Except in the case of an emergency or a matter of an urgent or time sensitive nature, 

no matter will be discussed in a Council meeting which was not reasonably described
in the published agenda for such meeting in accordance with the City' s Open Meeting
rules. 

G. The Ma_vor. the Council President. the City Administrator. the City Clerk, and all

persons involved in the process of creating meeting agendas, shall endeavor to
provide all members of the Council and other relevant City personnel with as much

3- 



advance notice of agenda items as is feasible in the interest of fostering informed
discussion of such agenda items at meetings. 

5. CONDUCT OF REGULAR MEETINGS

A. The Council President or Council Vice President shall call the meeting to order at the
appointed hour. In the absence of both the Council President and Council Vice

President, a President Pro Tern shall be selected to preside over the meeting. 

B. After calling the meeting to order.. the Council President shall entertain a motion to
adopt the agenda for the meeting as presented. After such motion has been made and
seconded, any Councilmember may request the deletion of any item on the agenda, a
er -change in the order of any agenda item, or the addition of any urgent or emergency
item. Such changes may be approved by consensus, or in the absence of a consensus, 
such changes shall be approved upon affirmative vote of a majority of the Council. 
Any member of the Council may also request that an item be removed from the
consent agenda for discussion, for further information, or in order that there might be
a separate vote on that item as described in 4. E. 

C. The Council President shall control discussion of the Council on each agenda item to

assure full participation in accordance with the Rules of Order. 

D. Each agenda item shall be separately announced by the Council President for
purposes of discussion and consideration. To place an agenda item on the floor, the

Council President shall entertain a motion and a second to approve. All discussion

shall be germane to the agenda item. 

E. A Council member shall speak only after being recognized by the Council President. 
A Council member recognized for a specific purpose shall limit remarks to that

purpose. A Council member, after being recognized, shall not be interrupted except
by the Council President to enforce these rules. The Council President. as a member

of the Council, may enter into any discussion. 

In order to afford all Council members an opportunity to speak on an agenda item, a
Council member may speak in debate twice on any debatable motion and may speak
for up to five minutes each time. A Council member may not save time or
transfer /yield their time to another Council member. The period of time allotted for

Council debate may be modified by adopting a motion to extend or limit debate. 

G. After being recognized by the Council President, a member of the Council, during
discussion of any agenda item, or during a public hearing, may request and receive
information, explanations or opinions of the Mayor, City Administrator, City
Solicitor, City Clerk or any City department head. 

H. Council members are encouraged to direct comments to agenda items and to conduct

meetings in a professional manner as referenced in the adopted City Council Code of



Conduct ( Resolution No. l 5 13 — April 23, 2007). Council members shall be respectful

to the public and City staff members at all times. 

1. For all required public hearings conducted by the City Council, citizens wishing to
provide testimony will be administered an oath by the City Clerk, or in the City
Clerk' s absence, administered by the City Attorney. 

6. PUBLIC INPUT

A. Public comments should be directed to the agenda item under consideration. The

Council President shall rule on the germaneness of the citizen comments. 

B. A citizen who has been recognized by the Council President to address the Council is
requested to state his or her name, whether he or she is a resident within the corporate

limits of Salisbury, and any organization affiliation he or she is representing. 

C. In order to afford all persons an opportunity to speak regarding an agenda item, the
Council President may impose a reasonable limit upon comments made by members
of the public, and/ or may limit the number of times a member of the public may
speak regarding an agenda item. 

D. Any person making personal, impertinent or slanderous remarks, or who becomes
boisterous in any manner that disrupts the meeting while addressing the Council; may
be requested by the Council President to leave the meeting immediately. 

E. No placards, banners, or signs will be permitted in the Council Chambers or in any
other room in which the Council is meeting. Exhibits, displays and visual aids used in
connection with presentations to the Council are permitted. 

F. The Council President shall accept public comments from citizens during Council

consideration of an item, in addition to a general public comments period. 

he established for publie e enis for ek:;- ens t.. address the C—,Ru it an . item

A time limit of three minutes per

comment may be imposed and citizens are subject to the same rules of conduct as
described above. If a prepared statement is available, a copy should be given to the
City Clerk. Generally, members of the Council will not comment upon the eeflurtents
remarks made by a member of the public. If they are administrative issues, the
Council President will refer them to the Mayor' s Office for a response. Questions

posed by a citizen during the public comments portion will be logged: and tracked_ by
the City Clerk. The City Clerk will forward the questions to the City Administrator
for a response. All City Council members and the City Clerk will be provided a copy
of the response from the City Administrator. 

G. Members of the public shall be courteous to their fellow citizens and the proceedings

while the Council is in session by avoiding conversations within the Council
Chambers and the entrance hallway into the Chambers. 

5- 



H. Signed communications shall be accepted by the Council, but are not to be read in
their entirety during the meeting. Signed communications shall be submitted to the
City Clerk to be attached to the minutes as part of the record. 

7. VOTING AND THE MAKING OF MOTIONS

A. Any member of the Council, except the Council President, may make or second a
motion for the Council to take action regarding any agenda item, subject to the City
Ethics Ordinance and State Ethics Law. 

B. Anv member of the Council may vote regarding any agenda item, subject to the City
Ethics Ordinance and State Ethics Law. 

C. The Council President may not make a motion, and may second a motion only when

there are only three ( 3) members of the Council, including the President; present and
voting. 

D. In the absence of the Council President, the Council Vice President shall be subject to

the same limitations upon voting and the making of motions as the Council President. 

E. The City Clerk shall record the name of the Council member making each motion and
the name of the Councilmember who seconded the motion. 

Discussion shall be closed on any item by the Council President with the concurrence

of a majority of the Council. At the conclusion of debate, the Council President shall
call for a vote. 

G. During the course of the meeting, if it becomes necessary to temporarily delay action
on an agenda item because of more urgent business, a Council member may move to
lav the item on the table". The motion requires a second, is not debatable and

requires a majority vote for adoption. 

H. After an agenda item has been laid on the table, it can be taken from the table by a
motion to " take the item from the table'. The motion requires a second. is not

debatable and a majority vote is required. If a motion to " take from the table' is not
received by the close of the meeting, the agenda item dies at the end of the session. 

If a Council member wishes to " kill" a motion on the floor. a motion to " postpone

indefinitely' shall be used. The motion requires a second, is debatable and a majority
vote is required for adoption. 

J. If a Council member wishes to defer an agenda item to another meeting, the motion to
postpone to a certain time' is used. The motion requires a second, is debatable and a

majority vote is required for adoption. 



K. In the absence of a rule to govern a point of procedure. the City Council shall follow
the general practices of the latest published edition of Robert' s Rules of Order. 

8. WORK SESSION MEETINGS

A. The Council may conduct work session meetings on matters which are expected to
come before the Council for formal action at a regular meeting or otherwise need
study by the Council. Items to be considered will be placed on the agenda by the
Council President. The agenda shall be distributed on the Wednesday preceding the
work session meeting. Because work sessions are considered informal. items not
appearing on the printed agenda may be considered for discussion by a consensus of
the Council. 

B. At work session meetings. the Council shall receive information and presentation of

issues from the Mayor. City staff and/ or invited resource persons. Council may ask
questions and may request that certain information be provided or issues be addressed
when items are considered further at another work session meeting or a regular
meeting of Council. Council may direct that matters under consideration be brought
forward for formal action at a regular meeting; that further study be conducted if
appropriate, that matters under consideration not be pursued further (except for

matters requiring a public hearing), or that modifications be made before a matter is
considered further. 

C. Final action on items is not taken at work session meetings. The Council may decide
by consensus, or by a majority vote, on how to proceed on various items under
consideration. However. no formal vote of the Council in favor or against any agenda
item may be taken at a work session meeting. 

D. Work sessions are considered public meetings under the terms of the open meetings

law- and the public can attend. Members of the public or an interested party may have
the right to address the Council only on items under consideration in a work session. 

The Council President shall control the discussion of the Council and the public in

accordance with the Rules of Order. Comment forms shall also be made available for

any member of the public to submit written comments on any agenda item for
consideration by the Council. 

9. CLOSED SESSION MEETINGS

A. The Council may conduct Closed Session Meetings as permitted by State Law. 
Everything that is discussed during a closed session, and all materials which are
reviewed during a closed session or are prepared in anticipation thereof. shall be
considered confidential. No council member shall publicly disclose any such
information or material. Public disclosure may be made in the event a majority of the

council members vote to approve the public disclosure prior to its disclosure. 
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B. No council member shall make any disclosures or release any information which
would result in the waiver of the attomey /client privilege without first obtaining the
approval of a majority of the council in open session. 

10. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY AT CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS

A. A Salisbury Police Department officer will report to the City Council Chambers at
least one -half hour prior to the meeting and will have their radio. Prior to the meeting. 
a Salisbury Police Department officer will conduct a visual sweep of the Council
Chambers, stairways, elevators and surrounding hallways for any suspicious items
such as packages, letters, etc. 

B. The Salisbury Police Department officer must not leave the Council Chambers until

the conclusion of the meeting unless an emergency occurs. 

C. If a problem or disturbance arises, the following procedure will be followed: 

The City Council President will ask the disruptive person to leave the meeting
room. In the event of an arrest, the Council President may be summoned to court
as a witness. 

2. Should the person leave, no further action will be taken. 

3. Should the disruptive person refuse to leave, the individual will be requested to

leave by the Salisbury Police Department officer. If the person does not leave at
that time, the individual will be arrested for trespassing and/or disorderly conduct. 
If a second member of the Salisbury Police Department is present for the meeting, 
that person will transport and place the appropriate charges on the arrestee. If a

problem was not anticipated, and only a single member of the Salisbury Police
Department is present, the member will contact communications to have a patrol

officer respond to the meeting room and that officer will conduct the transport

while the Salisbury Police Department officer remains in the meeting to ensure
continued security. Once the meeting has concluded, and the Council members
are safely out of the building, the Salisbury Police Department officer will then
respond to headquarters and will charge and transport the arrested subject. If an

arrest occurs during the City Council meeting, the Salisbury Police Department
officer will notify the Salisbury Police Department Commander upon the
conclusion of the meeting. 

D. If there is no problem, the Salisbury Police Department officer will remain at the
meeting until its conclusion and will ensure that City personnel are safely out of the
building. 

E. The City Council Chambers will be posted with a sign indicating the following: 



For the safety of all persons, all bags and boxes are subject to search. Any persons
that refuse to submit to such search may be denied entry." 

If a threat is received or probable cause exists to indicate that there may be a problem
with a bag or package. the Salisbury Police Department officer will request that the
subject in possession of the bag submit to a search as described. 

If the subject refuses to allow the search, the subject will be denied entry to the
meeting room. If this causes further disturbance. the above policy regarding arrest
will be followed. 

If information is received concerning a possible bomb threat; the Salisbury Police
Department officer will use the proper procedure to notify the on duty squad
commander who will then make the required notifications as outlined in the Salisbury
Police Department Written Directives #46. 1. 5 ( BombThreats/ Explosions). 

11. USE OF COUNCIL TRAVEL AND TRAINING BUDGET

A. Council members shall comply with the City of Salisbury Employee Handbook' s
policies on travel. 

B. Prior to incurring any travel expenses, a Council member shall obtain approval of the
travel from the Council. Travel expenses incurred without the prior approval of

Council shall not reimbursed or, if mistakenly reimbursed, shall be refunded by the

Council member within thirty (30) days of written notification of the error by the City
Clerk. 

C. No member of Council shall use more than 115 of the appropriated total of the

Council' s travel and training budget without prior approval of the Council. If the
amount used by any Council member exceeds this amount. the excess shall not be

reimbursed or, if mistakenly reimbursed, shall be refunded by the Council member

within thirty (30) days of written notification of the error by the City Clerk. 

Adopted: 10/ 23/ 00 by Resolution No. 737
Amended: 11/ 26/ 01 by Resolution No. 806

Amended: 8/ 26/ 02 by Resolution No. 876

Amended: 5/ 12/ 03 by Resolution No. 972

Amended: 12/ 8/ 03 by Resolution No. 1043

Amended: 11/ 28/ 05 by Resolution No. 1335
Amended: 3/ 27/ 06 by Resolution No. 1386
Amended: 10/ 23/ 06 by Resolution No. 1451
Amended: 1/ 8/ 07 by Resolution No. 1476

Amended: 10/ 8/ 07 by Resolution No. 1577
Amended: 11/ 26/ 07 by Resolution No. 1600
Amended: 7/ 14/ 08 by Resolution No. 1672



Amended: 7/ 11/ 11 by Resolution No. 2072

Amended: 9/ 10/ 12 by Resolution No. 220' 

2/ 25/ 13 by Resolution No. 2251
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SALISBURY CITY COUNCIL 
REGULATIONS AND RULES OF ORDER 

As Amended on April 28, 2014 
 

1. PREAMBLE 
 

The City Council is the legislative and policy-setting branch of the City’s government. 
The Mayor is responsible for carrying out the executive and administrative duties of the 
City, including administering the policies and enforcing the laws set by the Council. The 
laws enacted by the Council are called ordinances. Usually, the policies established by 
the Council are enacted by resolution. The Council is made up of five (5) members, 
elected by the people to four (4) year terms. 
 
It is the policy of the Salisbury City Council to facilitate the expression of views and the 
introduction of legislation by members of the Council and to promote the orderly, open 
discussion of issues relevant to the government of the City. These Rules shall be 
construed to promote that policy and shall be in effect upon their adoption by a simple 
majority of the City Council present and voting until they are amended or new rules are 
adopted. 

 
2. ATTENDANCE AND PARTICIPATION AT COUNCIL MEETINGS 

 
Council members are expected to attend all meetings (regular, special, work sessions, 
closed sessions, and budget sessions) of the City Council. If a Council member cannot 
attend a meeting of the City Council because of illness, vacation, business travel or other 
unavoidable circumstance, the City Clerk shall be advised of such absence and shall 
notify the entire Council. Council members shall be physically present in legislative 
meetings in order to participate and/or vote. Any Council member may participate in 
work and budget session meetings via any appropriate and available electronic means, 
such as telephone or video conference, provided that no more than one Council member 
is exercising this option at one meeting and that no one Council member exercises this 
option more than four (4) times a year, beginning with the start date of the Council 
member’s term of office. 
 

3. COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 

A. Regular open meetings of the Salisbury City Council will be held in Room 301 of the 
City/County Government Building, 125 N. Division Street, Salisbury, Maryland, 
unless notice to the contrary is given. Regular meetings are held on the second and 
fourth Mondays of each month at 6:00 p.m. except when Monday falls on a legal 
holiday. In the event that a City holiday falls on Monday, the meeting will be moved 
to the following Tuesday. 

 
B. Special open or closed meetings may be held at any time and place the City Council 

determines is appropriate. 
                                                                                     



 

C. All meetings of the Salisbury City Council will be electronically recorded by the City 
Clerk. A recording of an open session made by a member of the public, or any 
transcript derived from such a recording, may not be deemed a part of the record of 
any proceeding of the City Council of the City of Salisbury. 

 
D. Notice of open and closed meetings will be posted on the bulletin board in the lobby 

of the City/County Government Building, 125 N. Division Street, Salisbury, 
Maryland and on the City’s web site, for a reasonable time in advance of the meeting. 

 
E. The City Clerk will notify the news media of regular and special open meetings, work 

sessions and closed sessions. 
 

F. A representative of the news media or any member of the public may record or 
photograph the proceedings of the City Council at an open session if: 

 
1. The equipment is operated from a fixed position that does not block the view of 

any other person. The equipment may be occasionally moved about the room, but 
only to the extent that the use of the recording device or camera does not become 
disruptive of the meeting. Artificial light may be used, but only reasonably and 
not for any extended period of time or in any manner that is disruptive. 

 
2. The equipment or its operator does not create a noise or confusion that disturbs 

members of the City Council or other persons attending the session. 
 

3.  Microphones placed on the City Council table are to be kept in a central location 
and maynot interfere with or disturb the meeting. 

 
A representative of the news media or any member of the public who desires to 
arrange for the use of a recording device or camera at an open session in a manner not 
consistent with the provisions of this section may request such special arrangements 
in advance by contacting the City Clerk’s Office. 

 
G. Council Meetings and Work Sessions are broadcast live on PAC14. An individual 

Council member desiring to schedule a televised meeting or record a meeting for later 
broadcast, using the facilities in the Council Chambers, must receive a consensus of 
the City Council in advance. 

 
4. AGENDAS 
 

A. On the agenda for each work session shall be an opportunity for Council members to 
discuss the proposed agendas for upcoming regular Council meetings and work 
sessions. 

 
B. The preliminary agenda for each regular Council meeting shall be prepared by the 

City Clerk by 4:00 p.m. on the Thursday preceding the next regularly scheduled 
meeting by eleven (11) days. The Clerk shall distribute the preliminary agenda to the 



 

administrative staff and the Council as soon as it is prepared. If any Council member 
or a member of the administrative staff wishes to add or delete an item, they are to 
submit the request in writing, including a brief description, timeline, and any other 
pertinent information related to the item, to the Council President by noon on the 
Wednesday preceding the next regularly scheduled Council meeting by five (5) days. 

 
The Clerk shall distribute supporting materials and details for items published on the 
Council agenda to Council no later than the close of business on the Wednesday 
preceding the Council meeting or Work Session. 

 
C. The Mayor, a member of the Council, or a member of the public may request that an 

item be placed upon the agenda for a Council meeting provided such request is made 
in writing prior to the established deadlines with a copy to the City Clerk who will 
acknowledge receipt to the requestor. Only matters of an emergency or urgent nature 
may be added to the agenda after those deadlines. 

 
Any Council member wishing to present a Certificate of Appreciation or Certificate 
of Recognition must receive a consensus of the Council in advance before it is placed 
on an agenda. 

 
D. The Council President shall place upon the agenda of the Council meeting any item 

which is legal, constitutional and proper for the Council to consider, provided, 
however, that the Council President may reasonably defer a requested agenda item 
until a future meeting of the Council in order to secure full attendance by Council 
members, to afford the public ample opportunity to appear and observe the Council’s 
consideration of such agenda item, or to secure the input of the City’s staff. 

 
E. Items which are matters of a routine, non-controversial nature may be placed on the 

agenda under Consent Agenda. The purpose of the consent agenda is to provide a 
method for the expeditious handling of items which, in the opinion of the Council 
President, City Clerk and City Administrator, will not require discussion and will be 
approved unanimously by the Council. Items shall be removed from the Consent 
Agenda at the request of any individual Council member. 

 
F. Except in the case of an emergency or a matter of an urgent or time sensitive nature, 

no matter will be discussed in a Council meeting which was not reasonably described 
in the published agenda for such meeting in accordance with the City’s Open Meeting 
rules. 

 
G. The Mayor, the Council President, the City Administrator, the City Clerk, and all 

persons involved in the process of creating meeting agendas, shall endeavor to 
provide all members of the Council and other relevant City personnel with as much 
advance notice of agenda items as is feasible in the interest of fostering informed 
discussion of such agenda items at meetings. 

 
5. CONDUCT OF REGULAR MEETINGS 



 

 
A. The Council President or Council Vice President shall call the meeting to order at the 

appointed hour. In the absence of both the Council President and Council Vice 
President, a President Pro Tem shall be selected to preside over the meeting. 

 
B. After calling the meeting to order, the Council President shall entertain a motion to 

adopt the agenda for the meeting as presented. After such motion has been made and 
seconded, any Councilmember may request the deletion of any item on the agenda, a 
change in the order of any agenda item, or the addition of any urgent or emergency 
item. Such changes may be approved by consensus, or in the absence of a consensus, 
such changes shall be approved upon affirmative vote of a majority of the Council. 
Any member of the Council may also request that an item be removed from the 
consent agenda for discussion, for further information, or in order that there might be 
a separate vote on that item as described in 4.E. 

 
C. The Council President shall control discussion of the Council on each agenda item to 

assure full participation in accordance with the Rules of Order. 
 

D. Each agenda item shall be separately announced by the Council President for 
purposes of discussion and consideration. To place an agenda item on the floor, the 
Council President shall entertain a motion and a second to approve. All discussion 
shall be germane to the agenda item. 

 
E. A Council member shall speak only after being recognized by the Council President. 

A Council member recognized for a specific purpose shall limit remarks to that 
purpose. A Council member, after being recognized, shall not be interrupted except 
by the Council President to enforce these rules. The Council President, as a member 
of the Council, may enter into any discussion. 

 
F. In order to afford all Council members an opportunity to speak on an agenda item, a 

Council member may speak in debate twice on any debatable motion and may speak 
for up to five minutes each time. A Council member may not save time or 
transfer/yield their time to another Council member. The period of time allotted for 
Council debate may be modified by adopting a motion to extend or limit debate. 

 
G. After being recognized by the Council President, a member of the Council, during 

discussion of any agenda item, or during a public hearing, may request and receive 
information, explanations or opinions of the Mayor, City Administrator, City 
Solicitor, City Clerk or any City department head. 

 
H. Council members are encouraged to direct comments to agenda items and to conduct 

meetings in a professional manner as referenced in the adopted City Council Code of 
Conduct (Resolution No.1513 – April 23, 2007). Council members shall be respectful 
to the public and City staff members at all times. 

 



 

I. For all required public hearings conducted by the City Council, citizens wishing to 
provide testimony will be administered an oath by the City Clerk, or in the City 
Clerk’s absence, administered by the City Attorney. 

 
6. PUBLIC INPUT 

 
A. Public comments should be directed to the agenda item under consideration. The 

Council President shall rule on the germaneness of the citizen comments. 
 
B. A citizen who has been recognized by the Council President to address the Council is 

requested to state his or her name, whether he or she is a resident within the corporate 
limits of Salisbury, and any organization affiliation he or she is representing. 

 
C. In order to afford all persons an opportunity to speak regarding an agenda item, the 

Council President may impose a reasonable limit upon comments made by members 
of the public, and/or may limit the number of times a member of the public may 
speak regarding an agenda item. 

 
D. Any person making personal, impertinent or slanderous remarks, or who becomes 

boisterous in any manner that disrupts the meeting while addressing the Council, may 
be requested by the Council President to leave the meeting immediately. 

 
E. No placards, banners, or signs will be permitted in the Council Chambers or in any 

other room in which the Council is meeting. Exhibits, displays and visual aids used in 
connection with presentations to the Council are permitted. 

 
F. The Council President shall accept public comments from citizens during Council 

consideration of an item, in addition to a general public comments period.A time limit 
of three minutes per comment may be imposed and citizens are subject to the same 
rules of conduct as described above. If a prepared statement is available, a copy 
should be given to the City Clerk. Generally, members of the Council will not 
comment upon the remarks made by a member of the public. If they are 
administrative issues, the Council President will refer them to the Mayor’s Office for 
a response. Questions posed by a citizen during the public comments portion will be 
logged and tracked by the City Clerk. The City Clerk will forward the questions to the 
City Administrator for a response. All City Council members and the City Clerk will 
be provided a copy of the response from the City Administrator. 

 
G. Members of the public shall be courteous to their fellow citizens and the proceedings 

while the Council is in session by avoiding conversations within the Council 
Chambers and the entrance hallway into the Chambers. 

 
H. Signed communications shall be accepted by the Council, but are not to be read in 

their entirety during the meeting. Signed communications shall be submitted to the 
City Clerk to be attached to the minutes as part of the record. 

 



 

7. VOTING AND THE MAKING OF MOTIONS 
 

A. Any member of the Council, except the Council President, may make or second a 
motion for the Council to take action regarding any agenda item, subject to the City 
Ethics Ordinance and State Ethics Law. 

 
B. Any member of the Council may vote regarding any agenda item, subject to the City 

Ethics Ordinance and State Ethics Law. 
 

C. The Council President may not make a motion, and may second a motion only when 
there are only three (3) members of the Council, including the President, present and 
voting. 

 
D. In the absence of the Council President, the Council Vice President shall be subject to 

the same limitations upon voting and the making of motions as the Council President. 
 

E. The City Clerk shall record the name of the Council member making each motion and 
the name of the Councilmember who seconded the motion. 

 
F. Discussion shall be closed on any item by the Council President with the concurrence 

of a majority of the Council. At the conclusion of debate, the Council President shall 
call for a vote. 

 
G. During the course of the meeting, if it becomes necessary to temporarily delay action 

on an agenda item because of more urgent business, a Council member may move to 
“lay the item on the table”. The motion requires a second, is not debatable and 
requires a majority vote for adoption. 

 
H. After an agenda item has been laid on the table, it can be taken from the table by a 

motion to “take the item from the table”. The motion requires a second, is not 
debatable and a majority vote is required. If a motion to “take from the table” is not 
received by the close of the meeting, the agenda item dies at the end of the session. 

 
I. If a Council member wishes to “kill” a motion on the floor, a motion to “postpone 

indefinitely” shall be used. The motion requires a second, is debatable and a majority 
vote is required for adoption. 

 
J. If a Council member wishes to defer an agenda item to another meeting, the motion to 

“postpone to a certain time” is used. The motion requires a second, is debatable and a 
majority vote is required for adoption. 

 
K. In the absence of a rule to govern a point of procedure, the City Council shall follow 

the general practices of the latest published edition of Robert’s Rules of Order. 
 

8. WORK SESSION MEETINGS 
 



 

A. The Council may conduct work session meetings on matters which are expected to 
come before the Council for formal action at a regular meeting or otherwise need 
study by the Council. Items to be considered will be placed on the agenda by the 
Council President. The agenda shall be distributed on the Wednesday preceding the 
work session meeting. Because work sessions are considered informal, items not 
appearing on the printed agenda may be considered for discussion by a consensus of 
the Council. 

 
B. At work session meetings, the Council shall receive information and presentation of 

issues from the Mayor, City staff and/or invited resource persons. Council may ask 
questions and may request that certain information be provided or issues be addressed 
when items are considered further at another work session meeting or a regular 
meeting of Council. Council may direct that matters under consideration be brought 
forward for formal action at a regular meeting, that further study be conducted if 
appropriate, that matters under consideration not be pursued further (except for 
matters requiring a public hearing), or that modifications be made before a matter is 
considered further. 

 
C. Final action on items is not taken at work session meetings. The Council may decide 

by consensus, or by a majority vote, on how to proceed on various items under 
consideration. However, no formal vote of the Council in favor or against any agenda 
item may be taken at a work session meeting. 

 
D. Work sessions are considered public meetings under the terms of the open meetings 

law and the public can attend. Members of the public or an interested party may have 
the right to address the Council only on items under consideration in a work session. 
The Council President shall control the discussion of the Council and the public in 
accordance with the Rules of Order. Comment forms shall also be made available for 
any member of the public to submit written comments on any agenda item for 
consideration by the Council. 

 
9. CLOSED SESSION MEETINGS 

 
A. The Council may conduct Closed Session Meetings as permitted by State Law. 

Everything that is discussed during a closed session, and all materials which are 
reviewed during a closed session or are prepared in anticipation thereof, shall be 
considered confidential. No council member shall publicly disclose any such 
information or material. Public disclosure may be made in the event a majority of the 
council members vote to approve the public disclosure prior to its disclosure. 

 
B. No council member shall make any disclosures or release any information which 

would result in the waiver of the attorney/client privilege without first obtaining the 
approval of a majority of the council in open session. 

 
10. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY AT CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS 

 



 

A. A Salisbury Police Department officer will report to the City Council Chambers at 
least one-half hour prior to the meeting and will have their radio. Prior to the meeting, 
a Salisbury Police Department officer will conduct a visual sweep of the Council 
Chambers, stairways, elevators and surrounding hallways for any suspicious items 
such as packages, letters, etc. 

 
B. The Salisbury Police Department officer must not leave the Council Chambers until 

the conclusion of the meeting unless an emergency occurs. 
 

C. If a problem or disturbance arises, the following procedure will be followed: 
 

1. The City Council President will ask the disruptive person to leave the meeting 
room. In the event of an arrest, the Council President may be summoned to court 
as a witness. 

 
2. Should the person leave, no further action will be taken. 

 
3. Should the disruptive person refuse to leave, the individual will be requested to 

leave by the Salisbury Police Department officer. If the person does not leave at 
that time, the individual will be arrested for trespassing and/or disorderly conduct. 
If a second member of the Salisbury Police Department is present for the meeting, 
that person will transport and place the appropriate charges on the arrestee. If a 
problem was not anticipated, and only a single member of the Salisbury Police 
Department is present, the member will contact communications to have a patrol 
officer respond to the meeting room and that officer will conduct the transport 
while the Salisbury Police Department officer remains in the meeting to ensure 
continued security. Once the meeting has concluded, and the Council members 
are safely out of the building, the Salisbury Police Department officer will then 
respond to headquarters and will charge and transport the arrested subject. If an 
arrest occurs during the City Council meeting, the Salisbury Police Department 
officer will notify the Salisbury Police Department Commander upon the 
conclusion of the meeting. 

 
D. If there is no problem, the Salisbury Police Department officer will remain at the 

meeting until its conclusion and will ensure that City personnel are safely out of the 
building. 

 
E. The City Council Chambers will be posted with a sign indicating the following: 

 
“For the safety of all persons, all bags and boxes are subject to search. Any persons 
that refuse to submit to such search may be denied entry.” 
 
If a threat is received or probable cause exists to indicate that there may be a problem 
with a bag or package, the Salisbury Police Department officer will request that the 
subject in possession of the bag submit to a search as described. 

 



 

If the subject refuses to allow the search, the subject will be denied entry to the 
meeting room. If this causes further disturbance, the above policy regarding arrest 
will be followed. 

 
F. If information is received concerning a possible bomb threat, the Salisbury Police 

Department officer will use the proper procedure to notify the on duty squad 
commander who will then make the required notifications as outlined in the Salisbury 
Police Department Written Directives #46.1.5 (BombThreats/ Explosions). 

 
11. USE OF COUNCIL TRAVEL AND TRAINING BUDGET 

 
A. Council members shall comply with the City of Salisbury Employee Handbook’s 

policies on travel. 
 
B. Prior to incurring any travel expenses, a Council member shall obtain approval of the 

travel from the Council. Travel expenses incurred without the prior approval of 
Council shall not reimbursed or, if mistakenly reimbursed, shall be refunded by the 
Council member within thirty (30) days of written notification of the error by the City 
Clerk. 

 
C. No member of Council shall use more than 1/5 of the appropriated total of the 

Council’s travel and training budget without prior approval of the Council. If the 
amount used by any Council member exceeds this amount, the excess shall not be 
reimbursed or, if mistakenly reimbursed, shall be refunded by the Council member 
within thirty (30) days of written notification of the error by the City Clerk. 

 
------------------------------------------------------- 
Adopted: 10/23/00 by Resolution No. 737 
Amended: 11/26/01 by Resolution No. 806 
Amended: 8/26/02 by Resolution No. 876 
Amended: 5/12/03 by Resolution No. 972 
Amended: 12/8/03 by Resolution No. 1043 
Amended: 11/28/05 by Resolution No. 1335 
Amended: 3/27/06 by Resolution No. 1386 
Amended: 10/23/06 by Resolution No. 1451 
Amended: 1/8/07 by Resolution No. 1476 
Amended: 10/8/07 by Resolution No. 1577 
Amended: 11/26/07 by Resolution No. 1600 
Amended: 7/14/08 by Resolution No. 1672 
Amended: 7/11/11 by Resolution No. 2072 
Amended: 9/10/12 by Resolution No. 2203 
Amended: 2/25/13 by Resolution No. 2251 
Amended: 4/28/14 by Resolution No. 2396 
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